
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

 

FORM 10-K
 
(Mark one)

R ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

OR 

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the transition period from ______ to ______.
 

Commission file number 001-34143

 RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC.
(Exact Name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware  74-3016523
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)
 (IRS Employer

Identification No.)

1 Fanatical Place
City of Windcrest

San Antonio, Texas 78218
(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

(210) 312-4000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class  Name of each exchange of which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share  New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None

(Title of Class)

 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.    Yes R    No o  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.    Yes o    No R  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes   R    No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes   R    No o

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of the registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. o
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company.



See definition of “large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer R  Accelerated filer o  Non-accelerated filer o  Smaller reporting company o
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes o    No R  
 

As of June 30, 2014, the aggregate market value of shares held by non-affiliates of the registrant (based upon the closing sale price of such shares on
the New York Stock Exchange on June 30, 2014) was $2,614,923,113.

On February 23, 2015, 141,489,172 shares of the registrant’s Common Stock, $0.001 par value, were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Registrant's 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed within 120 days of the Registrant's fiscal year
ended December 31, 2014, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.



RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC.
TABLE OF CONTENTS

 

PART I Page
   
Item 1. Business  4
Item 1A. Risk Factors 12
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 26
Item 2. Properties 27
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 28
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 28
   

PART II  
   
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 29
Item 6. Selected Financial Data 32
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 33
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 54
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 55
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 82
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 82
Item 9B. Other Information 83
   

PART III  
   
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 84
Item 11. Executive Compensation 84
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 84
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 84
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 84
   

PART IV  
   
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 85
   
SIGNATURES  



Table of Contents

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those sections. The forward-looking statements in this report are based on our management’s beliefs
and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as
“anticipates,” “aspires,” “believes,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “seeks,” “should,” “will”
or “would” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause our actual results, performance, time frames or achievements to be materially different
from any future results, performance, time frames or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks,
uncertainties and other factors in this document in greater detail under the heading “Risk Factors.” We believe it is important to communicate our
expectations to our investors. However, there may be events in the future that we are not able to predict accurately or over which we have no control. The
risks described in “Risk Factors” included in this report, as well as any other cautionary language in this report, provide examples of risks, uncertainties
and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. You should be aware
that the occurrence of the events described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report could harm our business.

Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, these forward-
looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this filing. You should read this document completely and with the
understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We hereby qualify our forward-looking statements by these
cautionary statements. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.

TRADEMARKS AND SERVICE MARKS

Rackspace®, Fanatical Support®, and RackConnect® are service marks of Rackspace US, Inc. registered in the United States and other countries.
OpenStack® is either a registered trademark or trademark of OpenStack, LLC in the United States and/or other countries. Net Promoter, Net Promoter Score
and NPS are trademarks of Satmetrix Systems, Inc., Bain & Company, Inc. and Fred Reichheld. EVA® is a registered trademark of Stern Stewart & Co. and
EVA Dimensions. Other trademarks and tradenames appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders. We do not intend our use or
display of other companies’ tradenames, trademarks, or service marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other
companies.
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PART I

ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

References to “we,” “our,” “our company,” “us,” “the company,” “Rackspace Hosting,” or “Rackspace” refer to Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the related Notes for additional information regarding the business and our operating results.

Overview

Rackspace is the world leader in the managed cloud segment of the business IT market. We serve more than 300,000 business customers, including a
majority of the enterprises in the Fortune 100, from our data centers on four continents. We help them tap the power of cloud computing without the pain of
having to become experts in dozens of complex technologies. We free them from the expense of hiring or contracting with engineers who do not differentiate
their businesses. We allow them to concentrate on their core business and keep their operations fast and lean.

Our focus on the managed cloud separates us from the big providers of unmanaged, commodity cloud computing, who provide access to raw cloud
infrastructure and then expect customers to do everything required to operate that infrastructure, as well as the many complex tools and applications that run
on top of it, including data engines and e-commerce platforms. The unmanaged providers offer economies of scale. We add economies of expertise. We have
developed specialized skills in the most popular cloud tools and applications, as well as in cloud infrastructure, and we deliver it to customers 24/7, with a
results-obsessed, can-do attitude known throughout our industry as Fanatical Support.

We are also a pioneer and leader in hybrid computing, which helps each business customer find the IT infrastructure that best fits its unique needs and
makes it all work together. Our broad portfolio of products and specialized expertise enables each customer to run each of its workloads where it will achieve
the highest performance, security, and cost efficiency. This emphasis on the best fit for each workload differentiates Rackspace from big one-size-fits-all
providers who offer only multi-tenant public cloud.

We offer a broad portfolio of integrated IT solutions for common business needs, including for ecommerce, web content management, website hosting,
data services, office mail and collaboration, and private clouds. We also offer advisory services for technology strategy, security and compliance, application
assessment and migration, and DevOps automation.

We offer our solutions across a variety of IT form factors, including multi-tenant public cloud, dedicated single-tenant servers, private cloud, and
hybrid cloud - all delivered with a commitment to leading open and standard technologies. The equipment (servers, routers, switches, firewalls, load
balancers, cabinets, wiring, etc.) and software required to deliver services is typically purchased and managed by us.

We are committed to delivering managed services, specialized expertise, and Fanatical Support across our entire product portfolio. We will continue to
pursue our vision - to be considered one of the world’s great service companies - and our company's statement of purpose: to make computing simple and
powerful for business.

We were incorporated in Delaware in March 2000, but our operations began in 1998 as a limited partnership, which became our subsidiary through a
corporate reorganization completed in August 2001.

Our Industry

The cloud computing industry can be broadly described as one that delivers computing, storage, and applications as a service over the Internet. It
allows business customers to get the computing they need without having to make capital investments in computer hardware and software.

This industry is fast-growing and crowded, and Rackspace has earned a well-defined role within it, as leader of the managed cloud segment. We are a
company of specialists, with expertise in key skill-sets around hybrid cloud configurations, the deployment and operation of leading technologies such as
OpenStack, Linux, VMware and Windows, and the management of complex applications ranging from MongoDB to Hybris and SharePoint. Our employees,
who we call Rackers, are available to customers around the clock, and deliver industry-leading customer service.
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To understand the growth and segmentation of our industry, it's useful to consider the five ways in which businesses can fulfill their IT requirements:

1. The first approach is in-house IT. This is the legacy approach in which a business retains complete ownership and responsibility for ongoing
maintenance and management of servers, software, networking equipment, IT staff, etc. Companies may choose to house this equipment in their
own data centers or server closets or may rent data center space from a colocation provider. Many companies that handle all of their computing in-
house are noticing that, regardless of how much they spend on hardware and software, they spend even more on IT payrolls. Their need for
engineering talent has expanded exponentially in recent years, with the proliferation of complex cloud tools and applications - a trend that shows
no sign of easing.

2. The second approach to IT is outsourcing, where businesses transfer full responsibility for their computing systems, operations, and employees to
a third party; often a systems integrator such as HP, IBM or CSC. This approach helps the client company focus on its core business. It is typically
more costly than other alternatives to in-house computing, and can require very long lead times to deliver new projects or capabilities.

3. The third approach is do-it-all-yourself cloud computing, where business customers access computer hardware and software, on demand over the
Internet from an unmanaged cloud provider. They receive few assurances in terms of business outcomes, and little in the way of specialized
expertise, advice or support. Rather than focus on their core business, they take on the full burden of operating IT infrastructure and learning to
use the fast-expanding set of tools necessary to leverage cloud computing. For most companies, this approach requires hiring and retaining
expensive engineers with specialized expertise in the latest cloud technologies.

4. The fourth approach is for the business customer to access raw infrastructure from one or more vendors (for instance, one for public cloud and one
for dedicated servers) and then contract with additional vendors for managed services, specialized expertise and support. In this scenario, the
customer benefits from low infrastructure costs, and can focus most of its IT staff on its core business. Management, however, must essentially take
on the role of a general contractor and must constantly mediate among multiple vendors.

5. The fifth approach is managed cloud, where business customers access not only raw computing infrastructure but also managed services,
specialized expertise, advice and support, along with explicit assurances of business outcomes through Service Level Agreements. This approach
allows customers to focus their leaders and their scarce technical talent on tasks that differentiate their businesses.

We believe that managed cloud, delivered with exceptional customer support and specialized expertise, provides higher quality IT and better value
than do the other approaches to business IT. We believe demand for managed cloud will continue to grow for four reasons:

1. Lack of In-House IT Expertise. As business IT applications grow in number and complexity, most companies do not have the IT staff needed to
deliver a robust, reliable online presence, and to leverage their data for insights about customer behavior and internal operations. Today's
ecommerce platforms and Big Data applications are especially complex and fast-changing. As a result, many companies have difficulty finding
and hiring the specialized engineers that they need.

2. Strategic Resource Utilization. Larger companies that do have specialized, dedicated IT engineers would typically rather focus these expensive
resources on strategic areas that differentiate their business rather than managing servers or databases or running a website.

3. Market Acceptance. As companies have experienced the benefits of using managed cloud providers to handle some of their IT workloads, they
have become more comfortable having those providers manage additional IT services. This trend will accelerate as various barriers to adoption are
broken down. The expansion of open and standard technologies, for example, is removing business customers' fears of being locked into the
proprietary software - and subject to the pricing - of a particular cloud provider. Similarly, advances such as software-defined networking, API-
accessible single-tenant servers, and hybrid cloud are easing customers' concerns about the security of cloud computing. As time goes by, we
believe businesses will move more and more of their IT workloads to managed cloud.

- 5 -



Table of Contents

4. Accelerated Business Creation. Cloud computing has removed many of the traditional barriers to new business formation through the low cost
nimbleness, and capital efficiency that it brings to IT infrastructure. Managed cloud does the same thing for the costs associated with infrastructure
management and application expertise. Managed cloud is driving innovation and new business formation at a rapid rate, in much the way that the
iPhone has driven a fast-growing market for consumer applications. The rising supply of powerful, easy-to-use cloud computing is creating new
demand.

Our Business

We are a global company, selling our services to business customers in more than 120 countries. Our corporate headquarters is located in San Antonio.
We also have operations located in multiple cities across the United States, as well as in London, Amsterdam, Zurich, Hong Kong, Sydney, and Mexico City.
In 2014 we had net revenue of $1.8 billion. As of December 31, 2014, we served more than 300,000 business customers, and we managed more than 112,000
servers. No single customer accounted for more than 2% of our net revenue in any of the past three years.

We are focused on the segment of the cloud computing market that demands, and is willing to pay for, the value for performance that can only be
achieved when management services, specialized expertise, and strong support are delivered on top of raw computing infrastructure. Our services are
productized and repeatable, which enables us to operate IT systems for our customers with high levels of up-time, rapid deployment of new systems and
significant cost savings, which in turn allows our customers' IT departments to focus on their core business.

Our service offering combines hosting on dedicated single-tenant hardware and on multi-tenant pools of virtualized hardware (widely known as public
cloud) in a way that best suits each customer’s requirements. We have adopted a portfolio approach to our services, which allows customers the flexibility to
choose the best combination of support level, dedicated servers, public cloud and private cloud to meet their unique IT needs. The major components of our
products and services are described in greater detail below:

Our Customer Service

Fanatical Support, our unique approach to the customer experience, is backed by a complex business process that we have built and refined over the
past 16 years, and it distinguishes our company in the market. Our process for delivering Fanatical Support involves everything from the way we recruit,
interview and test prospective employees; to the way we continuously train new and veteran Rackers alike; to the way we make the specialized expertise of
U.S. and U.K. based technicians available to customers 24/7 by phone, email or chat; to the way we empower those Rackers to serve our customers; to the way
we measure customer satisfaction and churn on a daily basis, team by team; to the way we reward and celebrate successful teams and managers; to the way we
design and implement hardware and software solutions and processes to make our services highly reliable and easy for the customer to use and navigate.

When we first launched Fanatical Support, it was mainly about answering the phone and providing extraordinary support when things went wrong
with a customer's computing. But we quickly expanded our support to meet customer demands for expertise in Linux, Windows and network security. Our
concept of Fanatical Support has continued to expand and evolve to include technological improvements that make our services more reliable and easier to
use. We now offer prescriptive advice to customers and prospects about which applications work best on specific architectures, in public cloud and private
cloud, on dedicated servers and in hybrid cloud.

Fanatical Support has moved up the technology stack to include specialist expertise in complex applications such as MongoDB, Hadoop, Redis, SQL
Server, MySQL, MariaDB, Percona Server, Magento, Hybris, Sitecore, Adobe Experience Manager, Drupal, WordPress, SharePoint, Exchange, Office365, and
Google Apps for Work.

Fanatical Support is also expanding outside our data centers. We offer private clouds powered by VMware, Microsoft, and OpenStack. We offer
support for many technologies sold by Google, Microsoft, and VMware, and our list of partners and supported technologies is growing rapidly.

Many customers want to leverage technologies from multiple vendors and would rather do so through a provider with specialized expertise in those
technologies, instead of diverting scarce in-house engineering resources from core tasks.
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We have built our business around an understanding, born of experience, that things go wrong in computing and always will in a field so complex and
fast-changing. We believe that many business customers want a trusted partner who is available 24/7 to help them safely and reliably take advantage of the
enhanced capabilities and cost savings available through cloud computing.

Our Product Categories

Everything that we do at Rackspace falls under the umbrella of cloud computing, broadly defined as the delivery of computing, storage, and
applications over the Internet. All of our computer hardware is located in our secure, business-class data centers in the U.S., the U.K., Hong Kong, and
Australia. Every service that we offer is managed. We do not just provide access to raw infrastructure.

Public cloud refers to multi-tenant pools of computing resources delivered on-demand over the Internet. Virtualization and other cloud technologies
allow us to effectively provision and manage pools of computing resources across a large base of customers and deliver more resources to businesses when
they need them. At the same time, pooled cloud computing substantially lowers the cost of IT services for some applications. There are multiple varieties of
public cloud services that are priced on a pay-per-use basis and that can be quickly and easily scaled up or down on-demand. Today we offer Cloud Servers
for computing, Cloud Sites for website hosting, Cloud Block Storage and Cloud Files for storage, Cloud Databases for hosting MySQL instances, Cloud
Backup for file protection, Cloud Load Balancers for traffic management, Cloud Monitoring for infrastructure control, Cloud DNS for domain management,
Cloud Networks for security enhancement, and Cloud Applications, which includes email, collaboration and file back-ups.

We continue to invest in our public cloud service and believe it is an important element of our future success. In July for example, we launched
OnMetal, which provides large and fast-growing customers with a highly scalable solution that combines the performance and security of single-tenant
servers with the agility and API addressability of the multi-tenant public cloud.

Dedicated cloud refers to IT services that we provide on a server or servers reserved for a specific customer. Our basic support level for this service frees
the customer from the burden of managing the data center, network, hardware devices, and operating system software. We provide a customer management
portal and other management tools. We also offer higher support levels that assume more cloud management tasks, including for many popular applications.
Dedicated cloud hosting is largely a recurring, subscription-based business.

Private cloud refers to a pool of computing resources that is virtualized for greater efficiency and nimbleness but that is dedicated to one particular
customer rather than being used by multiple customers. The hardware can be located in our data centers or in the customer's facilities. This approach is
especially popular with some of our larger corporate customers who value the control, security, and compliance advantages that it offers. We offer private
clouds powered by VMware, Microsoft, and OpenStack. The breadth of our portfolio, and our hybrid cloud approach, have generated significant interest in
our private cloud offerings. Revenue for private cloud is included within dedicated cloud revenue in our Key Metrics table in Item 7 of Part II.

Hybrid cloud is an emerging category we are pioneering, which enables customers to easily and seamlessly utilize the benefits of both dedicated cloud
servers and public cloud in its data centers or ours or those of a third-party. We are also working to add private cloud to the technologies that can be linked
through our hybrid cloud. A customer using hybrid cloud is able to utilize any combination of dedicated and pooled resources and to manage them
seamlessly through our innovative RackConnect service. Each cloud computing form factor has specific and unique customer benefits, and through hybrid
cloud, the various technologies can be combined and adjusted to address each customer's changing and diverse needs. Furthermore, Rackspace’s set of
managed support services and Fanatical Support are critical in this new world of computing as customers increasingly need help to make the transition and
utilize these new services.

In recent years, our Key Metrics table has disclosed net revenue in two categories: public cloud and dedicated cloud. Because of rapid changes in
technology and customer behavior, these categories have become less and less clear-cut and meaningful. More business customers are consuming both
single-tenant dedicated computing and multi-tenant private cloud computing, in their data centers and ours, in ways that are increasingly seamless and
difficult to separate in any meaningful way. As a result of these developments, beginning with our announcement of our financial results for the first quarter
of 2015, we will stop disclosing net revenue as public cloud or dedicated cloud, and will only disclose consolidated net revenue.

See Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 11 – Segment Information” for financial information related to our product
categories.
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Competition

Given the significant market potential of cloud computing and managed cloud, we operate in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive environment.
Our principal areas of competition include:

In-house and Colocation. Businesses may choose to house and maintain their own IT systems or use a colocation provider to house IT hardware and
provide connectivity. Companies that provide colocation services include AT&T, Equinix, CenturyLink, and other telecommunications companies. We
believe that over time it will be difficult for the vast majority of businesses to replicate the economies of scale and economies of expertise achieved by
specialized service providers, making the do-it-yourself option less attractive.

IT Outsourcing Providers. Businesses may choose to outsource their entire IT systems and staff to a provider such as CSC, HP or IBM. Outsourcing has
long been an option for only the largest companies because of the cost, complexity and duration of outsourcing contracts. Rarely is this a viable option for
small and medium-sized businesses with rapidly changing needs. Even some large corporations are questioning the cost-benefit ratio and the slow response
times associated with the outsourcing approach.

Unmanaged Cloud Computing Providers. Businesses may choose to use an unmanaged cloud computing provider such as Amazon Web Services,
Google or Microsoft. These providers essentially provide access to raw infrastructure and require the customer to either manage it alone or manage multiple
providers of infrastructure and support. The unmanaged approach has been popular among early adopters of cloud computing such as software developers
and founders of small technology startup companies. Other companies often find it difficult, expensive, and distracting to hire or contract with all of the
specialized engineering talent that is required to manage raw infrastructure and all the complex cloud tools and applications that run on top of that
infrastructure.

Managed Cloud Providers. Gartner Inc. last year distinguished for the first time between unmanaged, or “infrastructure as a service,” cloud providers,
and those who deliver managed cloud. Its new report on the latter market segment, the Gartner Magic Quadrant for Cloud-Enabled Managed Hosting, ranked
Rackspace as a leader, in both North America and Europe. Other major competitors in managed cloud include HP, IBM, and several large telecom companies.
We believe that the addressable market for managed cloud is large and growing rapidly, including among large enterprise customers. In the second half of the
year, there was an increased volume of deals with these customers.

Several of the unmanaged cloud providers are big, diversified technology companies that produce large cash flows from retailing, online ad sales, and
sales of software, and are using those cash flows to make significant investments in cloud computing. Last spring, several of those unmanaged cloud
providers sharply reduced the prices that they charge business customers for access to raw cloud infrastructure. These price cuts were part of a trend that led
some industry observers to conclude that smaller providers would eventually be priced out of business. We see this trend very differently, as follows:

1. The decline in cloud infrastructure prices has encouraged a proliferation of cloud tools and applications, just as the invention of the iPhone
spawned thousands of mobile apps.

2. Those cloud tools and applications are powerful; they can help companies earn more ecommerce revenue and leverage their data for valuable
insights into their operations and customers.

3. Those cloud applications are also complicated, and they keep coming at an accelerating pace. They are adding significant complexity for
mainstream businesses, which often need help navigating this new landscape.

4. As a consequence, the price of skilled cloud engineers is rising sharply. Many companies have trouble finding all the expertise that they need in
various specialties and many can’t afford to hire or staff all the talent they need. Many companies would prefer to focus their resources on their
core business.

5. As a result, more businesses are turning to providers of managed cloud. During the last three quarters of 2014, when the big unmanaged cloud
providers were slashing prices, Rackspace's revenue growth continued, margins expanded, and new large customers came on board at a higher
rate.

The competitive environment, and the opportunity we face in managed cloud, has moved us to invest in additional hiring and training of Rackers so
that they have the specialized expertise necessary to help customers with their most pressing needs, including on applications related to ecommerce, big data
and security.
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Our Approach and Sources of Competitive Advantage

We are focused on creating a sustainable competitive advantage in four key areas. First, our vision is to be recognized as one of the world’s great
service companies. Because companies must trust their cloud computing provider with their mission-critical IT assets, service reputation is a key selection
criterion. Second, our specialist focus is to provide managed cloud services and expertise, which enables us to operate with a financial discipline that keeps
costs low, thereby generating returns that exceed our cost of capital. Third, our broad and seamless portfolio, demonstrated by our leadership in the hybrid
cloud, allows customers to select the solution that best fits their requirements. Fourth, we are committed to leading open and standard technologies, which
address one of the main barriers to adoption of cloud computing: the customer's fear of being locked into a particular vendor who then wields great power to
raise prices and stifle innovation. These key principles form the foundation of our business model, which is described in more detail below.

Service Reputation - We believe that an excellent customer experience creates customer loyalty and referrals, which in turn leads to higher profits and
growth. We call our unique, industry-leading customer service model "Fanatical Support." Our entire company is focused on going above and beyond
expectations to delight the customer. Fanatical Support builds customer loyalty, which in turn delivers three key benefits:

• Loyal customers buy more, both as they grow and as they hand a larger proportion of their total IT workload over to us.

• Loyal customers stay with us longer and refer other customers to us. Both factors help reduce customer acquisition costs and other sales and
marketing costs.

• Loyal customers can be served more cost effectively. The average cost of serving a customer is reduced after initial provisioning, and we can
provide additional service levels that are not capital intensive, which lead both to higher average profits and profit margins over time.

We closely track customer retention, overall and by support team. We ask customers why they stay with us, why they spend more or less with us, and
why they leave. We then strive to build on our areas of strength and relieve customer pain points. We also make extensive use of the Net Promoter Score
("NPS"), developed by Bain & Company, Inc., Fred Reichheld, and Satmetrix Systems, Inc. to track the likelihood that customers will refer us to friends or
colleagues. Surveys are conducted on an ongoing basis and broken down by support team, with results summarized monthly and analyzed to determine areas
for improvement. We work with our customers to understand what they consider “must haves” and what they would like to see in terms of incremental
improvements to our service offerings.

Fanatical Support is a result of our unique culture. Rackers are rewarded for going above and beyond to serve customers. The highest form of
recognition is the Straightjacket Award, which is given on a regular basis to the Racker who best demonstrates Fanatical Support in action. We are also very
selective in our hiring process. Our philosophy is that technical and functional skills can be taught, but attitude and temperament are ingrained. We strive to
hire employees with the personality traits that fit well within our culture and our teams. Periodically, we conduct employee engagement surveys as a measure
of cultural health and reward those managers who create an engaging and high-performance environment. In six of the last seven years, Fortune magazine has
honored us in its list of “100 Best Companies to Work For,” and at the end of 2014, we ranked #29. We believe that our unique workplace culture is a point
of sustained differentiation because it cannot be easily or quickly replicated by large competitors.

Specialist Focus - We specialize exclusively in providing managed cloud computing that makes IT simple and powerful for business. Every service
that we offer is managed, and backed by specialized expertise and Fanatical Support. We do not simply provide access to raw infrastructure. Modern
computing infrastructure is complex and ever-changing, so this specialist focus has allowed us to build a productized set of services that are repeatable,
efficient, high-quality and valuable to customers. Our employees, systems, management practices and organizational processes are constantly tuned to
improve our high-volume cloud computing offerings. Many of our competitors have to balance their cloud computing lines of business with other areas of
focus. These other products and services vie internally for the resources and talent needed to make cloud computing successful. Our exclusive focus on cloud
computing enables us to concentrate our capital and our Rackers' talents on a single mission and purpose. We can more rapidly and accurately deploy,
upgrade and scale our systems and services.
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Broad and Seamless Portfolio - Many hosting providers offer only public cloud services and take a one-size-fits-all approach to customer needs.
Others, rely on third-party reselling relationships to complete their hosting portfolio. Our portfolio of services allows us to deliver the best fit for each
customer's unique needs - the right offering at the right budget. Because of the breadth of our portfolio, customers can host their entire environment with us,
allowing them to benefit from the simplicity of working with one hosting specialist rather than managing multiple providers. Our hybrid cloud approach
allows customers the flexibility to combine both traditional and emerging services for a solution that best addresses their unique IT requirements, and our
RackConnect product allows the customer to employ all of our services in a seamless, easy-to-use manner.

Leading Open and Standard Technologies - When we partnered with NASA in July 2010 to launch OpenStack, an open-source cloud computing
platform, our goal was to provide an alternative to the proprietary software that then powered all of the major cloud-computing environments. We wanted to
help overcome one of the major barriers to adoption of cloud computing: business customers' fear of vendor lock-in and rising prices. Over the past four and a
half years, OpenStack has attracted support from more than 250 companies through 11 successful Design Summits with participants from six continents, and
the successful release of multiple versions of the software. While we are strong supporters of OpenStack, we also are one of the world’s largest support
providers for popular standard technologies created by Microsoft and VMware. We partner closely with those companies, as well as with Google and others,
and our Rackers are regarded as thought leaders in the best ways to deploy and manage those companies’ technologies.

Research and Development

We believe that business adoption of managed cloud is a paradigm shift in IT, and we are investing heavily to take advantage of this opportunity. For
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, we incurred $56.7 million, $90.2 million and $117.0 million of research and development expense,
respectively. Our research and development efforts are focused on developing new services including deployment of new technologies to address customer
demands in public cloud, private cloud, hybrid cloud and dedicated server; and development and enhancement of proprietary tools.

Intellectual Property Rights

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark and trade secret laws in the U.S., the European Union, and various countries in
Asia, South America, and elsewhere and contractual restrictions to establish and protect certain proprietary rights in our data, applications, and services. We
have patents issued as well as patent applications pending in the U.S. and the European Union. We have trademarks registered or pending in the U.S., the
European Union, and various countries in Asia, South America, and elsewhere for our name and certain words and phrases that we use in our business. We rely
on copyright laws and licenses to use and protect software and certain other elements of our proprietary technologies. We also enter into confidentiality and
invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and confidentiality agreements with other third parties, and we actively monitor access
to our proprietary technologies. In addition, we license third-party software, open source software and other technologies that are used in the provision of or
incorporated into some elements of our services. Many parts of our business are significantly reliant on proprietary technology and/or licensed technology.
Although we rigorously protect our rights to use this technology, any significant impairment of, or third-party claim against, our intellectual property rights
could harm our business or our ability to compete.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we employed 5,936 Rackers. None of our employees is represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we
experienced any work stoppages. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Sales and Marketing

Our service suite is sold via direct sales teams, through third-party channel partners and via online ordering. Our direct sales model is based on
centralized sales teams with leads generated primarily from customer referrals and corporate marketing efforts. This model also includes a centralized
enterprise field sales force, which targets select businesses in that market. Our channel partners include management and technical consultancies, technology
integrators, software application providers, and web developers. Online sales occur via online stores located in the relevant sections of our website.

Our marketing efforts generate interest and market demand by communicating the advantages of our services and unique support model. Our
marketing activities include web-based paid and natural search, participation in technology trade shows, conferences and customer events, advertisements in
traditional and electronic (web and email-based) media, and targeted regional public relations activities.
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Our Support Team Structure

Our support teams are specifically structured based on our customers' product and service choices. Service teams are comprised of specialized experts
who can address a wide range of business and technical issues for a customer and are available 24/7/365.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

See Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 11 – Segment Information” for financial information related to our
geographic areas. For information regarding certain risks relating to our foreign operations, please see the risk titled, “Our ability to operate and expand our
business is susceptible to risks associated with international sales and operations” in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Available Information

The company's annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports are
available free of charge on the company's website at www.rackspace.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our SEC filings are also available to the public at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Additionally, our board committee charters and code of ethics are
available on our website and in print to any stockholder who requests them. The information contained on our website is not incorporated herein by reference
and does not comprise a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

- 11 -



Table of Contents

ITEM 1A – RISK FACTORS
 

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If we are unable to adapt to evolving technologies and customer demands in a timely and cost-effective manner, our ability to sustain and grow our
business may suffer.
 

Our market is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, and frequent new product announcements, all of which
impact the way our services are marketed and delivered. The adoption of new technologies, a change in industry standards or introduction of more attractive
products or services could make some or all of our offerings less desirable or even obsolete. These potential changes are magnified by the continued rapid
growth of the Internet and the intense competition in our industry. To be successful, we must adapt to our rapidly changing market by forecasting customer
demands; improving the performance, features, and reliability of our products and services; and modifying our business strategies accordingly. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to identify the emergence of all of these new service alternatives successfully, modify our services accordingly, or develop and
bring new products and services to market in a timely and cost-effective manner to address these changes.

We could also incur substantial costs if we need to modify our services or infrastructure in order to adapt to these changes. For example, our data center
infrastructure could require improvements due to (i) the development of new systems to deliver power to or eliminate heat from the servers we house, (ii) the
development of new server technologies that require levels of critical load and heat removal that our facilities are not designed to provide, or (iii) a
fundamental change in the way in which we deliver services. We may not be able to timely adapt to changing technologies, if at all. Our ability to sustain and
grow our business would suffer if we fail to respond to these changes in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Finally, even if we succeed in adapting to a new technology or the changing industry standard and developing attractive products and services and
successfully bringing them to market, there is no assurance that our use of the new technology or standard or our introduction of the new products or services
would have a positive impact on our financial performance and could even result in lower revenue, lower margins and/or higher costs and therefore could
negatively impact our financial performance.

Our failure to provide platforms, products and services to compete with new technologies or the obsolescence of our platforms, products or services
would likely lead us to lose current and potential customers or cause us to incur substantial costs by attempting to catch our offerings up to the changed
environment.

If we do not prevent security breaches and other interruptions to our infrastructure, we may be exposed to lawsuits, lose customers, suffer harm to our
reputation, and incur additional costs.
 

The services we offer involve the transmission of large amounts of sensitive and proprietary information over public communications networks, as well
as the processing and storage of confidential customer information. Unauthorized access, remnant data exposure, computer viruses, denial of service attacks,
accidents, employee error or malfeasance, intentional misconduct by computer “hackers” and other disruptions can occur, and infrastructure gaps, hardware
and software vulnerabilities, inadequate or missing security controls and exposed or unprotected customer data can exist that (i) interfere with the delivery of
services to our customers, (ii) impede our customers' ability to do business, or (iii) compromise the security of systems and data, which exposes information to
unauthorized third parties. We are a constant target of cyber attacks of varying degrees on a regular basis, and we have encountered security breaches in the
past, although they did not have a material adverse effect on our operating results. There can be no assurance of a similar result in a future security breach.
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Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a
target. We may be unable to implement security measures in a timely manner, or, if and when implemented, these measures could be circumvented as a result
of accidental or intentional actions by parties within or outside of our organization. Any breaches that occur could expose us to increased risk of lawsuits,
loss of existing or potential customers, harm to our reputation and increases in our security costs. Although we typically require our customers to agree to
terms of service that contain provisions attempting to limit our liability for security breaches, we cannot assure you that a court would enforce any
contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of our customers brings a lawsuit against us as the result of a security breach that they may
ascribe to us. Additionally, we may decide to negotiate settlements with affected customers regardless of such contractual limitations. The outcome of any
such lawsuit would depend on the specific facts of the case and legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to mitigate. In such cases, we could
be liable for substantial damage awards that may significantly exceed our liability insurance coverage by unknown but significant amounts, which could
seriously impair our financial condition. The laws of some states and countries may also require us to inform any person whose data was accessed or stolen,
which could harm our reputation and business. Complying with the applicable notice requirements in the event of a security breach could result in
significant costs. We may also be subject to investigation and penalties by regulatory authorities and potential claims by persons whose information was
disclosed, even if such person was not actually a customer.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.
 

The market for cloud computing is highly competitive. We expect to face intense competition from our existing competitors as well as additional
competition from new market entrants in the future as the actual and potential market for hosting and cloud computing continues to grow.
 

Our current and potential competitors vary by size, service offerings and geographic region. These competitors may elect to partner with each other or
with focused companies like us to grow their businesses. They include:
 

▪ In-house and Colocation solutions with a colocation partner;

▪ IT outsourcing providers;

▪ Unmanaged cloud computing providers; and

▪ Other managed cloud computing companies. 

The primary competitive factors in our market are: customer service and technical expertise, security reliability and functionality, reputation and brand
recognition, financial strength, breadth of services offered, and price.
 

Many of our current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources; larger customer bases; longer
operating histories; greater brand recognition; and more established relationships in the industry than we do. As a result, some of these competitors may be
able to:
 

▪ Develop superior products or services, gain greater market acceptance, and expand their service offerings more efficiently or more rapidly;

▪ Adapt to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements more quickly;

▪ Bundle hosting services with other services they provide at reduced prices;

▪ Take advantage of acquisition and other opportunities more readily;

▪ Adopt more aggressive pricing policies and devote greater resources to the promotion, marketing, and sales of their services, which could cause us to
have to lower prices for certain products or services to remain competitive in the market; and

▪ Devote greater resources to the research and development of their products and services.
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Our physical infrastructure is concentrated in a few facilities, and any failure in our physical infrastructure or services could lead to significant costs and
disruptions and could reduce our revenue, harm our business reputation and have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
 

Our network, power supplies and data centers are subject to various points of failure. Problems with our cooling equipment, generators, uninterruptible
power supply ("UPS"), routers, switches, or other equipment, whether or not within our control, could result in service interruptions for our customers as well
as equipment damage. Because our hosting services do not require geographic proximity of our data centers to our customers, our infrastructure is
consolidated into a few large facilities. While data backup services and disaster recovery services are available as a part of our hosting services offerings, the
majority of our customers do not elect to pay the additional fees required to have disaster recovery services store their backup data offsite in a separate
facility, which could substantially mitigate the adverse effect to a customer from a single data center failure. Accordingly, any failure or downtime in one of
our data center facilities could affect a significant percentage of our customers. The total destruction or severe impairment of any of our data center facilities
could result in significant downtime of our services and the loss of customer data. Since our ability to attract and retain customers depends on our ability to
provide customers with highly reliable service, even minor interruptions in our service could harm our reputation. The services we provide are subject to
failure resulting from numerous factors, including:
 

▪ Power loss;

▪ Equipment failure;

▪ Human error or accidents;

▪ Sabotage and vandalism;

▪ Failure by us or our vendors to provide adequate service or maintenance to our equipment;

▪ Network connectivity downtime;

▪ Security breaches to our infrastructure;

▪ Improper building maintenance by the landlords of the buildings in which our facilities are located;

▪ Physical or electronic security breaches;

▪ Fire, earthquake, hurricane, tornado, flood, and other natural disasters;

▪ Water damage; and

▪ Terrorism. 

Additionally, in connection with the expansion or consolidation of our existing data center facilities from time to time, there is an increased risk that
service interruptions may occur as a result of server relocation or other unforeseen construction-related issues.
 

We have experienced interruptions in service in the past due to such things as power outages, power equipment failures, cooling equipment failures,
routing problems, security issues, hard drive failures, database corruption, system failures, software failures, and other computer failures. While we have not
experienced a material increase in customer attrition following these events, the extent to which our reputation suffers is difficult to assess. We have taken
and continue to take steps to improve our infrastructure to prevent service interruptions, including upgrading our electrical and mechanical infrastructure.
However, service interruptions continue to be a significant risk for us and could materially impact our business.
 

Any future service interruptions could:
 

▪ Cause our customers to seek damages for losses incurred;

▪ Require us to replace existing equipment or add redundant facilities;

▪ Affect our reputation as a reliable provider of hosting services;

▪ Cause existing customers to cancel or elect to not review their contracts; or

▪ Make it more difficult for us to attract new customers.
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Any of these events could materially increase our expenses or reduce our revenue, which would have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which could make our future results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to fall
below investor or analyst expectations.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including many of the risks described in this section, which are outside of our control.
As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Our prior period operating results are not an indication of our
future operating performance. Fluctuations in our revenue can lead to even greater fluctuations in our operating results. Our budgeted expense levels depend
in part on our expectations of long-term future revenue. Given the fixed nature of certain operating costs related to our personnel and facilities, any
substantial adjustment to our expenses to account for lower than expected levels of revenue will be difficult. Consequently, if our revenue does not meet
projected levels, our operating expenses would be high relative to our revenue, which would negatively affect our operating performance.

If our revenue or operating results do not meet or exceed the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock may
decline.

If we fail to hire and retain qualified employees and management personnel, our growth strategy and our operating results could be harmed.

Our growth strategy depends on our ability to identify, hire, train, and retain executives, IT professionals, technical engineers, software developers,
operations employees, and sales and senior management personnel who maintain relationships with our customers and who can provide the technical,
strategic, and marketing skills required for our company to grow. There is a shortage of qualified personnel in these fields, specifically in the San Antonio,
Texas area, where we are headquartered and a majority of our employees are located. We compete with other companies for this limited pool of potential
employees. In addition, as our industry becomes more competitive, it could become especially difficult to retain personnel with unique in-demand skills and
knowledge, whom we would expect to become recruiting targets for our competitors. There is no assurance that we will be able to recruit or retain qualified
personnel, and this failure could cause a dilution of our service-oriented culture and our inability to develop and deliver new products and services, which
could cause our operations and financial results to be negatively impacted.

Our success and future growth also depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of our management team, including Taylor
Rhodes, our Chief Executive Officer and President. We do not have long-term employment agreements with our senior management team, including Mr.
Rhodes.

We have been accused of infringing the proprietary rights of others and may be accused of infringing on the proprietary rights of others in the future,
which could subject us to costly and time consuming litigation and require us to discontinue services that infringe the rights of others.

There may be intellectual property rights held by others, including issued or pending patents, trademarks and service marks, that cover significant
aspects of our technologies, branding or business methods, including technologies and intellectual property we have licensed from third parties. Companies
in the technology industry and other patent and trademark holders seeking to profit from royalties in connection with grants of licenses own large numbers of
patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks and trade secrets and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of
intellectual property rights. These or other parties have claimed in the past and could claim in the future that we have misappropriated or misused intellectual
property rights. Any such current or future intellectual property claim against us, regardless of merit, could be time consuming and expensive to settle or
litigate and could divert the attention of our technical and management personnel. An adverse determination also could prevent us from offering our services
to our customers and may require that we procure or develop substitute services that do not infringe. For any intellectual property rights claim against us or
our customers, we may also have to pay damages, indemnify our customers against damages or stop using technology or intellectual property found to be in
violation of a third party’s rights. We may be unable to replace those technologies with technologies that have the same features or functionality and that are
of equal quality and performance standards on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Licensing replacement technologies and intellectual property may
significantly increase our operating expenses or may require us to restrict our business activities in one or more respects. We may also be required to develop
alternative non-infringing technology and intellectual property, which could require significant effort, time, and expense, and ultimately may not be an
alternative that functions as well as the original or is accepted in the marketplace.
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Failure to maintain adequate internal systems could cause us to be unable to properly provide service to our customers, causing us to lose customers, suffer
harm to our reputation, and incur additional costs.

Some of our enterprise systems have been designed to support individual products, resulting in a fragmentation among various internal systems,
making it difficult to serve customers who use multiple service offerings. This causes us to implement manual processes to overcome the fragmentation,
which can result in increased expense and manual errors.

We have systems initiatives underway that span infrastructure, products and business transformation. These initiatives are likely to drive significant
change in both infrastructure and business processes and contain overlaps and dependencies among the programs. Our inability to manage competing
priorities, execute multiple parallel program tracks, plan effectively, manage resources effectively and meet deadlines and budgets could result in us not
being able to implement the systems needed to deliver our services in a compelling manner to our customers.

We provide service level commitments to our customers, which could require us to issue credits for future services if the stated service levels are not met for
a given period and could significantly decrease our revenue and harm our reputation.
 

Our customer agreements provide that we maintain certain service level commitments to our customers relating primarily to network uptime, critical
infrastructure availability, and hardware replacement. If we are unable to meet the stated service level commitments, we may be contractually obligated to
provide these customers with credits for future services. As a result, a failure to deliver services for a relatively short duration could cause us to issue these
credits to a large number of affected customers. In addition, we cannot be assured that our customers will accept these credits in lieu of other legal remedies
that may be available to them. Our failure to meet our commitments could also result in substantial customer dissatisfaction or loss. Because of the loss of
future revenue through these credits, potential customer loss and other potential liabilities, our revenue could be significantly impacted if we cannot meet our
service level commitments to our customers.

If we are unable to maintain a high level of customer service, customer satisfaction and demand for our services could suffer.
 

We believe that our success depends on our ability to provide customers with quality service that not only meets our stated commitments, but meets
and then exceeds customer service expectations. We refer to this high quality of customer service as Fanatical Support. If we are unable to provide customers
with quality customer support in a variety of areas, we could face customer dissatisfaction, dilution of our brand, weakening of our main market differentiator,
decreased overall demand for our services, and loss of revenue. In addition, our inability to meet customer service expectations may damage our reputation
and could consequently limit our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers, which would adversely affect our ability to generate revenue
and negatively impact our operating results.
 
Our existing customers could elect to reduce or terminate the services they purchase from us because we do not have long-term contracts with our
customers, which could adversely affect our operating results.
 

Customer contracts for our dedicated cloud services typically have initial terms of one to two years which, unless terminated, may be renewed or
automatically extended on a month-to-month basis. Our customers have no obligation to renew their services after their initial contract periods expire on
these contracts. In addition, many of our other services and products, including most of our public cloud products and services, are generally provided on a
month-to-month basis with no extended initial term at all. Our costs associated with maintaining revenue from existing customers are generally much lower
than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers. Therefore, a reduction in revenue from our existing customers, even if offset by an
increase in revenue from new customers, could reduce our operating margins. Any failure by us to continue to retain our existing customers could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results.
 
Customers with mission-critical applications could potentially expose us to lawsuits for their lost profits or damages, which could impair our financial
condition.
 

Because our services are critical to many of our customers’ businesses, any significant disruption in our services could result in lost profits or other
indirect or consequential damages to our customers. Although we require our customers to sign agreements that contain provisions attempting to limit our
liability for service outages, we cannot be assured that a court would enforce any contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of our
customers brings a lawsuit against us as the result of a service interruption or other Internet site or application problems that they may ascribe to us. The
outcome of any such lawsuit would depend on the specific facts of the case and any legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to mitigate. In
such cases, we could be liable for substantial damage awards that may exceed our liability insurance coverage by unknown but significant amounts, which
could materially impair our financial condition.
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Our use of open source software and contributions to open source projects could impose limitations on our ability to provide our services, expose us to
litigation, and cause us to impair some assets, which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
 

We utilize open source software, including Linux-based software, in providing a substantial portion of our services. The terms of many open source
licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated
conditions or restrictions on our ability to offer our services. Additionally, the use and distribution of open source software can lead to greater risks than the
use of third-party commercial software, as open source software does not come with warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims
or the quality of the code. From time to time parties have asserted claims against companies that distribute or use open source software in their products and
services, asserting that open source software infringes their intellectual property rights. We have been subject to suits, and could be subject to suits in the
future, by parties claiming infringement of intellectual property rights with respect to what we believe to be open source software. In such an event, we could
be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue using such software or offering certain of our services or to discontinue the use of such
software or the sale of our affected services in the event we could not obtain such licenses, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results
and financial condition. In addition, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under some of the open
source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software.
 

We also participate in the OpenStack Foundation, which we initially founded to foster the emergence of cloud computing technology standards and
cloud interoperability. Our participation included the release of our previously proprietary core cloud storage code, and we continue to participate through
ongoing code contributions. In addition, we also participate in other open source projects and plan to continue to do so in the future. Our utilization of open
source software and open data center design projects like the Facebook Open Compute project could cause us to use open source solutions as opposed to
existing proprietary solutions and could result in an impairment of design and development assets.

In addition, our activities with these open source projects could subject us to additional risks of litigation, including indirect infringement claims
based on third-party contributors because of our participation in these projects.
 
We may not be successful in protecting and enforcing our intellectual property rights, which could adversely affect our financial condition and operating
results.
 

We rely primarily on patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual
restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only limited protection. We rely on copyright laws to protect software and
certain other elements of our proprietary technologies. We cannot be assured that any future copyright, trademark or service mark registrations will be issued
for pending or future applications or that any registered or unregistered copyrights, trademarks or service marks will be enforceable or provide adequate
protection of our proprietary rights. We currently have patents issued and patent applications pending in the U.S. and the European Union. Our patent
applications may be challenged and/or ultimately rejected, and our issued patents may be contested, circumvented, found unenforceable or invalidated.

 
We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees, contractors, and parties with whom we do business to limit access to and disclosure of our

proprietary information. The steps we have taken, however, may not prevent unauthorized use or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others
may independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent, superior to, or otherwise competitive to the technologies we employ in our
services or that infringe our intellectual property. We may be unable to prevent competitors from acquiring trademarks or service marks and other proprietary
rights that are similar to, infringe upon, or diminish the value of our trademarks and service marks and our other proprietary rights. Enforcement of our
intellectual property rights also depends on successful legal actions against infringers and parties who misappropriate our proprietary information and trade
secrets, but these actions may not be successful, even when our rights have been infringed. 

In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. Despite the measures
taken by us, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our technology and information without authorization. Policing
unauthorized use of our proprietary technologies and other intellectual property and our services is difficult, and litigation could become necessary in the
future to enforce our intellectual property rights. Any litigation could be time consuming and expensive to prosecute or resolve, result in substantial
diversion of management attention and resources, and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture, we could lose the innovation, creativity, and teamwork
fostered by our culture, and our operating results may be harmed.
 

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters innovation, creativity, and teamwork. If
we implement more complex organizational management structures because of growth or other structural changes or create disparities in personal wealth
among our employees through our compensation philosophy and benefit plan utilization, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial
aspects of our corporate culture. If we cannot maintain a favorable corporate culture, then we can lose employee engagement, which can cause employees to
lose the desire to innovate, foster teamwork and strive to delight our customers. Ultimately, we believe that the delivery of exceptional service to our
customers by our employees is what produces customer "promoters" and fuels our growth aspirations. Therefore, if the corporate culture is not maintained, it
could negatively impact our future operating results.
 
If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our financial results could suffer.
 

The growth of our business and our service offerings could strain our operating and financial resources. Further, we intend to continue expanding our
overall business, customer base, headcount, and operations. Creating a global organization and managing a geographically dispersed workforce requires
substantial management effort and significant additional investment in our operating and financial system capabilities and controls. If our information
systems are unable to support the demands placed on them by our growth, we may be forced to implement new systems, which would be disruptive to our
business. We may be unable to manage our expenses effectively in the future due to the expenses associated with these expansions, which may negatively
impact our gross margins or operating expenses. If we fail to improve our operational systems or to expand our customer service capabilities to keep pace
with the growth of our business, we could experience customer dissatisfaction, cost inefficiencies, and lost revenue opportunities, which may materially and
adversely affect our operating results.
 
We may not be able to continue to add new customers and increase sales to our existing customers, which could adversely affect our operating results.
 

Our growth is dependent on our ability to continue to attract new customers while retaining and expanding our service offerings to existing customers.
Growth in the demand for our services may be inhibited, and we may be unable to sustain growth in our customer base for a number of reasons, such as:
 

▪ A reduction in the demand for our services due to macroeconomic factors in the markets in which we operate;

▪ Our inability to market our services in a cost-effective manner to new customers;

▪ The inability of our customers to differentiate our services from those of our competitors or our inability to effectively communicate such
distinctions;

▪ Our inability to successfully communicate the benefits of our services to businesses;

▪ The decision of businesses to host internally or in colocation facilities as an alternative to the use of our services;

▪ Our inability to penetrate international markets;

▪ Our inability to provide compelling services or effectively market them to existing customers;

▪ Our inability to strengthen awareness of our brand; and

▪ Reliability, quality or compatibility problems with our services.

A substantial amount of our revenue growth is derived from purchases of service upgrades and additional services by existing customers. Our costs
associated with increasing revenue from existing customers are generally lower than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers. Therefore,
a reduction in the rate of revenue increase or a revenue decrease from our existing customers, even if offset by an increase in revenue from new customers,
could reduce our operating margins.

Any failure by us to continue attracting new customers or grow our revenue from existing customers for a prolonged period of time could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results.
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If we overestimate or underestimate our data center capacity requirements, our operating margins and profitability could be adversely affected.

The costs of building out, leasing, and maintaining our data centers constitute a significant portion of our capital and operating expenses. In order to
manage growth and ensure adequate capacity for new and existing customers while minimizing unnecessary excess capacity costs, we continuously evaluate
our short and long-term data center capacity requirements. If we overestimate the demand for our services and therefore secure excess data center capacity, our
operating margins could be materially reduced. If we underestimate our data center capacity requirements, we may not be able to service the expanding needs
of our existing customers and may be required to limit new customer acquisition, which may materially impair our revenue growth.

In the past, we have leased data center facilities and built or maintained the facilities ourselves. Due to the lead time in expanding existing data centers
or building new data centers, if we build or expand data centers ourselves, we are required to estimate demand for our services as far as two years into the
future. This requirement to make customer demand estimates so far in advance makes it difficult to accurately estimate our data center space needs. Building
and maintaining data center facilities is also quite expensive.

More recently, we have leased data centers from data center operators who have built or maintained the facilities for us. If there are facilities available
for lease that suit our needs, our lead time to make capacity decisions is decreased. However, there is still substantial lead time necessary in making sure that
available space is adequate for our needs and maximizes our investment return. If we inaccurately forecast our space needs, we may be forced to enter into a
lease that is not ideal for our needs and may potentially be required to pay more to secure the space if the current customer demand were to require immediate
space expansion.

We currently intend to continue to lease from data center operators, but we could be forced to re-evaluate those plans depending on the availability
and cost of data center facilities, the ability to impact and control certain design aspects of the data center and economic conditions affecting the data center
operator's ability to add additional facilities.
 
We may not be able to renew the leases on our existing facilities on terms acceptable to us, if at all, which could adversely affect our operating results.
 

We do not own the facilities occupied by our current data centers but occupy them pursuant to commercial leasing arrangements. The initial terms of
our main existing data center leases expire over the next 20 years. Upon the expiration or termination of our data center facility leases, we may not be able to
renew these leases on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we fail to renew any data center lease and are required or choose to move the data center to a new
facility, we would face significant challenges due to the technical complexity, risk, and high costs of relocating the equipment. For example, if we are
required to migrate customer servers to a new facility, such migration could result in significant downtime for our affected customers. This could damage our
reputation and lead us to lose current and potential customers, which would harm our operating results and financial condition.
 

Even if we are able to renew the leases on our existing data centers, we expect that rental rates, which will be determined based on then-prevailing
market rates with respect to the renewal option periods and which will be determined by negotiation with the landlord after the renewal option periods, will
be higher than rates we currently pay under our existing lease agreements. If we fail to increase revenue in our existing data centers by amounts sufficient to
offset any increases in rental rates for these facilities, our operating results may be materially and adversely affected.

We rely on a number of third-party providers for data center space, equipment, maintenance and other services, and the loss of, or problems with, one or
more of these providers may impede our growth or cause us to lose customers.
 

We rely on third-party providers to supply data center space, equipment and maintenance. For example, we lease data center space from third-party
landlords, lease or purchase equipment from equipment providers, and source equipment maintenance through third parties. While we have entered into
various agreements for the lease of data center space, equipment, maintenance and other services, the third party could fail to live up to the contractual
obligations under those agreements. For example, a data center landlord may fail to adequately maintain its facilities or provide an appropriate data center
infrastructure for which it is responsible. If that were to happen, we would not likely be able to deliver the services to our customers that we have agreed to
provide according to our standards or at all. Additionally, if the third parties that we rely on do fail to deliver on their obligations, our customers may lose
confidence in our company, which would make it likely that we would not able to retain those customers, and therefore negatively impede our growth and
financial results.
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We rely on third-party software that may be difficult to replace or which could cause errors or failures of our service that could lead to lost customers or
harm to our reputation.
 

We rely on software licensed from third parties to offer our services. This software may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this software could result in delays in the provisioning of our services until equivalent technology is either
developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained, and integrated, which could harm our business. Any errors or defects in third-party software or
inadequate or delayed support by the third party could result in errors or a failure of our service, which could harm our operating results by adversely
affecting our revenue or operating costs.
 
We engage and rely on third-party consultants who may fail to provide effective guidance or solutions, which could result in increased costs and loss of
business opportunity.
 

We engage third-party consultants who provide us with guidance and solutions relating to everything from overall corporate strategy to data center
operations to employee engagement. We engage these parties based on our perception of their expertise and ability to provide valuable insight or solutions
in the areas that we believe need to be addressed in our business. However, these consultants may provide us with ineffective or even harmful guidance or
solutions, which, if followed or implemented, could result in a loss of resources, operational failures or a loss of critical business opportunities.
 
Increased energy costs, power outages, and limited availability of electrical resources may adversely affect our operating results.
 

Our data centers are susceptible to increased regional, national or international costs of power and to electrical power outages. Our customer contracts
do not allow us to pass on any increased costs of energy to our customers, which could affect our operating margins. Increases in our power costs could
impact our operating results and financial condition. Since we rely on third parties to provide our data centers with power sufficient to meet our needs, our
data centers could have a limited or inadequate amount of electrical resources necessary to meet our customer requirements. We attempt to limit exposure to
system downtime due to power outages by using backup generators and power supplies. However, these protections may not limit our exposure to power
shortages or outages entirely. Any system downtime resulting from insufficient power resources or power outages could damage our reputation and lead us to
lose current and potential customers, which would harm our operating results and financial condition.

Increased Internet bandwidth costs and network failures may adversely affect our operating results.
 

Our success depends in part upon the capacity, reliability, and performance of our network infrastructure, including the capacity leased from our
Internet bandwidth suppliers. We depend on these companies to provide uninterrupted and error-free service through their telecommunications networks.
Some of these providers are also our competitors. We exercise little control over these providers, which increases our vulnerability to problems with the
services they provide. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience interruptions or delays in network service. Any failure on our part or the
part of our third-party suppliers to achieve or maintain high data transmission capacity, reliability or performance could significantly reduce customer
demand for our services and damage our business.

 
As our customer base grows and their usage of telecommunications capacity increases, we will be required to make additional investments in our

capacity to maintain adequate data transmission speeds, the availability of which may be limited or the cost of which may be on terms unacceptable to us. If
adequate capacity is not available to us as our customers’ usage increases, our network may be unable to achieve or maintain sufficiently high data
transmission capacity, reliability or performance. In addition, our business would suffer if our network suppliers increased the prices for their services and we
were unable to pass along the increased costs to our customers.
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We could be required to repay substantial amounts of money to certain state and local governments if we lose tax exemptions or grants previously
awarded to us, which could adversely affect our operating results.
 

In August 2007, we entered into an agreement with the State of Texas (Texas Enterprise Fund Grant) under which we could receive up to a total of $22
million in state enterprise fund grants on the condition that we meet certain employment levels in the State of Texas paying an average compensation of at
least $56,000 per year (subject to increases). To the extent we fail to meet these requirements, we may be required to repay all or a portion of the grants plus
interest. As of February 1, 2015, we had met the requirements to receive a total of $14 million of the available funds. We can draw an additional $8 million if
we have created a total of 4,000 new jobs in Texas as of December 31, 2015. We are responsible for maintaining all of the jobs used in calculating these
disbursements through January 2022. If we eliminate jobs for which we have drawn funds, we are subject to a clawback on the amounts we have drawn plus
3.4% interest on such amounts per year. 

On August 3, 2007, we entered into a lease for approximately 67 acres of land and a 1.2 million square foot facility in Windcrest, Texas, which is in the
San Antonio, Texas area, to house our corporate headquarters. In connection with this lease, we also entered into a Master Economic Incentives Agreement
(“MEIA”) with the Cities of Windcrest and San Antonio, Texas; Bexar County; and certain other parties, pursuant to which we agreed to locate existing and
future employees at the new facility location. The agreement requires that we meet certain employment levels each year. On July 24, 2012, the parties to the
MEIA entered into an amendment which acknowledged Rackspace's achievement of the required employment commitment levels. In addition to requiring a
set number of employees to be hired, the MEIA requires that the median compensation of those employees be no less than $51,000 per year. In exchange for
meeting these employment obligations, the parties agreed to enter into the lease structure, pursuant to which, as a lessee of the Windcrest Economic
Development Corporation, we will not be subject to most of the property taxes associated with the property for a 14-year period. If we fail to maintain these
job creation requirements, we could lose a portion or all of the tax benefit being provided during the 14-year period by having to make payments in lieu of
taxes ("PILOT") to the City of Windcrest. The amount of the PILOT payment would be calculated based on the amount of taxes that would have been owed
for that period if the property were not exempt, and then such amount would be adjusted pursuant to certain factors, such as the percentage of employment
achieved compared to the stated requirements.

We have debt obligations that include restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility to manage our business; failure to comply with these covenants could
trigger an acceleration of our outstanding indebtedness and adversely affect our financial position and operating results.
 

Our credit facility requires compliance with a set of financial and non-financial covenants. Those covenants include financial leverage limitations and
interest rate coverage requirements, as well as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or liens, make restricted payments, sell assets, enter into
affiliate transactions, merge or consolidate with other companies, make certain acquisitions and take other actions. If we default on our credit agreement due
to non-compliance with such covenants or any other contractual requirement of the agreement, we may be required to repay all amounts owed under this
credit facility and, if those amounts owed at the time of the default are substantial, the repayment could materially and adversely affect our liquidity and
business. As of December 31, 2014, there was $25 million outstanding indebtedness under our credit facility in addition to immaterial outstanding letters of
credit.
 

We also have equipment and other lease obligations. The principal balance of these capital lease obligations totaled approximately $23.9 million as of
December 31, 2014. The payment obligations under the equipment leases are generally secured by a significant portion of the hardware used in our data
centers. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from our operations or cash from other sources in order to meet the payment obligations under these
equipment leases, we may lose the right to possess and operate the equipment used in our data centers, which would substantially impair our ability to
provide our services, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or results of operations.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash to repay our debt obligations when they become due and payable, either when they mature or in the event
of a default, we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all, which may negatively impact our ability to
continue as a going concern.
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We may require additional capital and may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms to meet our future capital needs, which could
adversely affect our financial position and result in stockholder dilution.
 

In order to fund future growth, we will be dependent on significant capital expenditures. We may need to raise additional funds through equity or debt
financings in the future in order to meet our operating and capital needs. We may not be able to secure additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms,
or at all, at the time when we need such funding. If we are unable to raise additional funds, we may not be able to pursue our growth strategy, and our business
could suffer. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant
dilution in their percentage ownership of our company, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those
of holders of our common stock. In addition, any debt financing that we may obtain in the future could have restrictive covenants relating to our capital
raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business
opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

We are exposed to commodity and market price risks that have the potential to substantially influence our profitability and liquidity.
 

We are a large consumer of power. During 2014, we expensed approximately $31.5 million to utility companies to power our data centers. We
anticipate an increase in our consumption of power in the future as our sales grow. Power costs vary by locality and are subject to substantial seasonal
fluctuations and changes in energy prices. Our largest exposure to energy prices currently exists at our Grapevine, Texas facility in the Dallas-Fort Worth
area, where the energy market is deregulated. Power costs have historically tracked the general costs of energy, and continued increases in electricity costs
may negatively impact our gross margins or operating expenses. We periodically evaluate the advisability of entering into fixed-price utilities contracts and
have entered into certain fixed-price utilities contracts for some of our power consumption. If we choose not to enter into a fixed-price contract, we expose
our cost structure to this commodity price risk. If we do choose to enter into a fixed-price contract, we lose the opportunity to reduce our power costs if the
price for power falls below the fixed cost.  

Our main credit facility is a revolving line of credit with a base rate determined by variable market rates, including the Prime Rate and the London
Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"). These market rates of interest are fluctuating and expose our interest expense to risk. At this point, our credit agreement
does not obligate us to hedge any interest rate risk with any instruments, such as interest rate swaps or interest rate options, and we do not have any such
instruments in place. As we borrow, we may enter into swaps to continuously control our interest rate risk. As a result, we are exposed to interest rate risk on
our borrowings. As an example of the impact of this interest rate risk, a 100 basis point increase in LIBOR would increase the interest expense on $10 million
of borrowings that are not hedged by $0.1 million annually. As of December 31, 2014, we had limited exposure to interest rate risk as there was $25 million
amount outstanding on our revolving credit facility.

The majority of our customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the functional currency of our
company or our subsidiaries, respectively. However, some of our customers are currently invoiced in currencies other than the applicable functional currency.
As a result, we may incur foreign currency losses based on changes in exchange rates between the date of the invoice and the date of collection. In addition,
large changes in foreign exchange rates relative to our functional currencies could increase the costs of our services to non-U.S. customers relative to local
competitors, thereby causing us to lose existing or potential customers to these local competitors. Thus, our results of operations and cash flows are subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Further, as we grow our international operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could
become more significant. To date, we have not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts, although we may do so in the future.

We may be liable for the material that content providers distribute over our network, and we may have to terminate customers that provide content that is
determined to be illegal, which could adversely affect our operating results.
 

The law relating to the liability of private network operators for information carried on, stored on, or disseminated through their networks is still
unsettled in many jurisdictions. We have been and expect to continue to be subject to legal claims relating to the content disseminated on our network,
including claims under the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, other similar legislation and common law. In addition, there are other potential customer
activities, such as online gambling and pornography, where we, in our role as a hosting provider, may be held liable as an aider or abettor of our customers. If
we need to take costly measures to reduce our exposure to these risks, terminate customer relationships and the associated revenue or defend ourselves
against such claims, our financial results could be negatively affected.
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Government regulation is continuously evolving and, depending on its evolution, may adversely affect our operating results.
 

We are subject to varying degrees of regulation in each of the jurisdictions in which we provide services. Local laws and regulations, and their
interpretation and enforcement, differ significantly among those jurisdictions. These regulations and laws may cover taxation, privacy, data protection,
pricing, content, copyrights, distribution, mobile communications, electronic device certification, electronic waste, electronic contracts and other
communications, consumer protection, web services, the provision of online payment services, unencumbered Internet access to our services, the design and
operation of websites, and the characteristics and quality of products and services. These laws can be costly to comply with, can be a significant diversion to
management’s time and effort, and can subject us to claims or other remedies, as well as negative publicity. Many of these laws were adopted prior to the
advent of the Internet and related technologies and, as a result, do not contemplate or address the unique issues that the Internet and related technologies
produce. Some of the laws that do reference the Internet and related technologies have been and continue to be interpreted by the courts, but their
applicability and scope remain largely uncertain.
 

In addition, future regulatory, judicial, and legislative changes may have a material adverse effect on our ability to deliver services within various
jurisdictions. National regulatory frameworks have only recently been, or are still being, put in place in many countries. Accordingly, many countries are still
in the early stages of providing for and adapting to a liberalized telecommunications market. As a result, in these markets we may encounter more protracted
and difficult procedures to obtain any necessary licenses or negotiate interconnection agreements, which could negatively impact our ability to expand in
these markets or increase our operating costs in these markets.

Privacy concerns relating to our technology could damage our reputation and deter current and potential users from using our products and services.
 

Since our products and services are web-based, we store substantial amounts of data for our customers on our servers, including personal information.
Any systems failure or compromise of our security that results in the release of our customers’ data could (i) subject us to substantial damage claims from our
customers, (ii) expose us to costly regulatory remediation and (iii) harm our reputation and brand. We may also need to expend significant resources to
protect against security breaches. The risk that these types of events could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as we expand our hosting
footprint.
 

Regulatory authorities around the world are considering a number of legislative proposals concerning data protection. In addition, the interpretation
and application of data protection laws in Europe and elsewhere are still uncertain and in flux. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in
a manner that is inconsistent with our data practices. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, this could result in an order requiring that we change our data
practices, which could have an adverse effect on our business. Complying with these various laws could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to
change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.
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Our ability to operate and expand our business is susceptible to risks associated with international sales and operations.
 

We anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, a significant portion of our revenue will continue to be derived from sources outside of the U.S. A key
element of our growth strategy is to further expand our customer base internationally and successfully operate data centers in foreign markets. We have
limited experience operating in foreign jurisdictions other than the U.K. and Hong Kong and expect to continue to grow our international operations.
Managing a global organization is difficult, time consuming, and expensive. Our inexperience in operating our business globally increases the risk that
international expansion efforts that we may undertake will not be successful. In addition, conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we
have not generally faced. These risks include:
 

▪ Localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local practices and regulatory requirements;

▪ Lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;

▪ Longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

▪ Difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

▪ Fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

▪ Potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of transfer pricing, foreign value added tax systems, and restrictions on the
repatriation of earnings;

▪ Dependence on certain third parties, including channel partners with whom we do not have extensive experience;

▪ The burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and legal standards;

▪ Increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

▪ Political, social, and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns in general; and

▪ Reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources. The investment and additional resources
required to establish operations and manage growth in other countries may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability.

Our referral and reseller partners provide revenue to our business, and we benefit from our association with them. The loss of these participants could
adversely affect our business.
 

Our referral and reseller partners drive revenue to our business. Most of these partners offer services that are complementary to our services; however,
some may actually compete with us in one or more of our product or service offerings. These network partners may decide in the future to terminate their
agreements with us and/or to market and sell a competitor’s or their own services rather than ours, which could cause our revenue to decline.
 

Also, we derive tangible and intangible benefits from our association with some of our network partners, particularly high profile partners that reach a
large number of companies through the Internet. If a substantial number of these partners terminate their relationship with us, our business could be adversely
affected.
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Our acquisitions may divert our management’s attention, result in dilution to our stockholders and consume resources that are necessary to sustain our
business.
 

We have made acquisitions, and, if appropriate opportunities present themselves, we may make additional acquisitions or investments or enter into
joint ventures or strategic alliances with other companies. Risks commonly encountered in such transactions include:
 

▪ The difficulty of assimilating the operations and personnel of the combined companies;

▪ The potential post-acquisition loss of personnel acquired through an acquisition;

• The risk that we may not be able to integrate the acquired services or technologies with our current services, products, and technologies;

▪ The potential disruption of our ongoing business;

▪ The diversion of management attention from our existing business;

▪ The inability of management to maximize our financial and strategic position through the successful integration of the acquired businesses;

▪ Difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures, and policies;

▪ The impairment of relationships with employees, suppliers, and customers as a result of any integration;

▪ The loss of an acquired base of customers and accompanying revenue; and

▪ The assumption of leased facilities, other long-term commitments or liabilities that could have a material adverse impact on our profitability and
cash flow.

As a result of these potential problems and risks, businesses that we may acquire or invest in may not produce the revenue, earnings, or business
synergies that we anticipated. In addition, there can be no assurance that any potential transaction will be successfully identified and completed or that, if
completed, the acquired business or investment will generate sufficient revenue to offset the associated costs or other potential harmful effects on our
business.

Concerns about greenhouse gas emissions and the global climate change may result in environmental taxes, charges, assessments or penalties.
 

The effects of human activity on the global climate change have attracted considerable public and scientific attention, as well as the attention of the
United States government. Efforts are being made to reduce greenhouse emissions, particularly those from coal combustion by power plants, some of which
we may rely upon for power. The added cost of any environmental taxes, charges, assessments or penalties levied on these power plants could be passed on to
us, increasing the cost to run our data centers. Additionally, environmental taxes, charges, assessments or penalties could be levied directly on us in
proportion to our carbon footprint. Any enactment of laws or passage of regulations regarding greenhouse gas emissions by the United States, or any
domestic or foreign jurisdiction we perform business in, could adversely affect our operations and financial results.
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Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock
 
The trading price of our common stock may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to, among other things, the
factors discussed in this Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this periodic report, operating results that do not meet market analyst expectations, and other
factors beyond our control, such as stock market volatility and fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us. For
example, between December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, the closing trading price of our common stock was very volatile, ranging between $26.28 and
$48.24 per share, including single-day increases of up to 17.7% and declines up to 19.1%.

Further, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected our stock price and the market prices of equity securities
of many other companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies.

In the past, many companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation.
We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s
attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.
  
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any
dividends in the foreseeable future.
 
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if an acquisition would
be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management.
 

Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our
company or changes in our board of directors deemed undesirable by our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these
provisions:
 

• Authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock, which can be created and issued by our board of directors without prior stockholder approval,
with voting, liquidation, dividend, and other rights senior to those of our common stock;

• Provide for a classified board of directors, with each director serving a staggered three-year term;

• Prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacancies or increasing the size of our board, calling special stockholder meetings or taking action by
written consent;

• Provide for the removal of a director only with cause and by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an
election of our directors; and

• Require advance written notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation,
amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors
or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-current board of directors, including a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. Any
delay or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

Office Space

Our corporate headquarters facility is located in San Antonio, Texas and consists of a 1.2 million square foot facility located on approximately 67
acres of land. We have remodeled and are currently using approximately 800 thousand square feet of office space and will continue to remodel the formerly
vacant facility as needed to facilitate our future growth and office requirements. In addition to our corporate headquarters, we have office locations
throughout the U.S., the U.K., the Netherlands, Hong Kong, Switzerland, Australia, and Mexico City. As of December 31, 2014, we utilized approximately
1.1 million square feet of leased office space for customer service, operations, sales, corporate and administrative functions.

Data Centers

As of December 31, 2014, we leased data centers located in the U.S. (in Texas, Virginia, and Illinois), the U.K., Hong Kong and Australia. At
December 31, 2014, we were utilizing 31 Megawatts of power at our data centers and had 58 Megawatts of power under contract.

We are continuously looking for additional data center space to accommodate future growth or that would present an attractive business opportunity
for us. However, we believe that our existing office space and data center facilities as well as those currently under construction in the U.K. are adequate for
our current needs and that suitable additional or alternative space will be available in the future to meet our anticipated needs.
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ITEM 3 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

We are party to various legal and administrative proceedings, which we consider routine and incidental to our business. In addition, we were involved
in the following legal proceedings:

On May 29, 2012, Clouding IP, LLC filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. The complaint
alleged, among other things, infringement of the following nine patents: U.S. Patent No. 7,596,784 purporting to cover a “Method System and Apparatus for
Providing Pay-Per-Use Distributed Computing Resources;” U.S. Patent No. 7,065,637 purporting to cover a “System for Configuration of Dynamic
Computing Environments Using a Visual Interface;” U.S. Patent No. 6,738,799 purporting to cover a “Methods and Apparatuses for File Synchronization and
Updating Using a Signature List;” U.S. Patent No. 5,495,607 purporting to cover a “Network Management System Having Virtual Catalog Overview of Files
Disruptively Stored Across Network Domain;” U.S. Patent No. 6,925,481 purporting to cover a “Technique for Enabling Remote Data Access and
Manipulation from a Pervasive Device;” U.S. Patent No. 7,254,621 purporting to cover a “Technique for Enabling Remote Data Access and Manipulation
from a Pervasive Device;” U.S. Patent No. 6,963,908 purporting to cover a “System for Transferring Customized Hardware and Software Settings from One
Computer to Another Computer to Provide Personalized Operating Environments;" U.S. Patent No. 6,631,449 purporting to cover a “Dynamic Distributed
Data System and Method;” and U.S. Patent No. 6,918,014 purporting to cover a “Dynamic Distributed Data System and Method.” The plaintiff sought
monetary damages and costs. The parties reached a settlement of the case, and on November 3, 2014, all claims were dismissed with prejudice. This
settlement did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

On September 17, 2012, PersonalWeb Technologies LLC and Level 3 Communications, LLC filed a complaint against us in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas. The complaint alleged, among other things, infringement of the following nine patents: U.S. Patent No. 5,978,791
purporting to cover “Data Processing System Using Substantially Unique Identifiers to Identify Data Items, Whereby Data Items Have the Same Identifiers;”
U.S Patent No. 6,415,280 purporting to cover “Identifying and Requesting Data in Network Using Identifiers Which Are Based On Contents of Data;” U.S.
Patent No. 6,928,442 purporting to cover “Enforcement and Policing of Licensed Content Using Content-based Identifiers;” U.S. Patent No. 7,802,310
purporting to cover “Controlling Access to Data in a Data Processing System;” U.S. Patent No. 7,945,539 purporting to cover “Distributing and Accessing
Data in a Data Processing System;” U.S. Patent No. 7,945,544 purporting to cover “Similarity-Based Access Control of Data in a Data Processing System;”
U.S. Patent No. 7,949,662 purporting to cover “De-duplication of Data in a Data Processing System;” U.S. Patent No. 8,001,096 purporting to cover
“Computer File System Using Content-Dependent File Identifiers;” and U.S. Patent No. 8,099,420 purporting to cover “Accessing Data in a Data Processing
System.” Plaintiff PersonalWeb Technologies sought injunctive relief, monetary damages, costs, and attorney's fees. The parties reached a settlement of the
case, and on October 20, 2014, all claims were dismissed with prejudice. This settlement did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations.

On February 25, 2013, Rotatable Technologies LLC filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas.
The complaint alleged, among other things, infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,326,978 purporting to cover “Display Method for Selectively Rotating
Windows on a Computer Display.” The plaintiff sought injunctive relief, monetary damages, costs, and attorney's fees. The parties reached a settlement of the
case, and on November 6, 2014, all claims were dismissed with prejudice. This settlement did not have a material impact on our financial position or results
of operations.

On March 18, 2014, Selene Communications Technologies, LLC filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware. The complaint alleges, among other things, infringement of the following two patents: U.S. Patent No. 6,363,377 purporting to cover a “Search
Data Processor” and U.S. Patent No. 7,143,444 purporting to cover an “Application-Layer Anomaly and Misuse Detection.” The plaintiff sought injunctive
relief, monetary damages and costs. The parties reached a settlement of the case, and on December 2, 2014, all claims were dismissed with prejudice. This
settlement did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "RAX" beginning on August 8, 2008. The following table sets
forth the high and low closing prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange.

Fiscal Year 2013 Quarters:  High  Low
First Quarter  $ 79.24  $ 49.74
Second Quarter  $ 52.24  $ 34.46
Third Quarter  $ 53.85  $ 38.08
Fourth Quarter  $ 53.50  $ 33.19

Fiscal Year 2014 Quarters:  High  Low
First Quarter  $ 40.36  $ 31.26
Second Quarter  $ 38.28  $ 26.28
Third Quarter  $ 39.79  $ 29.50
Fourth Quarter  $ 48.24  $ 32.80

The last reported sale price for our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $39.13, $46.81 and $49.24 per share on December 31, 2013,
December 31, 2014, and February 23, 2015, respectively.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Our board of directors currently intends to retain any future earnings to support
operations and to finance the growth and development of our business and does not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable
future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board.

Stockholders

As of February 23, 2015, there were 314 registered stockholders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are held
by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these stockholders of
record.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see Part III, Item 12 - "Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters."
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the five-year cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock between December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2014 with the cumulative total return of (i) the Russell 1000 Index and (ii) the Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index over the same period. This
graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2009 in our common stock, the Russell 1000 Index and the Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index and
assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any. The Russell 1000 Index, of which Rackspace is a member, measures the performance of the large-cap segment
of U.S. equities. The Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index consists of U.S. listed companies engaged in Internet-related businesses.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph below is
not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The table below sets forth information regarding the company’s purchases of its common stock during its fourth fiscal quarter ended December 31,
2014:

Period  

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased  
Average Price

Paid per Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Programs

(1)  

Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased Under the

Programs
November 1, 2014-November 30, 2014  3,286,385  $ 42.60  3,286,385  $ 360,000,000
December 1, 2014- December 31, 2014  —  $ —  —  $ 360,000,000

Total  3,286,385    3,286,385  

(1) On November 6, 2014, our board of directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $500 million of our common stock over the next two years. Under this program,
shares may be repurchased from time to time through both open market and privately negotiated transactions. On November 12, 2014, we entered into an accelerated share
repurchase ("ASR") agreement to repurchase $200 million of our common stock. During the fourth quarter of 2014, we received an initial delivery of approximately 3.3
million shares of common stock under the ASR agreement. For further discussion of the ASR agreement, see Item 8 of Part II, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
- Note 8 - Stockholders' Equity.
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ITEM 6 - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, as well
as “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” included elsewhere in this document. Historical results are
not necessarily indicative of future results.

The selected financial data as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 and for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 have been derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this document. The selected financial data as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and
2012 and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for those periods,
which are not included in this document.

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2010  2011  2012  2013  2014

Statement of comprehensive income data          
Net revenue $ 780,555  $ 1,025,064  $ 1,309,239  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357
Income from operations $ 79,602  $ 123,471  $ 172,741  $ 133,136  $ 163,529
Net income $ 46,358  $ 76,411  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553
          

Net income per share (1)          
Basic $ 0.37  $ 0.59  $ 0.78  $ 0.63  $ 0.78

Diluted $ 0.35  $ 0.55  $ 0.75  $ 0.61  $ 0.77

          

Balance sheet data          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 104,941  $ 159,856  $ 292,061  $ 259,733  $ 213,505
Total assets $ 761,577  $ 1,026,482  $ 1,295,551  $ 1,491,797  $ 1,624,284
Non-current liabilities $ 133,572  $ 189,310  $ 196,465  $ 177,877  $ 273,772

(1) See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the method used to determine the number of shares used in computing basic and diluted net income per
common share.
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ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to help readers understand our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in
this document. References to “we,” “our,” “our company,” “us,” “the company,” “Rackspace Hosting,” or “Rackspace” refer to Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The MD&A is organized as follows:
• Overview - Discussion of the nature and key trends of our business and overall analysis of financial highlights and key metrics in order to

provide context for the remainder of the MD&A.
• Results of Operations - An analysis of our financial results comparing the year 2014 to 2013 and 2013 to 2012.
• Liquidity and Capital Resources - Discussion of our financial condition, sources of liquidity, changes in cash flows and capital expenditure

requirements.
• Critical Accounting Estimates - Discussion of accounting estimates that we believe are most important to understanding the assumptions and

judgments incorporated in our consolidated financial statements.
• Supplemental Information - Description and reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures used throughout this MD&A and financial

information and key metrics for the most recent five quarters.

This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements. See “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” contained elsewhere in this document.

Overview

Description of our Business

Rackspace is the world leader in the managed cloud segment of the business IT market. We serve more than 300,000 business customers from our data
centers on four continents. We help them tap the power of cloud computing without the pain of having to become experts in dozens of complex technologies
and without the expense of hiring or contracting with engineers who do not differentiate their businesses. We deliver our services with our unique approach
to the customer experience, called Fanatical Support.

We sell our services to small and medium-sized businesses, as well as large enterprises. The majority of our revenue is generated by our operations in
the U.S. and U.K. Additionally, we have operations in Switzerland, Hong Kong, Australia, and Mexico. Our growth strategy includes targeting additional
international customers as we continue our expansion in continental Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and Latin America. During 2014, 31% of our net revenue
was from non-U.S. customers, and no individual customer accounted for more than 2% of our net revenue.

Trends in our Business

The fast-growing and crowded cloud computing industry is bifurcating into two segments: unmanaged cloud and managed cloud. As a reflection of
this trend, in 2014, Gartner Inc. distinguished for the first time between unmanaged, or “infrastructure as a service,” cloud providers, and those who deliver
managed cloud. Its new report on the latter market segment, the Gartner Magic Quadrant for Cloud-Enabled Managed Hosting, ranked Rackspace as a leader,
in both North America and Europe.

We believe that the managed cloud segment of the cloud computing market is a large market that represents a significant opportunity. We see a high
level of interest building from companies who want to focus their scarce engineering assets on their core business and want a trusted partner to manage their
cloud. They want Fanatical Support every step of the way and they want specialized expertise in running the ever-expanding set of technologies that are at
the heart of cloud scale applications.

We believe demand for managed cloud will continue to grow for four reasons:

1. Lack of In-House IT Expertise. As business IT applications grow in number and complexity, most companies do not have the IT staff needed to
deliver a robust, reliable online presence, and to leverage their data for insights about customer behavior and internal operations.
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2. Strategic Resource Utilization. Larger companies that do have specialized, dedicated IT engineers would rather focus these expensive resources on
strategic areas that differentiate their business rather than managing servers or databases or running a website.

3. Market Acceptance. As companies have experienced the benefits of using managed cloud providers to handle some of their IT workloads, they
have become more comfortable having those providers manage additional IT services. This trend will accelerate as various barriers to adoption are
broken down, through developments such as the expansion of open and standard technologies and advances in the security of cloud computing.

4. Accelerated Business Creation. Cloud computing has removed many of the traditional barriers to new business formation through the low cost
nimbleness, and capital efficiency that it brings to IT infrastructure. Managed cloud does the same thing for the costs associated with infrastructure
management and application expertise. Managed cloud is driving innovation and new business formation at a rapid rate. The rising supply of
powerful, easy-to-use cloud computing is creating new demand.

Our focus on the managed cloud separates us from the big providers of unmanaged, commodity cloud computing, who rent out access to raw cloud
infrastructure and then expect customers to do everything required to operate that infrastructure, as well as the many complex tools and applications that run
on top of it. During 2014, several of these unmanaged cloud providers sharply reduced the prices that they charge business customers for access to raw cloud
infrastructure. This decline in cloud infrastructure prices has encouraged a proliferation of complex cloud tools and applications, requiring specialized
expertise to adopt and manage. Many companies have difficulty finding and hiring the specialized engineers that they need and as a result, more businesses
are turning to managed cloud providers such as Rackspace. During the last three quarters of 2014, while unmanaged cloud providers were significantly
dropping their prices, we continued to gain new customers and grow revenue with year-over-year quarterly revenue growth of 17.4%, 18.3%, and 15.8% in
the second, third and fourth quarters of 2014, respectively.

In order to take advantage of the long-term continued growth opportunities in the market, we have been making infrastructure investments to
complement and leverage Fanatical Support, our principal differentiation from our competitors across our multiple service offerings. Our services provide
customers with a mission-critical service and world class support, and we believe this provides us with substantial growth opportunities. We believe that by
offering a higher service level agreement and extending our support to additional technology platforms, our business becomes more capital efficient and our
competitive advantage widens as our service capability increases.

In 2014, we announced our new managed cloud strategy for delivering public cloud services to market, including enhanced service levels and a more
transparent service-based pricing model. We also created developer+, a new program for developers that offers essential services needed to build scalable
applications. The managed cloud strategy focuses on businesses and developers looking for a strong partner to help design, manage and scale their cloud
operations.

Financial Highlights and Key Metrics

We carefully track several financial and operational metrics to monitor and manage our growth, financial performance, and capacity. Our key metrics
are structured around growth, profitability, capital efficiency, infrastructure capacity, and utilization.

The following discussion includes the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and Return on Capital which are non-GAAP financial measures. Generally, a
non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company’s performance, financial position, or cash flows that either excludes or includes amounts
that are not normally included or excluded in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Other companies
may calculate non-GAAP measures differently, limiting their usefulness as a comparative measure. We believe Adjusted EBITDA and Return on Capital
provide helpful information with respect to evaluating our performance. We have reconciled each of these non-GAAP measures to the applicable most
comparable GAAP measure in the “Supplemental Information” section of this MD&A.
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Growth

   Three Months Ended  Year Ended
 
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except average monthly revenue per server)  September 30, 2014  December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013  December 31, 2014 

          
 Dedicated cloud, net revenue  $ 319,601  $ 324,729  $ 1,119,636  $ 1,254,666
 Public cloud, net revenue  $ 140,175  $ 147,693  $ 415,150  $ 539,691
 Net revenue  $ 459,776  $ 472,422  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357
 Revenue growth (year over year)  18.3 %  15.8 %  17.2 %  16.9 %
          
 Net upgrades (monthly average)  1.4 %  1.2 %  1.3 %  1.3 %
 Churn (monthly average)  -0.6 %  -0.5 %  -0.8 %  -0.6 %
 Growth in installed base (monthly average) (1)  0.8 %  0.7 %  0.5 %  0.7 %
          
 Number of servers deployed at period end  110,453  112,628  103,886  112,628
 Average monthly revenue per server  $ 1,405  $ 1,412  $ 1,307  $ 1,382
          
 Number of employees (Rackers) at period end  5,939  5,936  5,651  5,936
(1) Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.

All of our service offerings fall under the umbrella of cloud computing, broadly defined as the delivery of computing, storage, and applications over
the Internet. We present our revenue in two categories: dedicated cloud and public cloud.

Dedicated cloud, also known as "managed hosting," refers to IT services that we provide on a server or servers reserved for a specific customer.
Dedicated cloud is largely a recurring, subscription-based business and generates the majority of our revenue. Our customers pay us a recurring fee based on
the capacity and complexity of the IT systems we manage and the level of service intensity we provide, pursuant to service agreements that typically provide
for fixed monthly payments. This category also includes revenue for private cloud services, which refers to a pool of computing resources that is virtualized
for greater efficiency and nimbleness but that is dedicated to one particular customer rather than being used by multiple customers. In 2014, dedicated cloud
revenue of $1.3 billion represented 70% of our total net revenue and grew 12% from 2013.

Public cloud refers to multi-tenant pools of computing resources delivered on-demand over the Internet. Virtualization and other cloud technologies
allow us to effectively provision and manage pools of computing resources across a larger base of customers and deliver more resources to businesses when
they need them. At the same time, pooled cloud computing substantially lowers the cost of IT services for some applications. There are multiple varieties of
public cloud services that can be quickly and easily scaled up or down on-demand. Public cloud services are priced on a pay-per-use basis that we recognize
as recurring revenue as the services are provided. In 2014, public cloud revenue of $540 million represented 30% of our total net revenue and grew 30% from
2013.

Because of rapid changes in technology and customer behavior, these categories have become less and less clear-cut and meaningful. More business
customers are consuming both single-tenant dedicated computing and multi-tenant private cloud computing, in their data centers and ours, in ways that are
increasingly seamless and difficult to separate in any meaningful way. As a result of these developments, beginning with our announcement of our financial
results for the first quarter of 2015, we will stop disclosing net revenue as public cloud or dedicated cloud, and will only disclose consolidated net revenue.

Total net revenue increased 17% from 2013, to $1.8 billion. Contributing to this increase was the positive impact of a weaker U.S. dollar relative to the
functional currencies of our foreign operations in 2014 compared to 2013. Net revenue for 2014 would have been approximately $22 million lower had
foreign exchange rates remained constant from the prior year.

Our year-over-year revenue growth rate accelerated during the first three quarters of 2014 while slightly decelerating during the fourth quarter.
Changes in foreign exchange rates negatively impacted our fourth quarter results, which was a reversal from the positive impact experienced during the first
three quarters of 2014. On a sequential quarter basis, fourth quarter net revenue of $472 million increased 2.8%, which includes the negative impact of
approximately $6 million due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
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Profitability

   Three Months Ended  Year Ended
 
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)  September 30, 2014  December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013  December 31, 2014 

          
 Adjusted EBITDA  $ 158,662  $ 165,384  $ 505,788  $ 605,418
 Adjusted EBITDA margin  34.5%  35.0%  33.0%  33.7%
          
 Income from operations  $ 40,513  $ 50,005  $ 133,136  $ 163,529
 Operating income margin  8.8%  10.6%  8.7%  9.1%
          
 Net income  $ 25,740  $ 36,916  $ 86,737  $ 110,553
 Net income margin  5.6%  7.8%  5.7%  6.2%
 Diluted net income per share  $ 0.18  $ 0.26  $ 0.61  $ 0.77

Adjusted EBITDA, income from operations, and net income all grew at a faster pace than revenue, at 20%, 23%, and 27%, respectively. This is
reflected in the expansion of our margins, as Adjusted EBITDA increased 70 basis points to 33.7% of net revenue, income from operations increased 40 basis
points to 9.1% of net revenue, and net income increased 50 basis points to 6.2% of net revenue.

Capital Efficiency, Infrastructure Capacity and Utilization

   Three Months Ended  Year Ended
 
(Dollar amounts in thousands)  September 30, 2014  December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013  December 31, 2014 

          
 Capital expenditures         
 Customer gear  $ 78,677  $ 72,488  $ 297,787  $ 276,620
 Data center build outs  $ 14,825  $ 11,079  $ 58,278  $ 50,634
 Office build outs  $ 3,464  $ 1,633  $ 31,103  $ 21,166
 Capitalized software and other projects  $ 20,457  $ 19,429  $ 84,921  $ 86,719
 Total capital expenditures  $ 117,423  $ 104,629  $ 472,089  $ 435,139

          
 Capital efficiency and returns         
 Average capital base  $ 943,235  $ 963,478  $ 804,173  $ 930,417
 Capital turnover (1)  1.95  1.96  1.91  1.93
 Return on capital (1)  11.7%  15.5%  11.0%  12.2%
          
 Infrastructure capacity and utilization         
 Megawatts under contract at period end  58.1  58.1  60.0  58.1
 Megawatts available for use at period end  45.4  49.7  46.9  49.7
 Megawatts utilized at period end  29.9  30.5  27.4  30.5
 Net revenue per average Megawatt of power utilized (1)  $ 62,448  $ 62,572  $ 59,442  $ 61,917
(1) Metrics for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2014 are annualized.     

Return on Capital ("ROC") increased from 11.0% in 2013 to 12.2% in 2014. The increase in 2014 was primarily due to the 23% increase in income
from operations between periods reflecting improved results and the positive impact of a lower effective tax rate of 31% compared to 34% in the prior year.
While our average capital base increased 16% between periods, our capital turnover also increased to 1.93 for 2014, compared to 1.91 for 2013 partially
driven by the decrease in capital expenditures in 2014 compared to 2013.

Our capital expenditures relate to customer gear, data center build-outs, office build-outs, and capitalized software and other projects. Each category is
defined below:

Customer gear - Includes servers, firewalls, load balancers, cabinets, backup libraries, storage arrays and drives, and network cabling used in customers'
infrastructure environments.

Data center build-outs - Includes generators, uninterruptible power supplies ("UPS"), power distribution units, mechanical and electrical plants,
chillers, raised floor, data center gear and other data center building improvements.
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Office build-outs - Includes building improvements, raised floor, furniture and equipment.

Capitalized software and other projects - Includes salaries and payroll-related costs of employees and consultants who devote time to the
development of certain internal-use software projects, purchased software licenses, and other projects that meet the criteria for capitalization.

Capital expenditures were $435 million in 2014, compared to $472 million in 2013. Higher capital expenditures in 2013 reflected equipment and data
center costs associated with the global launch of our Performance Cloud Servers and the purchase of land for future expansion of our London U.K. data
center.

Our data center infrastructure is leased and tenant improvements are built-out to accommodate future revenue growth. While we try to match the
amount of capacity to customer demand, we consider appropriate lead times for these leases and associated leasehold improvements, which requires us to
lease and build capacity ahead of actual revenue growth. We also strive to align our investment in data center infrastructure with our revenue growth to keep
utilization rates high. We measure our utilization rate as the power being consumed by all electrical equipment relative to the total available capacity in our
data centers excluding portions of the data center that have not been placed on line. We pursue a modular lease and build-out strategy within our data centers
that expands the operational footprint when needed. From time to time, we will be required to make significant investments in new data centers or enter into
long-term facility leases to support expected growth beyond our ability to build out additional modules in existing facilities.

Disciplined Use of Capital and Management of Profitability

We have achieved net income profitability since the first quarter of 2004 through focused management of capital and profitability. We use the
Economic Value Added model ("EVA"), which was developed by Stern Stewart & Co., as a tool to help ensure our growth is profitable and creates sustainable
shareholder value. Virtually all capital expenditures are evaluated against this metric using a standard cost of capital. EVA is calculated for products and
offerings to manage growth and profitability.

We are also very careful with our facility and data center expansion practices. Currently, we sell to businesses in more than 120 countries. Unlike a
colocation provider, we do not need to be located near our customers, allowing us to build or lease centralized, cost-optimized facilities with teams of highly-
trained staff. We strive to locate our regional facilities and data centers in lower-cost locations, which reduces rent, power and labor costs. We also focus on
either leasing or building sections of data centers in increments so that capital expenditures or rental expenses are more closely matched to revenue growth.

We have achieved a critical mass that generates long-term cost advantages. Like any service that moves from distributed to centralized production,
scale is a factor in ensuring costs are low enough to drive mass adoption. We are able to generate significant cost advantages based on our large installed
customer base and growth profile. We purchase large quantities of computing and data center assets, which allows us to negotiate higher volume pricing
savings.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the specified periods and as a percentage of our revenue for those same periods. The period-
to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.

Consolidated Statements of Income:

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2012  2013  2014
Net revenue  $ 1,309,239  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357
Costs and expenses:       

Cost of revenue  419,013  492,493  582,334
Research and development  56,736  90,213  117,006
Sales and marketing  166,172  208,417  237,548
General and administrative  244,732  297,520  322,056
Depreciation and amortization  249,845  313,007  371,884

Total costs and expenses  1,136,498  1,401,650  1,630,828
Income from operations  172,741  133,136  163,529

Other income (expense):       
Interest expense  (4,749)  (3,118)  (1,913)
Interest and other income (expense)  15  741  (2,012)

Total other income (expense)  (4,734)  (2,377)  (3,925)
Income before income taxes  168,007  130,759  159,604

Income taxes  62,589  44,022  49,051

Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553

 
Consolidated Statements of Income, as a Percentage of Net Revenue:

  Year Ended December 31,

(Percent of net revenue)  2012  2013  2014
Net revenue  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %
Costs and expenses:       

Cost of revenue  32.0 %  32.1 %  32.5 %
Research and development  4.3 %  5.9 %  6.5 %
Sales and marketing  12.7 %  13.6 %  13.2 %
General and administrative  18.7 %  19.4 %  17.9 %
Depreciation and amortization  19.1 %  20.4 %  20.7 %

Total costs and expenses  86.8 %  91.3 %  90.9 %
Income from operations  13.2 %  8.7 %  9.1 %

Other income (expense):       
Interest expense  (0.4)%  (0.2)%  (0.1)%
Interest and other income (expense)  0.0 %  0.0 %  (0.1)%

Total other income (expense)  (0.4)%  (0.2)%  (0.2)%
Income before income taxes  12.8 %  8.5 %  8.9 %

Income taxes  4.8 %  2.9 %  2.7 %

Net income  8.1 %  5.7 %  6.2 %
Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
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Year ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year ended December 31, 2013

Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $260 million, or 17%, primarily due to both the acquisition of new customers and incremental services rendered to existing
customers. Year-over-year revenue increases were 12% for dedicated cloud and 30% for public cloud.

Also contributing to the revenue increase was the positive impact of a weaker U.S. dollar relative to the functional currencies of our foreign operations
in 2014 compared to 2013. Net revenue for 2014 would have been approximately $22 million lower had foreign exchange rates remained constant from the
prior year. The U.S. dollar impact of foreign exchange rate movements on net income is minimal, as the majority of our foreign customers are invoiced, and
substantially all of our expenses associated with these customers are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the functional currency of our company or our
subsidiaries, respectively.

We use a metric called “installed base growth” to measure revenue growth derived only from our existing customer base. During 2014, our monthly
average churn rate was 0.6%, compared to 0.8% in 2013. Overall, our installed base grew at a monthly average rate of 0.7% in 2014, compared to 0.5% in
2013.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of employee-related costs of our customer support teams and data center employees, as well as the costs to lease and
operate our data centers. Many of our data center costs vary with the volume of services sold, including power, bandwidth, software licenses and costs related
to maintenance and the replacement of IT equipment components.

Cost of revenue increased $90 million, or 18%. Of this increase, $45 million was attributable to employee-related expenses, such as salaries, benefits
and incentive compensation, driven by an 11% increase in average headcount to support business growth. License costs increased $27 million, as higher
expenses of $34 million related to our growth were partially offset by a $7 million benefit recorded in the third quarter of 2014 related to a refund of sales tax
paid on previous license purchases. Data center costs increased $22 million, mostly related to rent, maintenance and utilities. As a percentage of net revenue,
cost of revenue increased 40 basis points, from 32.1% in 2013 to 32.5% in 2014, primarily driven by higher license expense.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are mainly costs for employees and consultants who are focused on the deployment of new technologies to
address emerging trends and the development and enhancement of proprietary tools.

Research and development expenses increased $27 million, or 30% due to increased employee-related expenses, such as salaries, benefits and
incentive compensation. During 2014, we invested in additional headcount to support research and development activities to enhance our existing offerings
and develop new products and services.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist of employee-related costs of our sales and marketing employees, including sales commissions, compensation
paid to certain channel partners, and costs for advertising and promoting our services and to generate customer demand.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $29 million, or 14%. Employee-related expenses increased $22 million primarily due to increased headcount
and higher sales commissions consistent with our revenue growth. The remaining increase was primarily due to increased spending on marketing and
promotional activities such as online advertising, customer events and sponsorships, partially offset by a decrease related to the 2013 open cloud branding
campaign.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include employee-related and facility costs for functions such as finance and accounting, human resources,
information technology, and legal, as well as professional fees, general corporate costs and overhead.
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General and administrative expenses increased $25 million, or 8%, but decreased as a percentage of net revenue from 19.4% in 2013 to 17.9% in 2014.
Included in general and administrative expenses was $3 million of expenses, primarily legal and other professional fees, incurred in connection with a formal
evaluation by our board of directors of the company's long-term strategic alternatives during 2014. Employee-related expenses increased $16 million,
primarily due to increased headcount, salaries and contract labor, while share-based compensation was flat as expense from new grants was offset by certain
executive forfeitures in early 2014. Internal software support and maintenance expenses increased $5 million, to support the growth of the business.
Professional fees decreased $3 million, primarily due to higher spending in 2013 on strategic consulting projects.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization includes amortization of leasehold improvements associated with our data centers and corporate facilities, as well as
depreciation of our data center infrastructure and equipment. Amortization expense is also comprised of the amortization of our customer-based intangible
assets related to acquisitions, internally developed technology, and software licenses purchased from third-party vendors.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $59 million, or 19%. During 2014, we recorded a $4 million abandonment charge related to an
unimproved portion of our corporate headquarters' building that we intend to demolish and redevelop. The remaining increase was due to purchases of
property and equipment to support the growth of our business, with depreciable customer gear assets representing the majority of additions. Depreciation and
amortization expense increased as a percentage of net revenue, from 20.4% in 2013 to 20.7% in 2014. The headquarters building abandonment charge
represented 20 basis points of the increase between years.

Other Income (Expense)

Other expense was $3.9 million and $2.4 million for 2014 and 2013, respectively. The increase in other expense of $1.5 million between years was
mostly driven by the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange rate movements, partially offset by lower interest expense related to a reduction in the average
balance of outstanding interest-bearing debt.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 33.7% in 2013 to 30.7% in 2014. The differences between our effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate
of 35% principally result from our geographical distribution of taxable income, tax credits, contingency reserves for uncertain tax positions and permanent
differences between the book and tax treatment of certain items. The effective tax rate decreased in 2014 primarily as a result of a larger portion of our profits
earned outside of the U.S. compared to 2013. Our foreign earnings are generally taxed at lower rates than in the United States.

For a full reconciliation of our effective tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% and further explanation of our provision for taxes, see Item 8 of
Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 10 – Taxes.”

Year ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year ended December 31, 2012

Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $226 million, or 17%, primarily due to both the acquisition of new customers and incremental services rendered to existing
customers. Year-over-year revenue increases were 11% for our dedicated cloud service and 37% for our public cloud service.

Partially offsetting the revenue increase was the negative impact of a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the functional currencies of our foreign operations
in 2013 compared to 2012. Net revenue for 2013 would have been approximately $5 million higher had foreign exchange rates remained constant from the
prior year, with minimal impact to our margins as the majority of these customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses associated with these
customers are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the functional currency of our company or our subsidiaries, respectively.

We use a metric called “installed base growth” to measure revenue growth derived only from our existing customer base. During 2013, our monthly
average churn rate was 0.8%, compared to 0.8% in 2012. Overall, our installed base grew at a monthly average rate of 0.5% in 2013, compared to 0.8% in
2012.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased $73 million, or 18%. Of this increase, $32 million was attributable to employee-related expenses primarily due to an
increase in salaries and benefits, and to a lesser extent, increases in share-based compensation. These increases are primarily due to additional headcount and
salary increases. The cost increase was further attributable to an increase in license costs of $10 million and an increase in data center costs of $36 million,
mostly related to rent, maintenance and utilities, partially offset by a decrease in consulting fees of $3 million. The remaining variance was due to small
changes in other cost of revenue expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased $33 million, or 59%. Of this increase, $29 million was attributable to employee-related expenses
primarily due to an increase in salaries and benefits and, to a lesser extent, increases in non-equity incentive compensation and share-based compensation
expense. These increases are primarily due to additional headcount and salary increases. The remaining increase of $4 million was primarily attributable to
increases in professional fees, travel costs, and internal software support and maintenance. Research and development costs increased as a percentage of net
revenue, from 4.3% in 2012 to 5.9% in 2013, primarily due to employee-related expenses increasing at a faster rate than revenue.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses increased $42 million, or 25%. Of this increase, $22 million was attributable to employee-related expenses primarily due
to an increase in salaries and benefits and, to a lesser extent, increases in commissions, non-equity incentive compensation and share-based compensation.
Total compensation increased primarily as a result of salary increases and the hiring of additional sales and marketing personnel. Marketing program
expenses increased $14 million partially related to our open cloud branding campaign during the first half of the year. The cost increase was further
attributable to an increase in travel costs of $2 million. The remaining variance was due to small changes in other sales and marketing expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $53 million, or 22%. Of this increase, $32 million was attributable to employee-related expenses
primarily due to increases in salaries and benefits and share-based compensation expense. The increase in employee-related expenses is due to a 6% increase
in average headcount, including strategic hires to support the growth of the business, as well as salary increases and new equity grants. Professional fees
increased $11 million primarily as a result of legal expenses and strategic consulting. The remaining variance was due to small changes in other general and
administrative expenses as we invest in the infrastructure to support the business.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $63 million, or 25%. This increase was a direct result of an increase in property and equipment
related to depreciable assets to support the growth of our business, which included increases in data center equipment and leasehold improvements due to
data center build-outs and internally developed and purchased software. Depreciation and amortization expenses increased as a percentage of net revenue,
from 19.1% in 2012 to 20.4% in 2013, as a result of the increase in the balance of property and equipment.

Other Income (Expense)

Other expense was $2.4 million and $4.7 million for 2013 and 2012, respectively. The decrease was driven by lower interest expense related to a
reduction in outstanding interest-bearing debt.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 37.3% in 2012 to 33.7% in 2013. The differences between our effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate
of 35% principally result from our geographical distribution of taxable income, tax credits, contingency reserves for uncertain tax positions and permanent
differences between the book and tax treatment of certain items. Our foreign earnings are generally taxed at lower rates than in the United States.
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For a full reconciliation of our effective tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% and further explanation of our provision for taxes, see Item 8 of
Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 10 – Taxes.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We finance our operations and capital expenditures through a combination of internally-generated cash from operations and borrowings under vendor-
financed arrangements and our existing revolving credit facility. We believe that our current sources of funds will be sufficient to meet our operating and
capital needs in the foreseeable future.

Our long-term future capital requirements will depend on many factors, most importantly our revenue growth and our investments in new technologies
and services. Our ability to generate cash depends on our financial performance, general economic conditions, technology trends and developments, and
other factors. As our business continues to grow, our need for data center capacity will also grow. Most recently we have financed data center growth through
leasing activities, and we will continue to evaluate all opportunities to secure further data center capacity in the future. We could be required, or could elect,
to seek additional funding in the form of debt or equity. We maintain debt levels that we establish through consideration of a number of factors, including
cash flow expectations, cash requirements for operations, investment plans (including acquisitions), and our overall cost of capital.

 
At December 31, 2014, we held $214 million in cash and cash equivalents, of which $102 million is associated with indefinitely reinvested foreign

earnings. We consider the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 to be permanently reinvested and, accordingly, no U.S.
income taxes have been provided thereon. We have not, nor do we anticipate the need to, repatriate funds to the U.S. to satisfy domestic liquidity needs
arising in the ordinary course of business.

Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, money market funds, and overnight sweep accounts. Our money market mutual
funds comply with Rule 2a-7 and invest exclusively in high-quality, short-term obligations that include securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S.
government or by U.S. government agencies and floating rate and variable rate demand notes of U.S. and foreign corporations. We actively monitor the third-
party depository institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents. Our emphasis is primarily on safety of principal, secondly on the liquidity of our
investments, and finally on maximizing yield on those funds. The balances may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or “FDIC,” insurance
limits or may not be insured by the FDIC. While we monitor the balances in our accounts and adjust the balances as appropriate, these balances could be
impacted if the underlying depository institutions fail or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets. To date, we have experienced
no loss or lack of access to our invested cash and cash equivalents; however, we can provide no assurances that access to our funds will not be impacted by
adverse conditions in the financial markets.

Historically, we financed a portion of our purchases of data center equipment through vendor-financed arrangements in the form of leases with our
major vendors. Additionally, we have entered into certain real estate development and lease arrangements with independent real estate developers to design,
construct and lease certain real estate projects that result in capital and finance lease obligations. As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, we had $65 million and
$134 million outstanding with respect to these arrangements, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2014, we had $25 million in outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility. The $25 million outstanding balance was
fully repaid on January 12, 2015. The revolving credit facility has a total commitment in the amount of $200 million and matures in September 2016. The
facility further includes an accordion feature, which allows for an increase in the commitment to a total of $400 million under the same terms and conditions,
subject to credit approval of the banking syndicate. The facility is unsecured and governed by customary financial and non-financial covenants, including a
leverage ratio of not greater than 3.00 to 1.00, an interest coverage ratio of not less than 3.00 to 1.00 and a requirement to maintain a certain level of tangible
assets in our U.S. entities. As of December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our facility. 

On November 6, 2014, our board of directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $500 million of our common stock over the next two years.
Under this program, shares may be repurchased from time to time through both open market and privately negotiated transactions. On November 12, 2014, we
entered into an accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") agreement with a financial institution to repurchase an aggregate $200 million of our common stock.
Under the ASR agreement, we paid $200 million to the financial institution and received an initial delivery of approximately 3.3 million shares of common
stock which were subsequently retired. The final number of shares repurchased under the ASR agreement will be based generally upon the average daily
volume weighted-average price of our common stock during the repurchase period, less a discount and subject to adjustments pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the ASR agreement.
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If the actual number of shares to be repurchased under the agreement exceeds the number of shares initially delivered, we will receive the excess shares
at the end of the repurchase period. If the number of shares initially delivered exceeds the actual number of shares to be repurchased, we will either deliver
shares of common stock or make a cash payment to the financial institution at our election. Final settlement is expected to occur within the first six months of
2015.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated: 

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2012  2013  2014
Cash provided by operating activities  $ 399,499  $ 444,060  $ 542,510
Cash used in investing activities  $ (276,221)  $ (464,224)  $ (428,105)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities  $ 7,455  $ (11,772)  $ (157,286)

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
 

Net cash provided by operating activities results primarily from cash received from customers for our cloud computing service offerings, offset by cash
payments made for employee and consultant compensation (less amounts capitalized related to internal-use software that are reflected as cash used in
investing activities), data center costs, license costs, marketing programs, taxes, and other general corporate expenditures.

From 2013 to 2014, net cash provided by operating activities increased $98 million primarily due to the increase in net income adjusted for
depreciation and amortization expense and share-based compensation expense. Changes in operating assets and liabilities did not have a material effect on
the change in net cash provided by operating activities.

From 2012 to 2013, net cash provided by operating activities increased $45 million. This was driven by a $71 million increase in net income adjusted
for non-cash items including depreciation and amortization expense, share-based compensation expense, and realized excess tax benefits from share-based
compensation arrangements. This was partially offset by a $27 million decrease in operating cash flows due to changes in operating assets and liabilities,
primarily due to the timing of payments made for trade payables and payroll-related expenses.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities primarily consists of capital expenditures to meet the demands of our growing customer base. The largest outlays
of cash are for purchases of customer gear, data center and office build-outs, and capitalized payroll costs related to internal-use software development.

From 2013 to 2014, net cash used in investing activities decreased $36 million largely due to a $22 million decrease in cash purchases of property and
equipment. Capital expenditures were higher in 2013 due to increased equipment and data center costs associated with the global launch of our Performance
Cloud Servers, the purchase of land for future expansion of our London U.K. data center, and the tenant improvement build-out of several office facilities.
Additionally, there was a $10 million decrease in net cash paid for acquisitions because we did not make any acquisitions in 2014.

From 2012 to 2013, net cash used in investing activities increased $188 million primarily due to a $183 million increase in the cash purchases of
property and equipment. Capital expenditures increased $134 million from 2012 to 2013 due to increased equipment purchases and data center build-outs.
Additionally, there was a $48 million increase in cash outflow as a result of our shift away from using capital leases for equipment purchases. Additionally,
there was a $4 million increase in net cash paid for acquisitions from 2012 to 2013.

Cash Provided by or Used in Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities typically consists of proceeds from debt, proceeds from employee stock plans, and realized excess tax benefits
from share-based compensation arrangements. Cash used in financing activities typically consists of principal payments of capital leases and repayments of
debt.
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From 2013 to 2014, net cash used in financing activities increased $146 million, primarily due to $200 million paid for shares of our common stock
under the ASR agreement described above, partially offset by $25 million borrowed under our revolving credit facility, which was fully repaid in January
2015. Furthermore, there was an additional $14 million cash outflow in 2014 for the withholding of shares related to the vesting of certain restricted stock in
satisfaction of employee tax obligations. All shares purchased in 2014 were subsequently retired. These financing cash outflows were partially offset by a
$26 million decrease in capital lease payments resulting from the shift discussed above, a $9 million increase in proceeds from employee stock plans, and
$6 million received from the Texas Enterprise Fund grant.

In 2013 net cash used in financing activities was $12 million compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $7 million in 2012, a change of
$19 million. The largest driver was a $17 million decrease in proceeds from employee stock plans as a result of lower employee stock option exercise
activity. Additionally, the financing cash inflow from excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements decreased $12 million, and there was
a $4 million decrease in financing cash flows due to the receipt of Texas Enterprise Fund grant money in 2012. This was partially offset by a $10 million
decrease in capital lease payments and a $5 million decrease in payments for deferred acquisition obligations.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014: 

(In thousands)  Total  2015  2016-2017  2018-2019  2020 and Beyond
Debt  $ 25,156  $ 25,156  $ —  $ —  $ —
Capital leases  22,394  15,541  2,773  1,285  2,795
Operating leases  836,107  71,130  131,143  117,349  516,485
Purchase obligations  105,220  83,563  21,451  206  —
Asset retirement obligations  8,036  236  245  —  7,555

Total contractual obligations  $ 996,913  $ 195,626  $ 155,612  $ 118,840  $ 526,835

Debt
 

Debt obligations consist of principal and interest related to borrowings under our revolving credit facility. The outstanding balance was fully repaid
on January 12, 2015.

Leases
 

Our capital leases are primarily related to expenditures for customer gear and other IT equipment. The future obligation for capital leases includes
principal and interest. Our operating leases are primarily for data center facilities and office space.

Purchase Obligations
 

Our non-cancelable purchase obligations primarily relate to minimum commitments for certain software licenses, hardware purchases, and costs
associated with our data centers, including bandwidth and electricity.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations represent our best estimate of commitments to return leased property to original condition upon lease termination.

Other
 

We have excluded $110 million of finance lease obligations for assets under construction and $21 million of uncertain tax positions from the table
above as we are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of payments.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

During the periods presented, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to
as structured finance or special purpose entities. These entities are typically established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.
 

We have entered into various indemnification arrangements with third parties, including vendors, customers, landlords, our officers and directors,
stockholders of acquired companies, and third parties to whom and from whom we license technology. Generally, these indemnification agreements require
us to reimburse losses suffered by third parties due to various events, such as lawsuits arising from patent or copyright infringement or our negligence. Certain
of these agreements require us to indemnify the other party against certain claims relating to property damage, personal injury or the acts or omissions by us,
our employees, agents or representatives. These indemnification obligations are considered off-balance sheet arrangements. To date, we have not encountered
material costs as a result of such obligations and have not accrued any material liabilities related to such indemnification obligations in our consolidated
financial statements.

See Item 8 of Part II, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies" for more information related to these
indemnification arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is
specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its application, while in other cases, significant judgment is required in
making estimates and selecting among available alternative accounting standards that allow different accounting treatment for similar transactions. These
judgments and estimates affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We consider these policies that
require significant management judgment and estimates to be used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements to be critical accounting
policies.
 

We review our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis, including those related to revenue recognition, service credits, allowance for doubtful
accounts, property and equipment, goodwill and intangibles, contingencies, the fair valuation of stock related to share-based compensation, software
development, and income taxes.

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances to
determine the carrying values of assets and liabilities. In many instances, we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates, and in other
instances changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period-to-period. Accordingly, actual results could differ significantly from
the estimates made by our management. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial
statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.
  

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, service has been provided to the customer, the amount of fees to be paid by
the customer is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Because we provide our cloud computing and hosting services to our
customers and do not sell individual hardware and software products, we generally recognize revenue, including implementation and set-up fees, on a
monthly basis, as services are delivered. For services that are billed according to customer usage, revenue is recognized in the month in which the usage is
provided. Implementation and set-up fees are amortized over the estimated average customer life. If a customer terminates its relationship with us before the
expiration of the estimated average customer life, any unamortized installation fees are recognized as revenue at that time. Amounts that have been invoiced
and accruals for unbilled usage are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the revenue recognition
criteria have been met. Therefore, deferred revenue primarily consists of prepaid service fees and set-up fees. Professional services are recognized in the period
services are provided.

Our customers generally have the right to cancel their contracts by providing prior written notice to us of their intent to cancel the remainder of the
contract term. In the event that a customer cancels their contract, they are not entitled to a refund for services already rendered.
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Valuation of Accounts Receivable and Service Credits

We record an allowance for doubtful accounts on trade accounts receivable for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make
required payments. When evaluating the adequacy of the allowance, we analyze the overall quality of our accounts receivable portfolio, current economic
conditions and trends, historical bad debt write-offs, customer creditworthiness, and specifically identified customer risks. If actual collections of customer
receivables differ from our estimates, additional allowances may be required which could have an impact on our results of operations.

Our customer agreements provide that we will achieve certain service levels related primarily to network uptime, critical infrastructure availability, and
hardware replacement. To the extent that such service levels are not achieved, we may be obligated to provide credits to our customers. We record a reserve
for estimated customer credits on trade accounts receivable to recognize estimated adjustments to receivables and record a reduction to revenue. We base this
reserve on historical experience and specific knowledge of factors impacting our delivery of services such as third-party power or service issues, unfavorable
weather, or other interruptions or conditions. If actual service levels achieved vary from our estimates, we may be required to increase our reserve which could
have an impact on our results of operations.

Property, Equipment, and Other Long-Lived Assets

In providing services to our customers, we utilize significant amounts of property and equipment, which we depreciate on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. Changes in technology or changes in the intended use of property and equipment may cause the estimated useful life or the value
of these assets to change, so we periodically review the appropriateness of the estimated economic useful lives for each category of property and equipment.

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset in conjunction with its asset group compared to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the
carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount
of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the assets. There were no impairment charges recorded in 2012, 2013 or 2014.

Goodwill

Goodwill is subject to periodic testing for impairment at the reporting unit level. We are required to perform an evaluation of goodwill on an annual
basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The annual test for impairment is conducted as of October 1st. The
evaluation of goodwill for impairment is judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions around the identification of
reporting units and determination of the fair value of a reporting unit. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could produce materially different results.

We did not identify any triggering events in 2014 that required us to perform an interim impairment test. Additionally, upon conclusion of our 2014
annual test, we noted that the fair value of our reporting unit was substantially in excess of the carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets.

Contingencies

We accrue for contingent obligations when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning contingencies
become known, we reassess our position and make appropriate adjustments to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates that are particularly sensitive
to future changes include those related to tax, legal, and other regulatory matters, changes in the interpretation and enforcement of international laws, and the
impact of local economic conditions and practices, which are all subject to change as events evolve and as additional information becomes available during
the administrative and litigation process. Changes in our estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on our business, results of operations,
financial position, or cash flows.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite
service period. Determining the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date requires judgment, including estimating the amount of share-based awards
that are expected to be forfeited. If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, share-based compensation expense and our results of operations
could be impacted.
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Software Development

We capitalize the salaries and related compensation costs of employees and consultants who devote time to the development of certain internal-use
software projects. Judgment is required in determining whether an enhancement to previously developed software is significant and creates additional
functionality to the software, thus resulting in capitalization. All other software development costs are expensed as incurred. We generally amortize
capitalized software development costs over periods from 12 to 60 months with most amortizing over 36 months.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgments and estimates are required in evaluating our tax
positions and determining our provision for income taxes. Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, no assurance can
be given that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the amounts
recorded, such differences will impact the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made.

Historically, our effective tax rates have not differed significantly from the statutory rate, and any differences are primarily due to the tax impact of
foreign operations, research and development tax credits, state taxes, contingency reserves for uncertain tax positions and certain benefits realized related to
stock option activity. Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower
statutory rates and higher than anticipated in countries where we have higher statutory rates, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or
liabilities, or by changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, or interpretations thereof. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination
of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from
these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the consolidated
financial statements, which will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the
jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. The assumptions about future taxable income require significant
judgment and are consistent with the plans and estimates we are using to manage the underlying businesses.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

For a description of accounting pronouncements recently issued but not yet adopted, see Item 8 of Part II, "Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data - Note 1. Company Overview, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."
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Supplemental Information

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Throughout this MD&A, we have utilized certain non-GAAP financial measures in discussions and analysis of our financial performance. For each of
these non-GAAP financial measures, we have described the reasons for their use and have provided reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP
measure below.

 
Return on Capital ("ROC")

 
We believe that ROC is an important metric for investors in evaluating our company’s performance. ROC measures how effectively a company

generates profits from the capital that is deployed. We calculate ROC by dividing net operating profit after tax by our average capital base. The following
tables present a reconciliation of ROC to return on assets, which we calculate directly from amounts on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income and the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2012  2013  2014
Income from operations  $ 172,741  $ 133,136  $ 163,529

Effective tax rate  37.3%  33.7%  30.7%
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT)  $ 108,309  $ 88,269  $ 113,326

       

Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553
       

Total assets at period end  $ 1,295,551  $ 1,491,797  $ 1,624,284
Less: Excess cash (1)  (249,712)  (210,761)  (156,814)
Less: Accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued compensation and benefits, and income and
other taxes payable  (175,128)  (195,894)  (215,774)
Less: Deferred revenue (current and non-current)  (20,960)  (26,530)  (22,276)
Less: Other non-current liabilities, deferred income taxes, deferred rent, and finance lease obligations
for assets under construction  (130,444)  (149,043)  (263,401)

Capital base  $ 719,307  $ 909,569  $ 966,019
       

Average total assets (2)  $ 1,158,384  $ 1,393,079  $ 1,611,109
Average capital base (2)  $ 679,125  $ 804,173  $ 930,417

       

Return on assets (Net income/Average total assets)  9.1%  6.2%  6.9%
Return on capital (NOPAT/Average capital base)  15.9%  11.0%  12.2%

(1) Defined as the amount of cash and cash equivalents that exceeds our operating cash requirements, which is calculated as three percent of our annualized net revenue for the
three months prior to the period end.

(2) Average based on ending balances for the most recent five quarters.
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  Three Months Ended

(In thousands)  
December 31, 

2013  
March 31, 

2014  
June 30, 

2014  
September 30, 

2014  
December 31, 

2014
Income from operations  $ 27,157  $ 39,124  $ 33,887  $ 40,513  $ 50,005

Effective tax rate  22.7%  34.6%  33.0%  32.0%  25.1%
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT)  $ 20,992  $ 25,587  $ 22,704  $ 27,549  $ 37,454

           

Net income  $ 20,798  $ 25,446  $ 22,451  $ 25,740  $ 36,916
           

Total assets at period end  $ 1,491,797  $ 1,566,949  $ 1,647,975  $ 1,724,542  $ 1,624,284
Less: Excess cash (1)  (210,761)  (263,309)  (287,411)  (294,307)  (156,814)
Less: Accounts payable and accrued expenses,
accrued compensation and benefits, and income and
other taxes payable  (195,894)  (224,423)  (231,563)  (244,397)  (215,774)
Less: Deferred revenue (current and non-current)  (26,530)  (24,485)  (23,248)  (21,437)  (22,276)
Less: Other non-current liabilities, deferred income
taxes, deferred rent, and finance lease obligations for
assets under construction  (149,043)  (164,703)  (180,220)  (203,464)  (263,401)

Capital base  $ 909,569  $ 890,029  $ 925,533  $ 960,937  $ 966,019
           

Average total assets  $ 1,471,783  $ 1,529,373  $ 1,607,462  $ 1,686,259  $ 1,674,413
Average capital base  $ 873,749  $ 899,799  $ 907,781  $ 943,235  $ 963,478

           

Return on assets (annualized)  5.7%  6.7%  5.6%  6.1%  8.8%
Return on capital (annualized)  9.6%  11.4%  10.0%  11.7%  15.5%

(1) Defined as the amount of cash and cash equivalents that exceeds our operating cash requirements, which is calculated as three percent of our annualized net revenue for the
three months prior to the period end.

Adjusted EBITDA
 

We use Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to review and assess our performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a metric that is used by analysts and
investors for comparative and valuation purposes. We disclose this metric in order to support and facilitate the dialogue with research analysts and investors.

 
We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income, plus income taxes, total other (income) expense, depreciation and amortization, and non-cash charges for

share-based compensation. The following tables present a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income.
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  Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands)  2012  2013  2014

       

Net revenue  $ 1,309,239  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357
       

Income from operations  $ 172,741  $ 133,136  $ 163,529
       

Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553
   Plus: Income taxes  62,589  44,022  49,051
   Plus: Total other (income) expense  4,734  2,377  3,925
   Plus: Depreciation and amortization  249,845  313,007  371,884
   Plus: Share-based compensation expense  41,546  59,645  70,005

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 464,132  $ 505,788  $ 605,418
       

Operating income margin  13.2%  8.7%  9.1%
       

Adjusted EBITDA margin  35.5%  33.0%  33.7%

  Three Months Ended

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 31, 

2013  
March 31, 

2014  
June 30, 

2014  
September 30, 

2014  
December 31, 

2014

           

Net revenue  $ 408,103  $ 421,047  $ 441,112  $ 459,776  $ 472,422
           

Income from operations  $ 27,157  $ 39,124  $ 33,887  $ 40,513  $ 50,005
           

Net income  $ 20,798  $ 25,446  $ 22,451  $ 25,740  $ 36,916
   Plus: Income taxes  6,108  13,448  11,078  12,137  12,388
   Plus: Total other (income) expense  251  230  358  2,636  701
   Plus: Depreciation and amortization  87,683  87,805  90,559  98,307  95,213
   Plus: Share-based compensation expense  17,188  12,732  17,265  19,842  20,166

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 132,028  $ 139,661  $ 141,711  $ 158,662  $ 165,384
           

Operating income margin  6.7%  9.3%  7.7%  8.8%  10.6%
           

Adjusted EBITDA margin  32.4%  33.2%  32.1%  34.5%  35.0%
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Adjusted Free Cash Flow
 

We believe that Adjusted Free Cash Flow is a performance metric used by investors to evaluate the strength and performance of a company's ongoing
business. We define Adjusted Free Cash Flow as Adjusted EBITDA plus non-cash deferred rent, less total capital expenditures (including non-cash purchases
of property and equipment), cash payments for interest and cash payments for income taxes. The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted Free
Cash Flow to Adjusted EBITDA as a supplement to our reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income provided above. 

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2012  2013  2014
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 464,132  $ 505,788  $ 605,418

Non-cash deferred rent  9,259  11,564  7,417
Total capital expenditures  (337,682)  (472,089)  (435,139)
Cash payments for interest, net of interest received  (4,809)  (3,096)  (1,643)
Cash payments for income taxes, net of refunds  (11,906)  (14,930)  (13,518)

Adjusted free cash flow  $ 118,994  $ 27,237  $ 162,535

 
Quarterly Key Metrics and Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our quarterly key metrics and also our results of operations in dollars and as a percentage of revenue for each of our most
recent five quarters as of the period ended December 31, 2014. The quarterly data presented below has been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document and, in the opinion of management, reflects all adjustments, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this information. You should read this information together with our audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this document. Our results for these quarterly periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of
operations for a full year or any period.
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   Three Months Ended
 (Dollar amounts in thousands, except average monthly revenue per
server)  

December 31, 
2013  

March 31, 
2014  

June 30, 
2014  

September 30, 
2014  

December 31, 
2014 

 Growth           

 Dedicated cloud, net revenue  $ 291,265  $ 299,689  $ 310,647  $ 319,601  $ 324,729

 Public cloud, net revenue  $ 116,838  $ 121,358  $ 130,465  $ 140,175  $ 147,693

 Net revenue  $ 408,103  $ 421,047  $ 441,112  $ 459,776  $ 472,422

 Revenue growth (year over year)  15.6 %  16.2 %  17.4 %  18.3 %  15.8 %

 Net upgrades (monthly average)  1.1 %  0.9 %  1.5 %  1.4 %  1.2 %

 Churn (monthly average)  -0.7 %  -0.6 %  -0.7 %  -0.6 %  -0.5 %

 Growth in installed base (monthly average) (1)  0.4 %  0.3 %  0.8 %  0.8 %  0.7 %

 Number of employees (Rackers) at period end  5,651  5,743  5,798  5,939  5,936

 Number of servers deployed at period end  103,886  106,229  107,657  110,453  112,628

 Average monthly revenue per server  $ 1,322  $ 1,336  $ 1,375  $ 1,405  $ 1,412

 Profitability           
 Income from operations  $ 27,157  $ 39,124  $ 33,887  $ 40,513  $ 50,005

 Depreciation and amortization  $ 87,683  $ 87,805  $ 90,559  $ 98,307  $ 95,213

 Share-based compensation expense:           
 Cost of revenue  $ 3,877  $ 3,791  $ 4,127  $ 4,175  $ 4,353

 Research and development  $ 2,521  $ 2,780  $ 3,293  $ 3,399  $ 3,109

 Sales and marketing  $ 1,766  $ 2,091  $ 2,062  $ 2,637  $ 2,783

 General and administrative  $ 9,024  $ 4,070  $ 7,783  $ 9,631  $ 9,921

 Total share-based compensation expense  $ 17,188  $ 12,732  $ 17,265  $ 19,842  $ 20,166

 Adjusted EBITDA (2)  $ 132,028  $ 139,661  $ 141,711  $ 158,662  $ 165,384

 Adjusted EBITDA margin  32.4 %  33.2 %  32.1 %  34.5 %  35.0 %

 Operating income margin  6.7 %  9.3 %  7.7 %  8.8 %  10.6 %

 Income from operations  $ 27,157  $ 39,124  $ 33,887  $ 40,513  $ 50,005

 Effective tax rate  22.7 %  34.6 %  33.0 %  32.0 %  25.1 %

 Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) (2)  $ 20,992  $ 25,587  $ 22,704  $ 27,549  $ 37,454

 NOPAT margin  5.1 %  6.1 %  5.1 %  6.0 %  7.9 %

 Capital efficiency and returns           
 Interest bearing debt  $ 64,918  $ 53,326  $ 41,747  $ 31,472  $ 49,039

 Stockholders' equity  $ 1,055,412  $ 1,100,012  $ 1,171,197  $ 1,223,772  $ 1,073,794

 Less: Excess cash  $ (210,761)  $ (263,309)  $ (287,411)  $ (294,307)  $ (156,814)

 Capital base  $ 909,569  $ 890,029  $ 925,533  $ 960,937  $ 966,019

 Average capital base  $ 873,749  $ 899,799  $ 907,781  $ 943,235  $ 963,478

 Capital turnover (annualized)  1.87  1.87  1.94  1.95  1.96

 Return on capital (annualized) (2)  9.6 %  11.4 %  10.0 %  11.7 %  15.5 %

 Capital expenditures           
 Cash purchases of property and equipment  $ 126,723  $ 84,953  $ 114,044  $ 124,129  $ 107,209

 Non-cash purchases of property and equipment (3)  $ (4,116)  $ 15,741  $ (1,651)  $ (6,706)  $ (2,580)

 Total capital expenditures  $ 122,607  $ 100,694  $ 112,393  $ 117,423  $ 104,629

 Customer gear  $ 65,291  $ 60,688  $ 64,767  $ 78,677  $ 72,488

 Data center build outs  $ 22,524  $ 10,963  $ 13,767  $ 14,825  $ 11,079

 Office build outs  $ 14,860  $ 9,212  $ 6,857  $ 3,464  $ 1,633

 Capitalized software and other projects  $ 19,932  $ 19,831  $ 27,002  $ 20,457  $ 19,429

 Total capital expenditures  $ 122,607  $ 100,694  $ 112,393  $ 117,423  $ 104,629

 Infrastructure capacity and utilization           

 Megawatts under contract at period end  60.0  58.1  58.1  58.1  58.1

 Megawatts available for use at period end  46.9  45.3  45.4  45.4  49.7

 Megawatts utilized at period end  27.4  28.1  29.0  29.9  30.5

 Annualized net revenue per average Megawatt of power utilized  $ 60,015  $ 60,691  $ 61,802  $ 62,448  $ 62,572
(1) Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
(2) See discussion and reconciliation of our Non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP measures.
(3) Non-cash purchases of property and equipment represents changes in amounts accrued for purchases under vendor financing and other deferred payment arrangements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income by Quarter:

  Three Months Ended

(In thousands)  
December 31, 

2013  
March 31, 

2014  
June 30, 

2014  
September 30, 

2014  
December 31, 

2014
Net revenue  $ 408,103  $ 421,047  $ 441,112  $ 459,776  $ 472,422
Costs and expenses:           

Cost of revenue  133,821  140,417  145,051  142,954  153,912
Research and development  24,849  25,192  29,711  30,718  31,385
Sales and marketing  55,465  57,359  60,480  60,582  59,127
General and administrative  79,128  71,150  81,424  86,702  82,780
Depreciation and amortization  87,683  87,805  90,559  98,307  95,213

Total costs and expenses  380,946  381,923  407,225  419,263  422,417
Income from operations  27,157  39,124  33,887  40,513  50,005

Other income (expense):           
Interest expense  (656)  (495)  (529)  (445)  (444)
Interest and other income (expense)  405  265  171  (2,191)  (257)

Total other income (expense)  (251)  (230)  (358)  (2,636)  (701)
Income before income taxes  26,906  38,894  33,529  37,877  49,304

Income taxes  6,108  13,448  11,078  12,137  12,388

Net income  $ 20,798  $ 25,446  $ 22,451  $ 25,740  $ 36,916

Consolidated Statements of Income by Quarter, as a Percentage of Net Revenue:

  Three Months Ended

(Percent of net revenue)  
December 31, 

2013  
March 31, 

2014  
June 30, 

2014  
September 30, 

2014  
December 31, 

2014
Net revenue  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %
Costs and expenses:           

Cost of revenue  32.8 %  33.3 %  32.9 %  31.1 %  32.6 %
Research and development  6.1 %  6.0 %  6.7 %  6.7 %  6.6 %
Sales and marketing  13.6 %  13.6 %  13.7 %  13.2 %  12.5 %
General and administrative  19.4 %  16.9 %  18.5 %  18.9 %  17.5 %
Depreciation and amortization  21.5 %  20.9 %  20.5 %  21.4 %  20.2 %

Total costs and expenses  93.3 %  90.7 %  92.3 %  91.2 %  89.4 %
Income from operations  6.7 %  9.3 %  7.7 %  8.8 %  10.6 %

Other income (expense):           
Interest expense  (0.2)%  (0.1)%  (0.1)%  (0.1)%  (0.1)%
Interest and other income (expense)  0.1 %  0.1 %  0.0 %  (0.5)%  (0.1)%

Total other income (expense)  (0.1)%  (0.1)%  (0.1)%  (0.6)%  (0.1)%
Income before income taxes  6.6 %  9.2 %  7.6 %  8.2 %  10.4 %

Income taxes  1.5 %  3.2 %  2.5 %  2.6 %  2.6 %

Net income  5.1 %  6.0 %  5.1 %  5.6 %  7.8 %
Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
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ITEM 7A – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
Power Prices. We are a large consumer of power. During 2014, we expensed approximately $32 million that was paid to utility companies to power

our data centers, representing approximately 2% of our net revenue. Because we anticipate further revenue growth for the foreseeable future, we expect to
consume more power in the future. Power costs vary by geography, the source of power generation, and seasonal fluctuations and are subject to certain
proposed legislation that may increase our exposure to increased power costs. We have fixed-price power contracts for data centers in the Dallas-Fort Worth
and London areas that allow us to procure power either on a fixed price or on a variable price basis. These contracts have been designated as meeting the
normal purchases and normal sales exception and thus are not accounted for as derivatives.

Interest Rates. Our main credit facility is a revolving line of credit with a base rate determined by variable market rates, including the Prime Rate and
the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"). These market rates of interest are fluctuating and expose our interest expense to risk. As of December 31,
2014, we had limited exposure to interest rate risk as there was $25 million amount outstanding on our revolving credit facility.

Leases. Prior to 2012, the majority of our purchases of customer gear were vendor-financed through capital leases with fixed payment terms generally
over two to five years, coinciding with the depreciation period of the equipment. As of December 31, 2014, we have a principal liability for leases of $24
million on our consolidated balance sheet, of which $15 million is classified as current. While we believe vendor-financed arrangements will continue to be
available, we are exposed to the risk that our vendors may no longer offer financing or that the rates will increase.

Foreign Currencies. The majority of our customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the
functional currency of our company or our subsidiaries, respectively. A relatively insignificant amount of customers are invoiced in currencies other than the
applicable functional currency. Therefore, our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We also
have exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and losses as the result of certain receivables due from our foreign subsidiaries. During 2014, we
recognized foreign currency losses of $2 million within other income (expense). We have not entered into any currency hedging contracts, although we may
do so in the future. As we grow our international operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant.

- 54 -



Table of Contents

ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Page
  
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 56
Financial Statements:  

Consolidated Balance Sheets 58
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 59
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 60
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 61
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 62
Supplementary Financial Data 81

   

- 55 -



Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the
related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, cash flows, and stockholders' equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2014. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited financial statement schedule II. These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Rackspace Hosting, Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 2, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
March 2, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We have audited Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Rackspace Hosting, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based
on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, cash flows,
and stockholders' equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, and our report dated March 2, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
March 2, 2015
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
December 31, 

2013  
December 31, 

2014

ASSETS     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 259,733  $ 213,505
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and customer credits of $3,891 as of December 31, 2013 and
$5,334 as of December 31, 2014  123,898  156,455
Deferred income taxes  12,637  9,260
Prepaid expenses  30,782  33,628
Other current assets  11,918  8,895

Total current assets  438,968  421,743
     

Property and equipment, net  890,776  1,057,684
Goodwill  81,084  81,084
Intangible assets, net  23,880  16,592
Other non-current assets  57,089  47,181

Total assets  $ 1,491,797  $ 1,624,284

     
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY     

Current liabilities:     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 122,047  $ 137,295
Accrued compensation and benefits  62,459  66,696
Income and other taxes payable  11,388  11,783
Deferred revenue  22,868  20,851
Capital lease obligations  37,885  14,969
Debt  1,861  25,124

Total current liabilities  258,508  276,718
     

Non-current liabilities:     
Deferred revenue  3,662  1,425
Capital lease obligations  25,048  8,946
Finance lease obligations for assets under construction  —  109,991
Debt  124  —
Deferred income taxes  69,729  71,228
Deferred rent  43,046  49,899
Other liabilities  36,268  32,283

Total liabilities  436,385  550,490
     

Commitments and Contingencies   
     

Stockholders' equity:     
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share: 300,000,000 shares authorized; 141,123,904 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2013; 140,945,171 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014  141  141
Additional paid-in capital  636,660  696,029
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (4,536)  (20,685)
Retained earnings  423,147  398,309

Total stockholders’ equity  1,055,412  1,073,794

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,491,797  $ 1,624,284

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data)  2012  2013  2014
Net revenue  $ 1,309,239  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357
Costs and expenses:       

Cost of revenue  419,013  492,493  582,334
Research and development  56,736  90,213  117,006
Sales and marketing  166,172  208,417  237,548
General and administrative  244,732  297,520  322,056
Depreciation and amortization  249,845  313,007  371,884

Total costs and expenses  1,136,498  1,401,650  1,630,828
Income from operations  172,741  133,136  163,529

Other income (expense):       
Interest expense  (4,749)  (3,118)  (1,913)
Interest and other income (expense)  15  741  (2,012)

Total other income (expense)  (4,734)  (2,377)  (3,925)
Income before income taxes  168,007  130,759  159,604

Income taxes  62,589  44,022  49,051

Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553

       

Other comprehensive income, net of tax       
Foreign currency translation adjustments  $ 6,643  $ 3,553  $ (16,149)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  6,643  3,553  (16,149)

Comprehensive income  $ 112,061  $ 90,290  $ 94,404

       

Net income per share       
Basic  $ 0.78  $ 0.63  $ 0.78

Diluted  $ 0.75  $ 0.61  $ 0.77

       

Weighted average number of shares outstanding       
Basic  135,279  138,577  141,971

Diluted  141,265  143,011  144,498

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2012  2013  2014

Cash Flows From Operating Activities       
Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization  249,845  313,007  371,884
Deferred income taxes  (775)  (2,102)  413
Share-based compensation expense  41,546  59,645  70,005
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements  (46,046)  (33,539)  (34,473)
Other operating activities  7,886  5,490  8,242
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Accounts receivable  (29,265)  (34,473)  (41,681)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (4,903)  (12,270)  (1,116)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities  66,268  35,303  55,424
Deferred revenue  2,185  5,367  (3,742)
Deferred rent  9,259  11,564  7,417
Other non-current assets and liabilities  (1,919)  9,331  (416)

Net cash provided by operating activities  399,499  444,060  542,510
       
Cash Flows From Investing Activities       

Purchases of property and equipment  (270,374)  (452,596)  (430,335)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (5,945)  (9,930)  —
All other investing activities  98  (1,698)  2,230

Net cash used in investing activities  (276,221)  (464,224)  (428,105)
       
Cash Flows From Financing Activities       

Principal payments of capital leases  (75,928)  (65,860)  (39,635)
Proceeds from debt  691  —  25,000
Repayments of debt  (1,962)  (1,915)  (1,901)
Payments for deferred acquisition obligations  (6,176)  (1,353)  (223)
Receipt of Texas Enterprise Fund grant  3,500  —  5,500
Repurchase of common stock  —  —  (200,000)
Shares of common stock withheld for employee taxes  —  —  (13,620)
Proceeds from employee stock plans  41,284  23,817  33,120
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements  46,046  33,539  34,473

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  7,455  (11,772)  (157,286)
       

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,472  (392)  (3,347)
       

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  132,205  (32,328)  (46,228)
       

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  159,856  292,061  259,733
       

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 292,061  $ 259,733  $ 213,505

       
Supplemental Cash Flow Information       

Cash payments for interest, net of amount capitalized  $ 4,900  $ 3,234  $ 1,765

Cash payments for income taxes, net of refunds  $ 11,906  $ 14,930  $ 13,518
       
Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities       

Acquisition of property and equipment by capital leases  $ 59,833  $ 7,190  $ 929
Acquisition of property and equipment by notes payable  3,950  —  —
Increase in property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses  3,525  12,303  3,875

Non-cash purchases of property and equipment  $ 67,308  $ 19,493  $ 4,804

       
Shares issued in business combinations  $ 2,745  $ 4,457  $ —



Additional finance lease obligations for assets under construction and other  $ —  $ —  $ 117,644
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

 Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014

 Common Stock  
Additional

Paid-In
Capital

 Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 

Retained
Earnings

 
Total

Stockholders'
Equity

(in thousands except share data)

Shares  Amount     
Balance at December 31, 2011 131,912,829  $ 132  $ 383,031  $ (14,732)  $230,992  $ 599,423

Issuance of common stock            
Exercise of stock options and release of stock awards (including excess tax benefit of
$46,046) 5,689,164  6  82,308      82,314

Stock-based activity and issuance of common stock to board of directors 12,862  —  542      542

Issuance of shares from Employee Stock Purchase Plan 137,104  —  5,016      5,016

Issuance of shares in acquisitions 45,896  —  2,745      2,745

Total issuance of common stock 5,885,026  6  90,611      90,617

Share-based compensation expense     41,546      41,546

Net income         105,418  105,418

Foreign currency translation adjustments       6,643    6,643

Balance at December 31, 2012 137,797,855  $ 138  $ 515,188  $ (8,089)  $336,410  $ 843,647

Issuance of common stock            
Exercise of stock options and release of stock awards (including excess tax benefit of
$33,539) 3,027,169  3  51,184      51,187

Issuance of shares from Employee Stock Purchase Plans 190,235  —  6,186      6,186

Issuance of shares in acquisitions 108,645  —  4,457      4,457

Total issuance of common stock 3,326,049  3  61,827      61,830

Share-based compensation expense     59,645      59,645

Net income         86,737  86,737

Foreign currency translation adjustments       3,553    3,553

Balance at December 31, 2013 141,123,904  $ 141  $ 636,660  $ (4,536)  $423,147  $ 1,055,412

Issuance of common stock            
Exercise of stock options and release of stock awards (including excess tax benefit of
$34,473), net of shares withheld for employee taxes 2,890,248  3  59,488    (11,756)  47,735

Issuance of shares from Employee Stock Purchase Plans 217,404  —  6,238    —  6,238

Total issuance of common stock 3,107,652  3  65,726    (11,756)  53,973

Repurchase of common stock (3,286,385)  (3)  (76,362)    (123,635)  (200,000)

Share-based compensation expense     70,005      70,005

Net income         110,553  110,553

Foreign currency translation adjustments       (16,149)    (16,149)

Balance at December 31, 2014 140,945,171  $ 141  $ 696,029  $ (20,685)  $398,309  $ 1,073,794

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company Overview, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

As used in this report, the terms “Rackspace,” “Rackspace Hosting,” “we,” “our company,” “the company,” “us,” or “our” refer to Rackspace Hosting,
Inc. and its subsidiaries. Rackspace Hosting, Inc., through its operating subsidiaries, is a provider of cloud computing services, managing web-based IT
systems for small and medium-sized businesses as well as large enterprises. We focus on providing a service experience for our customers, which we call
Fanatical Support.

Our operations began in 1998 as a limited partnership, and Rackspace Hosting, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in March 2000.

Basis of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Rackspace Hosting and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, which include,
among others, Rackspace US, Inc., our domestic operating entity, and Rackspace Limited, our United Kingdom operating entity. Intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP")
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates, including those related to accounts receivable and customer credits, property and equipment, fair values of intangible assets and
goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets, fair value of share-based compensation, contingencies, and income taxes, among others. Whenever possible, we
base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience. However, certain estimates require us to make assumptions about expected future cash flow,
events and usage patterns that we cannot influence or control. Our judgments, assumptions and estimates are based upon facts and circumstances known to us
when we prepare the consolidated financial statements and that we believe to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities or recording of revenue and expenses in our consolidated financial statements. Changes in facts and circumstances
may cause us to change our assumptions and estimates in future periods, and it is possible that actual results could differ from our estimates. We engaged
third-party consultants to assist management in the valuation of acquired assets, including other intangibles, as well as share-based compensation.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period consolidated financial statements to conform to the current period presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, we consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
when acquired to be cash equivalents. Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money market funds.
Gains and losses are included in interest and other income in our accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

We actively monitor the third-party depository institutions that hold our deposits. Our emphasis is primarily on safety of principal, secondly on the
liquidity of our investments, and finally on maximizing yield on those funds. Our money market mutual funds comply with SEC Rule 2a-7 and invest
exclusively in high-quality, short-term obligations that include securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or by U.S. government agencies and
floating rate and variable rate demand notes of U.S. and foreign corporations.
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Accounts Receivable, Net

We classify as trade accounts receivable amounts due within twelve months, arising from the provision of services in the normal course of business. We
generally do not request collateral from our customers, although in certain cases we may require the customer to prepay for services. We record an allowance
for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. When evaluating the adequacy of the
allowance, we analyze the overall quality of our accounts receivable portfolio, current economic conditions and trends, historical bad debt write-offs,
customer creditworthiness, and specifically identified customer risks.

In addition, our hosting arrangements contain service level commitments with our customers. To the extent that such service levels are not achieved or
are otherwise disputed due to third-party power or service issues, unfavorable weather, or other service interruptions or conditions, we are required to issue
service credits for a portion of the hosting service fees paid by our customers. At each reporting period, we estimate the amount of service level credits to be
issued and record a reduction to revenue. To estimate service credits, we utilize historical data and specific knowledge of factors impacting the delivery of
services to our customers.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets consist primarily of prepaid software and equipment maintenance contracts and prepaid operating expenses.
Software maintenance contracts are amortized over the agreement period, generally one to three years. Prepaid operating expenses are expensed in the period
in which services are received.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset. Replacements and major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is
credited or charged to operations.

Internally Developed Software

We capitalize certain costs of computer software developed or acquired for internal use. Capitalized computer software costs consist of purchased
software licenses, implementation costs, and salaries and related compensation costs of employees and consultants for certain projects that qualify for
capitalization. The capitalized software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the software.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is evaluated for
impairment at a reporting unit level using a fair value approach on an annual basis at the beginning of the fourth quarter or whenever events or circumstances
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Our assessment did not utilize the qualitative assessment as we went directly to Step 1 of the test. No goodwill
impairment was recognized in any of the years presented.

Intangible assets, including purchased technology, customer contracts and relationships, certain tradenames, license agreements, and non-compete
agreements arising principally from acquisitions, are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization, and the definite-lived intangibles are amortized using a
method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the related intangible asset are consumed or utilized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount should be evaluated. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset in conjunction with its asset group compared to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the
carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount
of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the assets.
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Leases

We lease certain property and equipment under capital lease agreements. The assets held under capital lease and related obligations are recorded at the
lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the assets held
under capital lease. Such assets and the related leasehold improvements are amortized as depreciation expense over the shorter of the terms of the leases or the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which typically range from two to five years for equipment and 30 years for property. For assets for which the lease
agreement includes a bargain purchase option or transfer of ownership at the completion of the lease and the lease term is shorter than the estimated useful
life of the asset, the asset is amortized over its estimated useful life.

We also lease property and equipment under operating lease agreements. The lease terms typically range from two to five years for equipment and one
to twenty years for property, including office space and data center facilities. Rent increases, rent holidays, leasehold incentives or any other unusual
provisions or conditions are considered with total rent payments and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease period.

Revenue and Deferred Revenue

Revenue is reported net of customer credits and sales and use tax. We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, service
has been provided to the customer, the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We
provide cloud computing services to our customers and do not sell hardware and software products. We recognize cloud computing revenue, including
installation fees, beginning on the date the customer commences use of our services. Cloud computing revenue is recognized over the contractual term of the
customer contract.

Setup and other direct implementation activities performed by our personnel at the inception of a customer arrangement to enable us to perform under
the terms of the arrangement are expensed as incurred.

Customers using our dedicated cloud services typically pay us a monthly recurring charge based upon the capacity and complexity of the IT systems
we manage, the type of technology used and the level of support we provide. Some customers also pay a non-refundable installation fee. Since our dedicated
cloud customers usually continue to utilize our services beyond the initial contract term, these installation fees are recognized ratably over the estimated
average life of a customer relationship.

Our public cloud services offers pay-as-you-go cloud computing services that are billed according to customer usage. Revenue is recognized in the
month in which the customer uses the services.

Invoiced amounts and accrued unbilled usage is recorded in accounts receivable and either deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the
revenue recognition criteria have been met. Therefore, deferred revenue primarily consists of amounts that have been prepaid or deferred installation fees. As
of December 31, 2014, of the total $22.3 million in deferred revenue recorded on our balance sheet (the majority of which related to prepaid amounts),
$20.9 million and $1.4 million will be amortized to revenue in 2015 and 2016, respectively.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of expenses related to personnel, licenses, and our data center facilities. Personnel expenses include the salaries,
non-equity incentive compensation, share-based compensation and related expenses of our support teams and data center employees, and data center facility
costs include rental fees, power costs, maintenance fees, and bandwidth.

Advertising Costs

We charge advertising costs to expense in the period incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 were
approximately $44.7 million, $58.9 million and $59.2 million, respectively.

Share-Based Compensation

The Black-Scholes valuation model that we use to determine the fair value of stock options requires us to make assumptions and judgments about
variables related to our common stock and the related awards. These variables and assumptions include the fair value of our common stock, expected term,
the expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected dividends, and the estimated rate of forfeitures of unvested stock options.
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We used the following assumptions when determining the fair value of our stock options:

• Fair Value of our Common Stock—The end of day market price on the grant date is used to determine fair value.

• Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that our share-based awards are expected to be outstanding. In order to compute the
expected term for the four-year period immediately following our IPO, we elected to use the simplified method due to insufficient historical exercise
data available to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. We have been a public company since August 2008, and our
options generally vest over four years and expire seven to ten years from the grant date. Beginning in August 2012, management determined that
sufficient historical data is available for a fair evaluation and therefore we began to use historical exercise data in our estimation of the expected
term.

• Expected Volatility—Management estimates volatility for option grants by evaluating the weighted average of the implied volatility and the mean
reversion volatility of the company’s stock.

• Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation model is based on the implied yield currently available on
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent expected term.

• Expected Dividend—We have not issued dividends to date and do not anticipate issuing dividends.

• Estimated Rate of Forfeitures—We estimate expected forfeitures based on our historical experience. If actual forfeitures differ from our estimates, we
will record the difference as an adjustment in the period we revise our estimates.

In addition to stock options, our share-based compensation also comprises restricted stock. A portion of restricted stock grants have vesting conditions
dependent upon the performance of the company’s total shareholder return ("TSR") on its common stock compared to certain market indices. Additionally,
the company’s TSR must be positive for vesting to occur. We use a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate the fair value of these awards. For all other restricted
stock granted that vests ratably over the requisite service period, we measure fair value based on the closing fair market value of the company’s common
stock on the date of grant, and we recognize expense straight-line over the vesting period.

We also grant restricted stock with vesting conditions dependent upon the financial performance of the company. The fair values of these performance-
vesting awards is measured based on the closing fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, and share-based compensation expense is
recognized when the company determines the performance condition is likely to be met. The expense is recognized ratably over the company's best estimate
of the period over which the performance condition will be met. 

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences in recognizing
certain income, expense, and credit items for financial reporting purposes and tax reporting purposes. Such deferred income taxes primarily relate to the
difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying
enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the future years in which deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or realized. In assessing the
realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning
strategies in making this assessment. Based upon projections of future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible,
management believes it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefits of these deductible differences.

We are currently under income tax audits in the U.K. and California. Due to the complexity involved with certain tax matters, there is the possibility
that the various taxing authorities may disagree with certain tax positions filed on our income tax returns. We have considered all relevant facts and
circumstances and believe that we have made adequate provision for all income tax uncertainties. For a further discussion of the impact of uncertain tax
positions, see Note 10, "Taxes."

We do not provide for a U.S. income tax liability on undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries. The earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries, which
reflect full provision for non-U.S. income taxes, are currently indefinitely reinvested in non-U.S. operations.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. There is a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 – Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 
Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices
in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets or liabilities; and
 
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, which require management judgment or estimation.

Money market funds, classified in cash and cash equivalents, were $102 million and $11 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively, and
are Level 1 financial instruments. The carrying value of our debt approximates the fair value as of December 31, 2013 and 2014.

Foreign Currency

We have assessed the functional currency of each of our international subsidiaries and have generally designated the local currency to be their
respective functional currencies. The consolidated financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into the U.S. dollar. All assets and
liabilities are translated to the U.S. dollar at the end-of-period exchange rates. Capital accounts are determined to be of a permanent nature and are therefore
translated using historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated using average exchange rates.

Foreign currency translation adjustments arising from differences in exchange rates from period to period are included in the foreign currency
translation adjustment account in accumulated comprehensive income (loss). There was no income tax expense allocated in the years ended December 31,
2012, 2013 and 2014.

Transaction gains or losses in currencies other than the functional currency are included as a component of other income (expense) in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance to clarify principles for recognizing revenue and to develop a
common revenue standard for GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the standard requires capitalization of incremental costs to obtain a contract and significantly
expanded quantitative and qualitative disclosures. The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including
interim periods within that reporting period, and is to be applied retrospectively using one of two methods. One method is to apply the guidance
retrospectively to each prior period presented with practical expedients available. The second method is to apply the guidance retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying the Update recognized at the date of initial application. Early application is not permitted. We are evaluating the
impact on our consolidated financial statements of adopting this new accounting standard.

In April 2014, the FASB issued guidance to revise the definition of discontinued operations by limiting discontinued operations reporting to disposals
of components of an entity that represent strategic shifts that have (or will have) a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results. This guidance
also requires expanded disclosures for discontinued operations and adds new disclosures for individually significant dispositions that do not qualify as
discontinued operations. This guidance is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2014.
The impact of the adoption of this guidance will be dependent on the nature of dispositions, if any, occurring after adoption.
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In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance that will require management to evaluate, at each annual and interim reporting period, whether there are
conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and provide related footnote disclosures in certain
circumstances. This guidance is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016 and for annual and interim periods thereafter with early
adoption permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

2. Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands except per share data)  2012  2013  2014

Basic net income per share:       
Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553

Weighted average shares outstanding:       
Common stock  135,279  138,577  141,971

Number of shares used in per share computations  135,279  138,577  141,971

Net income per share  $ 0.78  $ 0.63  $ 0.78

       

Diluted net income per share:       
Net income  $ 105,418  $ 86,737  $ 110,553

Weighted average shares outstanding:       
Common stock  135,279  138,577  141,971
Stock options, awards and employee share purchase plans  5,986  4,434  2,527

Number of shares used in per share computations  141,265  143,011  144,498

Net income per share  $ 0.75  $ 0.61  $ 0.77

We excluded 1.1 million, 3.5 million and 5.0 million potential common shares from the computation of dilutive net income per share for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively, because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

3. Property and Equipment, net
 

Property and equipment consisted of: 

(Dollar amounts in thousands)  
Estimated Useful

Lives  
December 31, 

2013  
December 31, 

2014

Computers and equipment  3 - 5 years  $ 1,242,690  $ 1,495,206
Computer software  1 - 5 years  245,416  318,888
Furniture and fixtures  7 years  55,681  56,656
Buildings and leasehold improvements  2 - 30 years  236,255  253,621
Land       28,566  27,896

Property and equipment, at cost       1,808,608  2,152,267
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization       (983,618)  (1,249,522)
Work in process       65,786  154,939

Property and equipment, net       $ 890,776  $ 1,057,684

 
Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment was $240.9 million, $303.2 million and $362.2 million for the years ended

December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively.
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At December 31, 2013, the work in process balance consisted of build outs of $32.6 million for office facilities, $2.4 million for data centers, and $30.7
million for capitalized software and other projects. At December 31, 2014, the work in process balance consisted of build outs of $51.3 million for office
facilities, $80.5 million for data centers, and $23.1 million for capitalized software and other projects.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we capitalized non-cash interest of $2.1 million related to finance lease obligations for assets under
construction. There was no interest capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013.
 

The unamortized balance of computer software costs on our balance sheets was $88.7 million and $103.4 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2014,
respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized computer software costs was $36.4 million, $50.6 million and $63.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we did not have any acquisitions. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we acquired three companies
for total consideration of $16.2 million, including cash payments, deferred cash payments and equity consideration. Approximately $12.3 million was
attributed to goodwill, $5.1 million to acquired intangible assets and $1.2 million to other net liabilities assumed. The goodwill balance of $81.1 million did
not change from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014.

The following tables provide information regarding our intangible assets, other than goodwill:

 December 31, 2013

(In thousands)
Gross carrying

amount  
Accumulated
amortization  

Net carrying
amount

Intangible assets:      
Licenses $ 31,443  $ (21,216)  $ 10,227
Purchased technologies 13,180  (7,428)  5,752
Non-compete agreements 2,165  (1,613)  552
Customer relationships 6,137  (5,442)  695
Other 11,562  (4,908)  6,654

Total $ 64,487  $ (40,607)  $ 23,880

 December 31, 2014

(In thousands)
Gross carrying

amount  
Accumulated
amortization  

Net carrying
amount

Intangible assets:      
Licenses $ 32,466  $ (25,402)  $ 7,064
Purchased technologies 13,180  (10,024)  3,156
Non-compete agreements 2,165  (1,952)  213
Customer relationships 6,137  (5,640)  497
Other 12,688  (7,026)  5,662

Total $ 66,636  $ (50,044)  $ 16,592

Amortization expense on intangibles was $8.9 million, $9.8 million and $9.7 million in 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Intangible assets are
recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which generally range from two to five years.
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As of December 31, 2014, amortization expense on intangible assets for the next five years was expected to be as follows:

(In thousands)  
Year ending: Amount

2015 $ 9,657
2016 5,780
2017 621
2018 223
2019 197
Thereafter 114

Total $ 16,592

As of December 31, 2014, there were no indicators that our intangible assets were impaired.

5. Debt
  

In 2011 we entered into a revolving credit facility with a syndicate of seven banks led by JPMorgan Chase. This facility, which matures in September
2016, has a total commitment of $200 million and is governed by financial and non-financial covenants, including a leverage ratio of not greater than 3.00 to
1.00, an interest coverage ratio of not less than 3.00 to 1.00, and a requirement to maintain a certain level of tangible assets in our U.S. entities. Our marginal
borrowing costs on this facility are based on a floating base rate (LIBOR) plus a spread, which ranges from 1.25% to 2.00%, depending on our degree of
financial leverage. We also pay a fee on the committed but unused amount of the facility, which ranges from 0.25% to 0.40%, also depending on our degree
of financial leverage. The agreement further includes an accordion feature, which allows for an increase in the commitments to a total of $400 million under
the same terms and conditions, subject to credit approval of the banking syndicate.

As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding borrowings of $25 million under this facility at an interest rate of 1.42%. Additionally there were
insignificant letters of credit outstanding at the end of 2014. Therefore, as of December 31, 2014, we had $175 million available for future borrowings. As of
the same date, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our facility. The outstanding borrowings were fully repaid in January 2015.

6. Leases

Capital Leases

We have master lease agreements with our primary vendors that supply us with servers and computer equipment. Historically, we have financed most
equipment purchases through their respective finance companies. The terms vary with each vendor but typically include a term of two to five years and
interest rates ranging from 2% to 3%. A majority of these agreements allow us to purchase the equipment at the end of the lease for a nominal amount. The
amount included in computers and equipment as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 is shown in the table below.

Additionally, we have entered into multiple complex real estate development and lease arrangements with independent real estate developers to
design, construct and lease certain real estate projects. While the independent developers legally own the real estate projects and must finance the overall
construction, we agreed to fund certain structural improvements and/or retain obligations related to certain potential construction cost overruns which have
triggered an accounting requirement to include construction costs in progress and a related long-term finance lease liability on our consolidated balance
sheets as though we are the owner of the asset during the construction period. We do not depreciate the cost of the real estate projects or expect to fund this
long-term finance lease liability during the construction period. The amount included in work in process as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 is
shown in the table below.
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Upon completion of construction, we perform a sale-leaseback analysis pursuant to ASC 840, Leases, to determine if we can remove the asset and
liability from our consolidated balance sheet. If the asset and corresponding liability can be derecognized, then the lease will be accounted for as an
operating lease, and we will recognize rent expense over the lease term. However, certain factors are considered “continuing involvement” which precludes
derecognizing the asset and liability when construction is complete. If the sale-leaseback criteria are not met, the asset would be considered to be owned for
accounting purposes during the lease term. At this time, the amount recorded as a finance lease obligation for assets under construction would be transferred
to a capital lease obligation. Accordingly, the asset would be depreciated and rental payments under the lease would be recorded as a reduction of the capital
lease liability and interest expense.

During 2014, construction of one of these real estate projects was completed, and we performed a sale-leaseback analysis. As a result of our continuing
involvement in the project, we were precluded from derecognizing the asset and liability, and we will account for the lease as a capital lease obligation
throughout the lease term. At the end of the lease term, we will derecognize the remaining lease obligation and residual asset balance. The amount included
in buildings and leasehold improvements as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 is shown in the table below.

Amounts in property and equipment under these capital leases and finance lease obligations for assets under construction consisted of:

(In thousands) December 31, 2013  December 31, 2014
Computers and equipment $ 391,833  $ 389,020
Buildings and leasehold improvements —  7,705
 391,833  396,725
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (335,599)  (370,961)
Work in process —  109,991

 $ 56,234  $ 135,755

Future capital lease payments under non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2014 were as follows:

(In thousands)  
Year ending: Amount

2015 $ 15,541
2016 2,150
2017 623
2018 636
2019 649
Thereafter 2,795

Total minimum capital lease payments 22,394
Plus amount representing residual asset balance 5,394
Less amount representing interest (2,935)
Less amount representing executory costs (938)

Present value of net minimum lease payments 23,915
Less current portion of obligations under capital leases (14,969)

Non-current obligations under capital leases $ 8,946

Operating Leases

We lease our data center facilities and certain office space under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Facility leases generally include renewal
options and may require us to pay a portion of the related operating expenses. Certain of these lease agreements have escalating rental payment provisions.
We recognize rent expense for such arrangements on a straight-line basis.
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Future operating lease payments under non-cancelable leases with an initial term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2014 were as follows:

(In thousands)  
Year ending: Amount

2015 $ 71,130
2016 65,948
2017 65,195
2018 59,464
2019 57,885
Thereafter 516,485

Total minimum operating lease payments $ 836,107

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 was $46.1 million, $66.0 million and $74.0 million, respectively.

7. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Purchase Commitments

Non-cancelable purchase commitments primarily consist of commitments for certain software licenses, hardware purchases, and costs associated with
our data centers, including bandwidth and electricity. The agreements can generally extend up to five years and provide for either penalties for early
termination or may require minimum commitments for the remaining term. The minimum commitments for all of these agreements as of December 31, 2014
approximated $83.6 million, $18.4 million, $3.0 million, and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

We also have purchase orders and construction contracts primarily related to data center equipment and facility build-outs. We generally have the right
to cancel these open purchase orders prior to delivery or terminate the contracts without cause.

Legal Proceedings
 
We are party to various legal and administrative proceedings, which we consider routine and incidental to our business. Although the outcome of these

matters is currently not determinable, management expects that any losses that are incurred as a result of these matters, which are in excess of amounts already
accrued in its consolidated balance sheet, would not be material to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

We are also a party to various claims that certain of our products, services, and technologies infringe the intellectual property rights of others. Adverse
results in these lawsuits may include awards of substantial monetary damages, costly royalty or licensing agreements, or orders preventing us from offering
certain features, products, or services, and may also cause us to change our business practices and require development of non-infringing products or
technologies, which could result in a loss of revenue for us and otherwise harm our business. We have disputed the allegations of wrongdoing in these
proceedings and intend to vigorously defend ourselves in all such matters.

We cannot predict the impact, if any, that any of the matters described above may have on our business, results of operations, financial position, or cash
flows. Because of the inherent uncertainties of such matters, including the early stage and lack of specific damage claims in many of them, we cannot estimate
the range of possible losses from them.

We record to cost of revenue state sales taxes related to software licenses acquired to provide hosting services to customers. We also remit state sales
taxes collected from our customers for hosting services invoiced to our customers, with such services including the use of the aforementioned software
licenses. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a $7 million benefit to cost of revenue for settlement of a dispute related to sales taxes paid
on such software licenses for the period September 2007 through April 2014.

- 71 -



Table of Contents

Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the
officer or director is, or was, serving at our request in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we have a
director and officer insurance policy that limits our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of the insurance
policy coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. We had no significant liabilities recorded for these
agreements as of December 31, 2013 or 2014.

Additionally, in the normal course of business, we indemnify certain parties, including customers, vendors and lessors, with respect to certain matters.
We have agreed to hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants or out of intellectual property
infringement or other claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the
amount of the claim. We had no significant liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2013 or 2014.

Incentive Arrangements

In August 2007, we entered into a lease for our corporate headquarters. In connection with this lease, we also entered into a Master Economic Incentives
Agreement ("MEIA") with the Cities of Windcrest and San Antonio, Texas; Bexar County; and certain other parties, pursuant to which we agreed to locate
existing and future employees at the new facility location. The agreement required that we meet certain employment levels each year in exchange for a 14-
year exemption from most of the property taxes associated with the property. If we fail to meet these job creation requirements, we could lose a portion or all
of the tax exemption provided during the 14-year period and would then be obligated to repay the exemption amount. We have met the requirements for the
employment level for the year ended December 31, 2014, and we believe that it is probable that we will continue to meet the requirements throughout the
exemption period. We elected to begin the exemption period in 2009.

Further, we entered into an agreement with the State of Texas, under which we received $5.0 million in 2007, $3.5 million in 2012, and $5.5 million in
2014 and may receive up to an additional $8.0 million from the Texas Enterprise Fund in multiple installments, provided that we meet certain new
employment levels in the State of Texas. We are responsible for maintaining the jobs until January 2022. If we eliminate jobs for which we have drawn funds,
we are subject to a clawback on the amounts we have drawn plus 3.4% interest on such amounts per year. As of December 31, 2014, the $14.0 million
received was deferred and recorded as other non-current liabilities. Amounts will be recognized into income upon the achievement of the performance criteria
and the determination that the cash is no longer refundable to the State of Texas.

8. Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

At December 31, 2013 and 2014, we had 141,123,904 and 140,945,171 shares of our common stock legally issued and outstanding, respectively.

We have one class of authorized common stock. The rights and privileges provided to our common stockholders are as follows:

• Dividend Rights—Subject to preferences that may apply to shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are
entitled to receive dividends, at the discretion of our board of directors.

• Voting Rights—All holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by Rackspace Hosting's stockholders.

• Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions—Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of our common stock are entitled to share
equally in all of our assets remaining after payment of all liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any outstanding preferred stock.
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Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, there were 50 million authorized shares of preferred stock, of which none was issued or outstanding.

Share Repurchase Program

On November 6, 2014, our board of directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $500 million of our common stock over the next two years.
Under this program, shares may be repurchased from time to time through both open market and privately negotiated transactions.

On November 12, 2014, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase ("ASR") agreement with a financial institution to repurchase an aggregate
$200 million of our common stock. Under the ASR agreement, we paid $200 million to the financial institution and received an initial delivery of 3.3 million
shares of common stock which were subsequently retired. The final number of shares repurchased under the ASR agreement will be based generally upon the
average daily volume weighted average price of our common stock during the repurchase period, less a discount and subject to adjustments pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the ASR agreement. If the actual number of shares to be repurchased under the agreement exceeds the number of shares initially
delivered, we will receive the excess shares at the end of the repurchase period. If the number of shares initially delivered exceeds the actual number of shares
to be repurchased, we will either deliver shares of common stock or make a cash payment to the financial institution at our election. Final settlement is
expected to occur within the first six months of 2015. The payment of $200 million was accounted for as a reduction to stockholders' equity in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We reflected the ASR agreement as a repurchase of common stock for purposes of calculating earnings per share and as a forward contract indexed to
our common stock. The forward contract met all the applicable criteria for equity classification, and therefore, was not accounted for as a derivative
instrument.

9. Share-Based Compensation
 
In December 2007, we adopted our 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "2007 Stock Plan"). Under the 2007 Stock Plan, incentive and non-qualified

stock options or rights to purchase common stock may be granted to eligible participants. In addition to stock options, we may grant other equity awards
such as stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance awards, cash-based awards, and dividend equivalents. All awards,
excluding incentive stock options, may be granted under the plan to employees, officers, directors, or any other non-employee service provider to the
company. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees of the company or a subsidiary. The exercise price of a stock option granted under the
2007 Stock Plan will be determined by the Compensation Committee at the time the option is granted and generally may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of a share of common stock as of the date of grant. The 2007 Stock Plan had an automatic share reserve increase effective the first day of each
fiscal year, from 2009 through 2012. For fiscal year 2012, this resulted in an increase of approximately 5.9 million shares available under our Stock Plans.

At our 2014 annual meeting of the stockholders, our stockholders approved certain amendments to the 2007 Stock Plan. The amendments included,
among other things, adding 11.4 million shares available for future grants and requiring new grants of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance
units and performance shares to count against the numerical limits of the 2007 Stock Plan as 1.93 shares for every one share that is subject to such an award.

The following have been granted under our 2007 Stock Plan: stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs") and restricted stock awards ("RSAs").
Collectively, all such grants are referred to as "awards." All awards deduct one share from the 2007 Stock Plan shares available for issuance for each share
granted, except as described above. To the extent awards granted under the 2007 Stock Plan terminate, expire or lapse, shares subject to such awards
generally will again be available for future grant.

In addition to the 2007 Stock Plan, we also maintain the 2005 Stock Plan and plans assumed through acquisitions, collectively referred to as the Stock
Plans. Options are priced to be at least 100% of our common stock’s fair market value at the date of grant. Options have generally been granted for terms of
either seven or ten years and generally vest ratably over a four-year period or cliff-vest at the third anniversary date of the grant.
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As of December 31, 2014, the total number of shares authorized, outstanding and available for future grants under the Stock Plans was as follows:

Plan Name  Shares Authorized  Shares Outstanding  

Shares 
Available for Future

Grants
Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan  40,189,197  10,269,849  13,290,221
Other Stock Plans  11,740,760  789,247  —

Total  51,929,957  11,059,096  13,290,221

The composition of the equity awards outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 was as follows: 

  
December 31, 

2013  
December 31, 

2014
Restricted stock  3,538,271  4,305,323
Stock options  9,487,570  6,753,773

     Total outstanding awards  13,025,841  11,059,096

 
Restricted Stock

The following table summarizes our RSU and RSA activity for the year ended December 31, 2014:

  
Number of Units or

Shares  
Weighted-Average

Grant-Date Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2013  3,538,271  $ 28.79
     Granted  3,236,458  $ 34.87
     Released  (1,609,215)  $ 19.61
     Cancelled  (860,191)  $ 39.39

Outstanding at December 31, 2014  4,305,323  $ 34.49

     

Expected to vest after December 31, 2014*  3,572,970  $ 36.62
*Includes reduction of shares outstanding due to estimated forfeitures

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs and RSAs granted during 2012 and 2013 was $51.78 and $39.24, respectively. The total pre-tax
intrinsic value of the RSUs and RSAs released during 2012, 2013 and 2014 was $75.5 million, $29.7 million and $52.7 million, respectively.

In February 2009, our board approved grants of RSUs to our former chief executive officer and another member of the executive team. A total of
2,000,000 RSUs were granted. The vesting of these RSUs was dependent on the company’s total shareholder return ("TSR") on its common stock compared to
other companies in the Russell 2000 Index. In addition, the company’s TSR had to be positive for vesting to occur. Of the total RSUs granted, 1,050,000 had
a measurement period at the end of three years. The company's TSR was compared to the Russell 2000 Index in February 2012, and it was determined that the
required market results were met. The remaining 950,000 RSUs had a measurement period at the end of five years. The company's TSR was compared to the
Russell 2000 Index in February 2014, and it was determined that the required market results were met.

During the period from 2010 through 2013, certain members of our executive team received RSUs and/or RSAs that contained vesting conditions
dependent upon predetermined market results measured at the end of three years. The fair values of these market-vesting awards were measured using a Monte
Carlo simulation based on the date of grant, and share-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over the three-year vesting period. During 2014,
38,502 of these awards reached their measurement date. The predetermined market results were not met and the awards were cancelled with no shares being
issued. As of December 31, 2014, 291,689 of these awards remain outstanding with measurement dates occurring throughout 2016.
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In 2014, we granted 3,236,458 RSUs, of which 2,867,873 vest as the employee continues to be employed with us, in four equal installments, on each
of the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date. The fair value of these service-vesting awards is measured based on the closing fair market
value of our common stock on the date of grant, and share-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over the four-year service period. The
remaining 368,585 awards were granted to members of our executive team. The vesting of these awards is dependent upon the attainment of predetermined
financial performance results over the next two to four years. The fair values of these performance-vesting awards is measured based on the closing fair market
value of our common stock on the date of grant, and share-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over the company's best estimate of the period
over which the performance condition will be met.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2014: 

  Number of Shares  
Weighted-Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Life  
Aggregate Intrinsic

Value (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013  9,487,570  $ 30.37  5.10  $ 117,886
     Granted  339,807  $ 37.80     
     Exercised  (1,838,380)  $ 14.62     

Forfeited  (1,008,735)  $ 43.30     
Expired  (226,489)  $ 44.67     

Outstanding at December 31, 2014  6,753,773  $ 32.62  4.21  $ 104,330

         

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2014  3,962,344  $ 24.16  3.53  $ 93,847

         

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2014 and expected to vest
thereafter*  6,367,890  $ 31.90  4.14  $ 102,959
*Includes reduction of shares outstanding due to estimated forfeitures

The stock options granted in 2012, 2013 and 2014 vest as the employee continues to be employed with us, in four equal installments, on each of the
first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date and have a term of seven years. Included in the 339,807 stock options granted during 2014 are
106,200 stock options granted to certain members of our executive team that will become eligible to vest over four equal installments as the executive
continues to be employed with us once predetermined market results are attained. The fair values of these market-vesting options were measured using a
Monte Carlo simulation based on the date of grant, and share-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over the four-year vesting period.
 

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of the stock options exercised during 2012, 2013 and 2014 was $193.1 million, $76.4 million and $44.1 million,
respectively.

The following table presents the assumptions used to estimate the fair values of the stock options granted in the periods presented:

  Years Ended December 31,

  2012  2013  2014
Expected stock volatility  56% - 58%  46% - 47%  46% - 48%
Expected dividend yield  —%  —%  —%
Risk-free interest rate  0.50% - 0.77%  0.57% - 0.93%  1.08% - 1.27%
Expected life  4.00 - 4.75 years  3.79 years  3.82 years
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the year  $24.38  $15.86  $15.34
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

An Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") for U.S. employees was approved by the company's board of directors in 2011 and adopted by the
company on January 1, 2012. Under the ESPP, eligible employees may purchase a limited number of shares of the company's common stock at the lesser of
85% of the market value on the enrollment date or 85% of the market value on the purchase date. The ESPP is made up of a series of offering periods. Each
offering period has a maximum term of 24 months and is divided into semi-annual purchase intervals. Eligible employees may enroll at the beginning of any
semi-annual purchase interval. During 2014, we issued 203,469 shares through the ESPP.

The fair value on each enrollment date was determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following table presents the assumptions
used to estimate the fair values of the shares granted through the ESPP in the periods presented:

  Years Ended December 31,

  2013  2014
Expected stock volatility  32% - 62%  42% - 56%
Expected dividend yield  —%  —%
Risk-free interest rate  0.09% - 0.34%  0.06% - 0.47%
Expected life  0.5 - 2.0 years  0.5 - 2.0 years
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of shares granted during the year  $16.04  $12.83

Share-Based Compensation Expense

Share-based compensation expense was recognized as follows: 

  Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)  2012  2013  2014
Cost of revenue  $ 9,592  $ 12,584  $ 16,446
Research and development  4,856  8,168  12,581
Sales and marketing  6,379  7,317  9,573
General and administrative  20,719  31,576  31,405

Pre-tax share-based compensation  41,546  59,645  70,005
Less: Income tax benefit  (15,477)  (20,080)  (21,515)

Total share-based compensation expense, net of tax  $ 26,069  $ 39,565  $ 48,490

As of December 31, 2014, there was $175.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock, options and the ESPP, which
will be amortized using the straight-line method over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.
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10. Taxes
 

The provision for income taxes consisted of:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2012  2013  2014

Current:      
Federal $ 38,720  $ 35,912  $ 38,318
Foreign 19,248  12,071  11,083
State 4,296  4,121  5,337

Total current 62,264  52,104  54,738
      

Deferred:      
Federal 1,359  (3,886)  (2,425)
Foreign (910)  (1,621)  (2,878)
State (124)  (2,575)  (384)

Total deferred 325  (8,082)  (5,687)
      

Total provision for income taxes $ 62,589  $ 44,022  $ 49,051

Income before income taxes included income from foreign operations of approximately $61.6 million, $39.7 million and $64.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

A reconciliation of the statutory federal tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2012  2013  2014
Statutory federal tax rate 35.0 %  35.0 %  35.0 %

State taxes, net of federal benefit 1.5 %  0.7 %  1.7 %
Tax rate differentials for international jurisdictions -2.0 %  -3.8 %  -10.5 %
Permanent differences 1.1 %  1.6 %  3.5 %
Deferred impact of intercompany transfers 1.9 %  3.5 %  3.2 %
Research and development credit (current year) — %  -3.1 %  -2.1 %
Other, net -0.2 %  -0.2 %  -0.1 %

Effective tax rate 37.3 %  33.7 %  30.7 %

The tax rate differential for international jurisdictions has increased from 2013 to 2014 as an increased portion of our profits were earned outside the
U.S. Permanent differences increased from 2013 to 2014 due to an increase in nondeductible items in 2014.

In December 2014, the U.S. Tax Increase Prevention Act of 2014 was signed into law which reinstated the Federal research credit, bonus depreciation
and other expired subsidiaries. The extension of the Federal research credit resulted in a reduction of our effective tax rate in 2014. Unless the Federal
research credit is extended in future periods, we expect an increase in our effective tax rate for years after 2014.
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Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes. Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(In thousands) December 31, 2013  December 31, 2014

Deferred tax assets:    
Share-based compensation $ 23,487  $ 27,158
State income taxes 2,293  2,205
Vacation accruals 5,235  3,502
Deferred revenue 3,793  5,322
Deferred rent 13,736  16,195
Accruals not currently deductible 7,850  8,386
Net operating loss carryforwards 3,534  4,832
Foreign tax credit 1,723  1,723
Research and development credits 13,871  13,341
Other 3,703  4,318

Total gross deferred tax assets 79,225  86,982
    

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Depreciation 125,209  134,596
Prepaids 2,981  4,002
Other 107  60

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 128,297  138,658
    

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (49,072)  $ (51,676)

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Valuation allowances were
established in the year ended December 31, 2014 for an immaterial amount of foreign tax credits that are expected to expire before they are utilized. For the
rest of the deferred tax assets, valuation allowances were not deemed necessary based upon the determination that future profits are anticipated to utilize
deferred tax assets in the future.

The company has not recognized a deferred tax liability for undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries because such earnings are considered
indefinitely invested in a foreign country. As of December 31, 2014, undistributed earnings of the company’s foreign subsidiaries considered indefinitely
invested were $221.0 million. We intend to reinvest these earnings in active non-U.S. business operations and do not currently intend to repatriate these
earnings to fund U.S. operations through either a dividend, liquidation or other means. In addition, estimates of future domestic cash generation will be
sufficient to meet future domestic cash needs. Further, it is expected that the undistributed earnings of the company's foreign subsidiaries will be used to fund
the additional investments made outside of the U.S. The determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability related to undistributed earnings
is not practicable because of the complexities of the hypothetical calculation.

 
We have $199.9 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $22.2 million of federal tax credit carryforwards expiring at various dates

through 2034. Of the $199.9 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards, $196.6 million are due to gross excess tax benefits from stock option
exercises that have not been recorded as of December 31, 2014. We have $3.9 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards, which have an indefinite
expiration date.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We file income tax returns in each jurisdiction in which we operate, both domestically and internationally. Due to the complexity involved with
certain tax matters, we have considered all relevant facts and circumstances for the financial statement recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns. We believe that there are no other jurisdictions in which the outcome of
uncertain tax matters is likely to be material to our results of operations, financial position or cash flows. We further believe that we have made adequate
provision for all income tax uncertainties.
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A reconciliation of our unrecognized tax benefits, excluding accrued interest, for 2013 and 2014 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2013  2014
Balance, beginning of year $ 18,664  $ 23,246

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 3,919  2,523
Additions for tax positions of prior years 663  3,633
Reduction for statute expiration —  (930)
Reductions for tax positions of prior years —  (7,440)

Balance, end of year $ 23,246  $ 21,032

Unrecognized tax benefits of $23.2 million and $21.0 million for 2013 and 2014, respectively, are included in other non-current liabilities on the
balance sheet. At December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively, approximately $8.2 million and $13.1 million of these unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized,
would favorably impact our effective tax rate in any future period. Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2014 are
liabilities of $7.9 million that, if recognized, would be recorded as an adjustment to other current and non-current assets. We do not expect the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits disclosed above to change significantly over the next 12 months.

We recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters within income tax expense on our consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 were not material.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax and various state, local, and international income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Our domestic and
international tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of revenue and expenses in different jurisdictions and the timing of recognizing revenue and
expenses. As such, our effective tax rate is impacted by the geographical distribution of income and mix of profits in the various jurisdictions. Additionally,
the amount of income taxes paid is subject to our interpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file.

  
We currently file income tax returns in the U.S. and all foreign jurisdictions in which we have entities, which are periodically under audit by federal,

state, and international tax authorities. These audits can involve complex matters that may require an extended period of time for resolution. We remain
subject to U.S. federal and state income tax examinations for the tax years 2009 through 2014 and in the international jurisdictions in which we operate for
varying periods from 2007 through 2014. We currently have income tax examinations open in the State of California for 2010, 2011 and 2012, and the
United Kingdom for 2012. Although the outcome of open tax audits is uncertain, in management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been
made. If actual outcomes differ materially from these estimates, they could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
Differences between actual results and assumptions or changes in assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they become known. To the extent
additional information becomes available prior to resolution, such accruals are adjusted to reflect probable outcomes.

Other

During 2014 we did not receive any federal income tax refunds. We experienced taxable profits in the U.S. and U.K. in 2014 before consideration of
excess tax benefits, and therefore we anticipate utilizing benefits of tax deductions related to stock compensation. As a result, we have recognized an excess
tax benefit in the U.S. and U.K.

During 2011, 2012 and 2013, Rackspace US, Inc. sold certain intangible assets to a wholly-owned offshore subsidiary in taxable transactions. As a
result of the transactions, there is an asset on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014 of $27.4 million (of which $23.8 million was recorded
in other non-current assets) that will be amortized through income tax expense over the lives of the applicable intangible assets. Although the transactions
were taxable, the resulting gains were entirely offset against existing net operating losses, including excess stock compensation deductions. Thus, there was
no cash tax impact from the sales of the intangible assets.

- 79 -



Table of Contents

11. Segment Information
 

We operate as one reportable segment based upon a number of factors including the basis for our budget and forecasts, the overall organization and
management structure, and the consolidated financial information regularly used by our chief executive officer, who is the chief operating decision maker, to
make key operating decisions and to assess performance. Since we operate in one reportable segment, all relevant financial information used to allocate
resources and assess performance can be found in the consolidated financial statements.

Total net revenue by our product categories was as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,

  2012  2013  2014
Dedicated Cloud  $ 1,005,165  $ 1,119,636  $ 1,254,666
Public Cloud  304,074  415,150  539,691

Total net revenue  $ 1,309,239  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357

Prior to 2014, revenue was attributed to geographic location based on the Rackspace operating location that entered into the contractual relationship
with the customer, either the U.S. or International, primarily the U.K. Total net revenue by geographic region in 2012 and 2013 was as follows: 

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2012  2013
United States  $ 973,733  $ 1,133,645
International  335,506  401,141

Total net revenue  $ 1,309,239  $ 1,534,786

 
Beginning in 2014, we attribute revenue to geographic location based on the customer's billing address, either the U.S. or International, primarily the

U.K. While the geographic information is not significantly different from the current method, we believe the customer billing address is the best indicator of
customer location. Due to system limitations, we have determined that it is impracticable to restate the 2012 revenue information on this basis. Total net
revenue by geographic region in 2013 and 2014 based upon the customer's billing address was as follows:

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2013  2014
United States  $ 1,076,248  $ 1,232,136
International  458,538  562,221

Total net revenue  $ 1,534,786  $ 1,794,357

Our long-lived assets are primarily located in the U.S. and the U.K., and to a lesser extent Hong Kong and Australia. Property and equipment, net by
geographic region was as follows: 

(In thousands)  
December 31, 

2013  
December 31, 

2014
United States  $ 654,507  $ 718,305
International  236,269  339,379

Total property and equipment, net  $ 890,776  $ 1,057,684

12. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor defined contribution plans whereby employees may elect to contribute a portion of their annual compensation to the plans, after
complying with certain limitations. The plans also include a discretionary employer contribution. During 2012, 2013 and 2014, contribution expense
recognized for these plans was $7.4 million, $10.3 million and $13.2 million, respectively.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
(UNAUDITED)

  Quarters Ended

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
March 31, 

2013  
June 30, 

2013  
September 30, 

2013  
December 31, 

2013
Net revenue  $ 362,200  $ 375,847  $ 388,636  $ 408,103
Cost of revenue  $ 113,610  $ 117,658  $ 127,404  $ 133,821
Net income  $ 27,261  $ 22,367  $ 16,311  $ 20,798
Net income per share - basic  $ 0.20  $ 0.16  $ 0.12  $ 0.15
Net income per share - diluted  $ 0.19  $ 0.16  $ 0.11  $ 0.14

  Quarters Ended

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
March 31, 

2014  
June 30, 

2014  
September 30, 

2014  
December 31, 

2014
Net revenue  $ 421,047  $ 441,112  $ 459,776  $ 472,422
Cost of revenue  $ 140,417  $ 145,051  $ 142,954  $ 153,912
Net income  $ 25,446  $ 22,451  $ 25,740  $ 36,916
Net income per share - basic  $ 0.18  $ 0.16  $ 0.18  $ 0.26
Net income per share - diluted  $ 0.18  $ 0.16  $ 0.18  $ 0.26
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ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report (the “Evaluation
Date”). Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective such that the information relating to the company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our SEC
reports (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Remediation of Previously Disclosed Material Weakness

In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, management concluded there was a
material weakness in the design and operating effectiveness of controls over the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of complex real estate
development and lease arrangements. Specifically, we have entered into multiple complex real estate development and lease arrangements with independent
real estate developers to design, construct and lease certain real estate projects. While the independent developers legally own the real estate projects and
must finance the overall construction, we agreed to fund certain structural improvements and/or retain obligations related to certain potential construction
cost overruns which have triggered an accounting requirement to include construction costs in progress and a related long-term finance lease liability on our
consolidated balance sheets as though we are the owner of the asset during the construction period. Our original assessment on the appropriate accounting
treatment for these development and lease agreements was incorrect. The material weakness resulted in misstatements in our consolidated financial
statements, specifically including a non-material change to the previously released unaudited balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, which we had
disseminated in our fourth quarter and year-end earnings release and furnished in a Form 8-K on February 10, 2014. See Item 8 of Part II, "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 9 - Leases" of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 for information on the effect that such leases
had on our consolidated financial statements.

To remediate this material weakness, we enhanced our process around identifying and reviewing complex real estate development and lease
agreements by (i) formalizing the process of timely identifying the origination of transactions with development and lease arrangements; (ii) implementing
more comprehensive procedures for the accounting review of such transactions; (iii) creating a formal checklist of accounting provisions to be considered
and evaluated during the review process; (iv) creating specific documentation standards of how accounting provisions were identified, considered and
concluded upon; (v) developing more robust review standards and (vi) implementing new internal controls. We have completed the documentation and
testing of the design and effectiveness of the corrective actions described herein and, as of December 31, 2014, have concluded that the previously disclosed
material weakness related to the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of complex real estate development and lease arrangements has been remediated.

As of December 31, 2014, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have each concluded that the consolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our company and its
subsidiaries in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Inherent limitations of internal controls

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any
system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

(b) Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(f). Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation,
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014. Management reviewed the results of its
assessment with our Audit Committee. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 has been audited by KPMG
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its attestation report, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than the remediation of the previously disclosed material weakness related to the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of complex real
estate development and lease arrangements, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal year
reporting period identified in connection with management’s evaluation that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

We have adopted the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “code of conduct”) that applies to all of our employees,
officers and directors, including, without limitation, our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, and other finance
organization employees. The code of conduct, as well as any waiver of a provision of the code of conduct granted to any senior officer or director or material
amendment to the code of conduct, if any, may be found in the “Investors” section of our website at www.rackspace.com.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting's Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting's Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting's Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting's Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 - EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements

(1) The consolidated financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Any financial statement schedules required to be filed as part of this report are set forth in section (c) below.

(b) Exhibits - See the Index to Exhibits at the end of this report, which is incorporated by reference.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is filed as a part of this Annual Report:

• Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes
thereto.

(In thousands) Beginning Balance  Additions (1)  

Write-offs of Accounts
Receivable and Credit

Memos Paid  Ending Balance
Allowance for doubtful accounts and customer credits for
the years ending December 31:        

2012 $ 3,420  $ 18,863  $ (18,047)  $ 4,236
2013 $ 4,236  $ 16,875  $ (17,220)  $ 3,891
2014 $ 3,891  $ 16,562  $ (15,119)  $ 5,334

(1) Additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts are charged to expense. Additions to the allowance for customer credits are charged to revenue.     
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form
10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 2, 2015.

   Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
Date: March 2, 2015  By:  /s/ WILLIAM TAYLOR RHODES
     William Taylor Rhodes
     President and Chief Executive Officer
     (Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name  Title  Date
     

/s/ WILLIAM TAYLOR RHODES  President and Chief Executive Officer  March 2, 2015
William Taylor Rhodes  (Principal Executive Officer)   

     
/s/ KARL PICHLER  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  March 2, 2015

Karl Pichler  (Principal Financial Officer)   
     

/s/ JOSEPH SAPORITO  Chief Accounting Officer  March 2, 2015
Joseph Saporito  (Principal Accounting Officer)   

     
/s/ GRAHAM WESTON  Chairman  March 2, 2015

Graham Weston     
     

/s/ S. JAMES BISHKIN  Director  March 2, 2015
S. James Bishkin     

     
  Director   

Kevin Costello     
     

/s/ OSSA FISHER  Director  March 2, 2015
Ossa Fisher     

     
/s/ SAM GILLILAND  Director  March 2, 2015

Sam Gilliland     
     
  Director   

John Harper     
     

/s/ MARK P. MELLIN  Director  March 2, 2015
Mark P. Mellin     

     
/s/ LEW MOORMAN  Director  March 2, 2015

Lew Moorman     
     

/s/ FRED REICHHELD  Director  March 2, 2015
Fred Reichheld     

     

/s/ LILA TRETIKOV  Director  March 2, 2015
Lila Tretikov     
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
 

Exhibits   Description
   

3.1(A)  Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (2)
3.1(B)  Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (3)

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. (19)
4.1  Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (3)
4.2  Founder's Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 1, 2002, among the Registrant and certain stockholders (1)
4.3  Investor's Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 1, 2002, among the Registrant and certain stockholders (1)

10.1  2003 Stock Option Plan and form of agreement thereunder (1)
10.2  Webmail.us., Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended in 2006 (1)
10.3  2005 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan and form of agreement thereunder (1)
10.4

 
Global Amendment to the Registrant's 1999 Assumed Stock Option Plan, 2003 Stock Option Plan, 2005 Non-Qualified Stock
Option Plan, Webmail.us, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2)

10.5(A)*  2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated
10.5(B)  Form of RSU Agreement Under 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Time-Based) (5)
10.5(C)  Form of RSU Agreement Under 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Performance-Based) (5)
10.5(D)  Form of RSU Agreement Under 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (SLT Performance-Based) (13)
10.5(E)  Rules of the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. 2010 HM Revenue & Customs U.K. Approved Sub-plan (11)
10.5(F)  Form of the 2010 HM Revenue & Customs U.K. Approved Sub-plan, Notice of Grant of Stock Options (11)
10.5(G)  Notice of Grant of RSUs for Outside Directors (21)
10.6(A)  Economic Development Agreement between the State of Texas and Rackspace US, Inc., dated August 1, 2007 (1)
10.6(B)  Amendment Number One to the Economic Development Agreement between the State of Texas and Rackspace US, Inc. (7)

10.7
 

Ground Lease Agreement, dated August 2, 2007, between Windcrest Economic Development Corporation and Rackspace US, Inc.,
as amended on April 24, 2008 (1)

10.8
 

City Economic Development Grant Agreement between the City of Windcrest, Texas and Rackspace US, Inc., dated August 2,
2007 (1)

10.9
 

County Economic Development Grant Agreement between Bexar County, Texas and Rackspace US, Inc., dated August 2, 2007
(1)

10.10
 

Developer Economic Development Grant Agreement among the City of Windcrest, Texas, the Windcrest Economic Development
Corporation, and Windcrest Economic Development Company, LLC, dated August 2, 2007 (1)

10.11

 

Walzem Road Redevelopment Project Master Economic Incentives Agreement among the City of Windcrest, Texas, the City of
San Antonio, Texas, the County of Bexar, Texas, the Windcrest Economic Development Corporation, the Windcrest Economic
Development Company, LLC, and Rackspace US, Inc., dated August 2, 2007 (1)

10.12
 

Office Building Lease, dated March 16, 2004, between Data Rose Limited Partnership and Rackspace Headquarters, LLC, as
amended on April 26, 2004, June 1, 2006, and April 17, 2008 (1)

10.13(A)
 

Consent to Assignment and Other Agreements, dated November 30, 2006, by and among CLPF Heritage Four L.P., Macro
Holding, Inc., Qwest Communications Corporation, and Rackspace DAL1DC, Ltd. (1)

10.13(B)

 

Assignment of Lease, effective December 1, 2006, between Qwest Communications Corporation and Rackspace DAL1DC
Management, LLC with attached Lease dated January 26, 2000 between CSI Industrial Development L.P. and Qwest
Communication Corporation, as amended January 23, 2001 (1)

10.13(C)
 

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated January 8, 2008, between CLPF-Heritage Four, L.P. and Rackspace DAL1DC
Management LLC (1)

10.14  Agreement for Lease, dated April 2, 2007, between Slough Trading Estate Limited and Rackspace Managed Hosting Limited (1)
10.15  Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers (2)
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Exhibits   Description
10.16  Rackspace US, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (3)
10.17  Form of Share Option Agreement (U.K.) (4)
10.18  Rackspace Standard Form of Employment Agreement (5)
10.19  Non-employee Director Compensation Schedule, Approved November 2011 (21)

10.20(A)†  Lease Agreement by and between Grizzly Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated February 5, 2009 (6)
10.20(B)  First Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Grizzly Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated October 1, 2009 (9)

10.21(A)†  Lease Agreement by and between Tarantula Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated July 31, 2009 (8)
10.21(B)†  First Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Tarantula Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated May 4, 2010 (12)
10.21(C)†

 
Second Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Tarantula Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated February 24,
2011 (15)

10.21(D)†
 

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Tarantula Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated August 19, 2011
(17)

10.21(E)
 

Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Tarantula Ventures LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated January 6, 2012
(18)

10.22†  Agreement for Lease between Digital Realty (St. Denis SARL) and Rackspace Limited, dated January 11, 2013 (24)
10.23  Employment Agreement between Rackspace US, Inc. and Mark Roenigk, dated December 14, 2009 (10)
10.24

 
Property Lease by and among Rackspace Limited, Hyde Park GP Limited and Hyde Park Nominee Limited, dated August 18, 2010
(14)

10.25(A)
 

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated September 26, 2011, by and between Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Regions Bank, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (20)

10.25(B)

 

Guarantee Agreement, dated September 26, 2011, by Guarantors of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. as Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders pursuant to the Revolving Credit Agreement dated September 26,
2011 (16)

10.26†  Lease Agreement by and between Collins Technology Park Partners, LLC, and Rackspace US, Inc., dated December 29, 2011 (18)
10.27  Employment Offer Letter for Joe Saporito, dated January 16, 2012 (21)
10.28  Compensation Agreement between Rackspace US, Inc. and Karl Pichler, dated January 27, 2012 (18)
10.29  Lease Agreement by and between Fox Properties LLC and Rackspace US, Inc., dated April 26, 2012 (22)
10.30  Cash Bonus Plan (23)
10.31  2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and form of agreement thereunder (2)
10.32  2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan- Share Incentive Sub-Plan (25)
10.33

 
Office Building Lease Agreement, dated February 22, 2000, between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd. and the Registrant, as
amended on March 30, 2000, December 9, 2004, and March 1, 2007 (1)

10.34  Storage Lease, effective March 1, 2004, between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd. and the Registrant (2)
10.35(A)  Lease Agreement, dated January 28, 2008, between Santa Clara Land Company, Ltd. and Rackspace US, Inc. (1)
10.35(B)

 
First Amendment to Office Building Lease Agreement between Santa Clara and Company, Ltd. and Rackspace US, Inc., dated July
10, 2008 (3)

10.36(A)  Employment Agreement between Rackspace US, Inc. and William Taylor Rhodes, dated January 13, 2014 (27)
10.36(B)

 
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Rackspace US, Inc. and William Taylor Rhodes, dated September 16,
2014 (28)

10.37
 

Separation Agreement and Release between Rackspace US, Inc., Rackspace Hosting Inc., and A. Lanham Napier, dated February 5,
2014 (27)

10.38  Inducement Equity Incentive Plan, effective February 24, 2014 (27)
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Exhibits   Description
10.39*

 
Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Transaction, dated November 12, 2014, between Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

21.1  List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant (26)
23.1*  Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1**  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2**  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
† Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of these exhibits. These portions have been omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K and

submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150469), filed April 25, 2008.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150469), filed June 18, 2008.
(3) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150469), filed July 15, 2008.
(4) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-153009), filed February 4,

2009.
(5) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-34143), filed March 2,

2009.
(6) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2009 (File No. 001-34143), filed May 12,

2009.
(7) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34143), filed July 30, 2009.
(8) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-34143), filed August 13,

2009.
(9) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-34143), filed

November 12, 2009.
(10) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-34143), filed February

26, 2010.
(11) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2010 (File No. 001-34143), filed May 6,

2010.
(12) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2010 (File No. 001-34143), filed August 9,

2010.
(13) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34143), filed August 27, 2010.
(14) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended September 30, 2010 (File No. 001-34143), filed

November 9, 2010.
(15) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2011 (File No. 001-34143), filed May 10,

2011.
(16) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-34143), filed September 29, 2011.
(17) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended September 30, 2011 (File No. 001-34143), filed

November 8, 2011.
(18) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year ended December 31, 2011 (File No. 001-34143), filed February

17, 2012.
(19) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34143), filed March 21, 2012.
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(20) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-34143), filed May 2, 2012.
(21) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2012 (File No. 001-34143), filed May 9,

2012.
(22) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2012 (File No. 001-34143), filed August 9,

2012.
(23) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year ended December 31, 2012 (File No. 001-34143), filed March 1,

2013.
(24) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the Quarter ended March 31, 2013 (File No. 001-34143), filed

December 31, 2013.
(25) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2013 (File No. 001-34143), filed August 9,

2013.
(26) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year ended December 31, 2013 (File No. 001-34143), filed March 3,

2014.
(27) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2014 (File No. 001-34143), filed May 12,

2014.
(28) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended September 30, 2014 (File No. 001-34143), filed

November 10, 2014.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC.
2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

(As Amended and Restated)

Rackspace Hosting, Inc. (the “Company”) originally established this incentive compensation plan known as the “Rackspace Hosting, Inc. 2007 Long-Term
Incentive Plan,” effective as of November 1, 2007, which was approved by the Company’s stockholders on October 30, 2007, which was amended and
restated effective as of March 5, 2008 and May 2, 2012. Subject to approval by the Company’s stockholders, the Company now desires to amend and restate
the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan in its entirety effective as of May 1, 2014 (the “Effective Date”), as set forth below.

1.    Purposes of the Plan. The purposes of this Plan are:
• to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility,
• to provide additional incentive to Employees, Directors and Consultants, and
• to promote the success of the Company’s business and its stockholders.

The Plan permits the grant of Incentive Stock Options, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted
Stock Units, Performance Units, Performance Shares, and other stock or cash awards as the Administrator may determine.

2.    Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions will apply:
(a) “Administrator” means the Board, or any of its Committees, as will be administering the Plan, in accordance with Section 4 of the Plan.

(b) “Applicable Laws” means the requirements relating to the administration of equity-based awards under U.S. state corporate laws, U.S. federal
and state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and the applicable laws of any
foreign country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the Plan.

(c) “Affiliate” means any corporation or any other entity (including, but not limited to, partnerships and joint ventures) controlling, controlled
by, or under common control with the Company.

(d) “Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock
Units, Performance Units, Performance Shares, and other stock or cash awards as the Administrator may determine.

(e) “Award Agreement” means the written or electronic agreement setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to each Award granted under
the Plan. The Award Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(f) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(g) “Cash Flow” means as to any Performance Period, cash generated from business activities.

(h) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i) A change in the ownership of the Company which occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a

group, (“Person”) acquires ownership of the stock of the Company that, together with the stock held by such Person, constitutes more than fifty percent
(50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (i), the acquisition of additional stock
by any one Person, who is considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company will not be considered a
Change in Control; or

(ii) A change in the effective control of the Company which occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is
replaced during any twelve (12) month period by Directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to
the date of the appointment or election. For purposes of this clause (ii), if any Person is considered to effectively control the Company, the acquisition of
additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Change in Control; or
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(iii) A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets which occurs on the date that any Person
acquires (or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the
Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than fifty percent (50%) of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the
Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, however, that for purposes of this subsection (iii), the following will not constitute
a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets: (A) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the Company’s stockholders
immediately after the transfer, or (B) a transfer of assets by the Company to: (1) a stockholder of the Company (immediately before the asset transfer) in
exchange for or with respect to the Company’s stock, (2) an entity, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly
or indirectly, by the Company, (3) a Person, that owns, directly or indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting power of all the
outstanding stock of the Company, or (4) an entity, at least fifty percent (50%) of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by
a Person described in this subsection (iii)(B)(3). For purposes of this subsection (iii), gross fair market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or
the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets.

For purposes of this Section 2(h), persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a merger,
consolidation, purchase, or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction with the Company.

(i) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference to a specific section of the Code or regulation thereunder shall
include such section or regulation, any valid regulation promulgated under such section, and any comparable provision of any future legislation or
regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such section or regulation.

(j) “Committee” means a committee of Directors or of other individuals satisfying Applicable Laws appointed by the Board, or by the
compensation committee of the Board, to administer the Plan in accordance with Section 4 hereof.

(k) “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, $0.001 par value per Share (or such other par value as may be designated by the
Company’s stockholders).

(l) “Company” means Rackspace Hosting, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor thereto.

(m) “Consultant” means any person, including an advisor, engaged by the Company or a Parent or Affiliate to render services to such entity

(n) “Customer Satisfaction” means as to any Performance Period, the objective and measurable goals approved by the Administrator that relate to
fulfillment of customer expectations and/or customer ratings.
 

(o) “Determination Date” means the latest possible date that will not jeopardize the qualification of an Award granted under the Plan as
“performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code.

(p) “Director” means a member of the Board.

(q) “Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3), provided that in the case of Awards other than
Incentive Stock Options, the Administrator in its discretion may determine whether a permanent and total disability exists in accordance with uniform and
non-discriminatory standards adopted by the Administrator from time to time. A determination of Disability may be made by a physician selected or
approved by the Administrator and, in this respect, the Participant shall submit to an examination by such physician upon request by the Administrator.

(r) “Earnings Per Share” means as to any Performance Period, the Company’s Profit After-Tax, divided by a weighted average number of common
shares outstanding and dilutive common equivalent shares deemed outstanding.

(s) “Employee” means any person, including Officers and Directors, employed as a common law employee by the Company or any Parent or
Affiliate of the Company. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute “employment” by the
Company.

(t) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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(u) “Exchange Program” means a program under which (i) outstanding Awards are surrendered or cancelled in exchange for Awards of the same
type (which may have higher or lower exercise prices and different terms), Awards of a different type, and/or cash, (ii) Participants would have the opportunity
to transfer any outstanding Awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the Administrator, and/or (iii) the exercise price of an
outstanding Award is reduced. The Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of any Exchange Program in its sole discretion, subject to
stockholder approval as set forth in Section 4(b)(vi). Notwithstanding the preceding, the term Exchange Program does not include any (i) transfer or other
disposition permitted under Section 13, nor (ii) action described in Section 19(a).

(v) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as follows:
(i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including without limitation

the New York Stock Exchange, its Fair Market Value will be the closing sales price for such stock (or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as quoted on
such exchange or system on the day of determination, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

(ii) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, the Fair Market
Value of a Share will be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the day of determination (or, if no bids and asks were
reported on that date, as applicable, on the last trading date such bids and asks were reported), as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as
the Administrator deems reliable;

(iii) For purposes of any Awards granted on the Registration Date, the Fair Market Value will be the initial price to the public as
set forth in the final prospectus included within the registration statement in Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the initial
public offering of the Company’s Common Stock; or

(iv) In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value will be determined in good faith by the
Administrator.
 

(w) “Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company, which runs from January 1 through December 31 each year.

(x) “Full Value Award” means an Award other than in the form of an Incentive Stock Option, Nonstatutory Stock Option, or Stock Appreciation
Right, and which is settled by the issuance of Shares.

(y) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms qualifies and is otherwise intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within
the meaning of Code Section 422.

(z) “Inside Director” means a Director who is an Employee.

(aa) “Margin” means as to any Performance Period, Revenue less appropriate costs and expenses for the type of margin determined by the
Administrator (for example, but not by way of limitation, gross margin, operating margin or contribution margin)

(bb) “Market Share” means as to any Performance Period, the percentage of a market segment with respect to one or more products or services.

(cc) “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms does not qualify or is not intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.

(dd) “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

(ee) “Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to Section 6 of the Plan.

(ff) “Outside Director” means a Director who is not an Employee.

(gg) “Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Code Section 424(e).

(hh) “Participant” means the holder of an outstanding Award.
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(ii) “Performance Goals” means the goal(s) (or combined goal(s)) determined by the Administrator (in its discretion) to be applicable to a
Participant with respect to an Award. As determined by the Administrator, the Performance Goals applicable to an Award may provide for a targeted level or
levels of achievement using one or more of the following measures: (a) Cash Flow, (b) Customer Satisfaction, (c) Earnings Per Share, (d) Margin, (e) Market
Share, (f) Product Development and Quality, (g) Profit, (h) Profit After-Tax, (h) Revenue and (i) Total Shareholder Return.

(jj) “Performance Period” means any Fiscal Year of the Company or such other period as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion.

(kk) “Performance Shares” means an Award denominated in Shares which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of Performance
Goals or other vesting criteria as the Administrator may determine pursuant to Section 10.

(ll) “Performance Unit” means an Award which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of Performance Goals or other vesting criteria
as the Administrator may determine and which may be settled for cash, Shares or other securities or a combination of the foregoing pursuant to Section 10.
 

(mm) “Period of Restriction” means the period during which the transfer of Shares of Restricted Stock is subject to restrictions and therefore, the
Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. Such restrictions may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of target levels of performance, or
the occurrence of other events as determined by the Administrator.

(nn) “Plan” means the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.

(oo) “Product Development and Quality” means as to any Performance Period, the objective and measurable goals approved by the Administrator
for the design, creation or manufacture of products, which goals may include (but not by way of limitation) conformance to design or use specifications or
requirements not to exceed specified defect levels.

(pp) “Profit” means as to any Performance Period, the Company’s or a business unit’s income.

(qq) “Profit After-Tax” means as to any Performance Period, the Company’s or a business unit’s income after taxes.

(rr) “Registration Date” means the effective date of the first registration statement that is filed by the Company and declared effective pursuant to
Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, with respect to any class of the Company’s securities.

(ss) “Restricted Stock” means Shares issued pursuant to an Award of Restricted Stock under Section 7 of the Plan, or issued pursuant to the early
exercise of an Option.

(tt) “Restricted Stock Unit” means a bookkeeping entry representing an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share, granted pursuant to
Section 8. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company.

(uu) “Revenue” means as to any Performance Period, the Company’s or a business unit’s net revenues generated from third parties.

(vv) “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3, as in effect when discretion is being exercised with
respect to the Plan.

(ww) “Section 16(b)” means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

(xx) “Service Provider” means an Employee, Director, or Consultant.

(yy) “Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 19 of the Plan.

(zz) “Stock Appreciation Right” means an Award, granted alone or in connection with an Option, that pursuant to Section 9 is designated as a
Stock Appreciation Right.
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(aaa) “Ten Percent Stockholder” means an individual, who, at the time the applicable Option is granted, owns stock possessing more than ten
percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Affiliate. An individual shall be considered as owning the
stock owned, directly or indirectly, by or for his brothers and sisters (whether by the whole or half blood), spouse, ancestors, and lineal descendants; and stock
owned, directly or indirectly, by or for a corporation, partnership, estate, or trust, shall be considered as being owned proportionately by or for its
stockholders, partners, or beneficiaries.

(bbb) “Total Shareholder Return” means as to any Performance Period, the total return (change in share price plus reinvestment of any dividends)
of a Share.

3.    Stock Subject to the Plan.
(a) Stock Subject to the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Section 19 of the Plan, the maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be awarded

and sold under the Plan is 14,981,056 Shares, plus any Shares that, as of the Effective Date, are subject to any previously granted Awards under the Plan that
otherwise would return to the Plan after the Effective Date on account of expiration, cancellation or forfeiture pursuant to Section 3(c) (not to exceed
15,285,676) (the “Aggregate Limit”). The Shares may be authorized, but unissued, or reacquired Common Stock.

(b) Limitations. Grants of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units and Performance Shares under the Plan on or following the
Effective Date shall count against the numerical limits in Section 3(a) of the Plan as 1.93 Shares for every one Share subject thereto. In addition, if Shares
acquired pursuant to Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units and Performance Shares are forfeited to the Company and otherwise would
return to the Plan pursuant to Section 3(c) of the Plan on or following the Effective Date, 1.93 times the number of Shares so forfeited shall become available
for issuance.

(c) Lapsed Awards. If an Award expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, is surrendered pursuant to an Exchange
Program, or, with respect to Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares or Performance Units, is forfeited to or repurchased by the Company
due to failure to vest, the unpurchased Shares (or for Awards other than Options or Stock Appreciation Rights, the forfeited or repurchased Shares) which were
subject thereto will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated). With respect to Stock Appreciation Rights, the
gross number of Shares covered by the portion of the Award so exercised will cease to be available under the Plan. Shares that have actually been issued
under the Plan under any Award will not be returned to the Plan and will not become available for future distribution under the Plan; provided, however, that
if Shares issued pursuant to Awards of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares or Performance Units are repurchased by the Company or
are forfeited to the Company, such Shares will become available for future grant under the Plan. Shares used to pay the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy
the tax withholding obligations related to an Award will not become available for future grant or sale under the Plan. To the extent an Award under the Plan
is paid out in cash rather than Shares, such cash payment will not result in reducing the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan.
Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or any Award Agreement to the contrary, Shares issued pursuant to Awards transferred under any Exchange Program,
subject to stockholder approval as set forth in Section 4(b)(vi), will not be again available for grant under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing and,
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 19, the maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of Incentive Stock Options will equal
the aggregate Share number stated in Section 3(a), plus, to the extent allowable under Code Section 422, any Shares that become available for issuance under
the Plan pursuant to this Section 3(c).

(d) Share Reserve. The Company, during the term of this Plan, will at all times reserve and keep available such number of Shares as will be
sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.

4.    Administration of the Plan.
(a) Procedure.

(i) Multiple Administrative Bodies. Different Committees with respect to different groups of Service Providers may administer
the Plan.

(ii) Section 162(m). To the extent that the Administrator determines it to be desirable to qualify Awards granted hereunder as
“performance-based compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the Plan will be administered by a Committee of two (2) or more
“outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.
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(iii) Rule 16b-3. To the extent desirable to qualify transactions hereunder as exempt under Rule 16b-3, the transactions
contemplated hereunder will be structured to satisfy the requirements for exemption under Rule 16b-3.

(iv) Other Administration. Other than as provided above, the Plan will be administered by (A) the Board or (B) a Committee,
which committee will be constituted to satisfy Applicable Laws.

(b) Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, subject to the specific duties delegated by
the Board to such Committee, the Administrator will have the authority, in its discretion:

(i) to determine the Fair Market Value;

(ii) to select the Service Providers to whom Awards may be granted hereunder;

(iii) to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each Award granted hereunder;

(iv) to approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan;

(v) to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any Award granted hereunder, including,
but not limited to, the exercise price, the time or times when Awards may be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria), the inclusion of any
provision providing for vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Award or the Shares relating
thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Administrator will determine;

(vi) to determine the terms and conditions of any, and to institute any Exchange Program, provided that the Administrator shall
not implement an Exchange Program without the approval of the holders of a majority of the Shares that are present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote
at any Annual or Special Meeting of Stockholders of the Company;

(vii) to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and Awards granted pursuant to the Plan;

(viii) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules and regulations relating to sub-
plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign laws;

(ix) to modify or amend each Award (subject to Section 34(c) of the Plan), including but not limited to the discretionary
authority to extend the post-termination exercisability period of Awards, to extend the maximum term of an Option (subject to Section 6(d) regarding
Incentive Stock Options), and to accelerate vesting or waive a forfeiture restriction with respect to any Award;

(x) to allow Participants to satisfy withholding tax obligations in such manner as prescribed in Section 20;

(xi) to authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument required to effect the grant of an Award
previously granted by the Administrator;

(xii) to allow a Participant to defer the receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of Shares that would otherwise be due to
such Participant under an Award pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may determine, subject to Section 19; and

(xiii) to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the Plan.

(a) Effect of Administrator’s Decision. The Administrator’s decisions, determinations, and interpretations will be final and binding on all
Participants and any other holders of Awards.

(b) No Liability. Under no circumstances shall the Company, its Affiliates, the Administrator, or the Board incur liability for any indirect,
incidental, consequential or special damages (including lost profits) of any form incurred by any person, whether or not foreseeable and regardless of the form
of the act in which such a claim may be brought, with respect to the Plan or the Company’s, its Affiliates’, the Administrator’s or the Board’s roles in
connection with the Plan.
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5.    Eligibility. Nonstatutory Stock Options, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Stock Appreciation Rights, Performance Units, Performance Shares,
and such other cash or stock awards as the Administrator determines may be granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to
Employees of the Company or a subsidiary within the meaning of Code Section 424(f).

6.    Stock Options.
(a) Grant of Options. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator, at any time and from time to time, may grant Options in

such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

(b) Option Agreement. Each Award of an Option will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the exercise price, the term of the
Option, the number of Shares of Common Stock subject to the Option, the exercise restrictions, if any, applicable to the Option, and such other terms and
conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

(c) Limitations.
(i) Each Option will be designated in the Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option.

However, notwithstanding such designation, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options
are exercisable for the first time by the Participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Parent or Affiliate) exceeds one hundred
thousand dollars ($100,000), such Options will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 6(c), Incentive Stock Options will be
taken into account in the order in which they were granted. The Fair Market Value of the Shares will be determined as of the time the Option with respect to
such Shares is granted.

(ii) Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator will have complete discretion to determine the number of
Shares subject to an Option granted to any Participant.

(d) Term of Option. The term of each Option will be stated in the Award Agreement; provided, however, that the term will be no more than seven
(7) years from the date of grant thereof. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Ten Percent Stockholder, the term of the Incentive Stock Option
will be five (5) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Award Agreement.

(e) Option Exercise Price and Consideration.
(i) Exercise Price. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Option will be determined

by the Administrator, but will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. In addition, in the case of
an Incentive Stock Option granted to Ten Percent Stockholder, the per Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair
Market Value per Share on the date of grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6(e), Options may be granted with a per Share exercise
price of less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant pursuant to a transaction described in, and in a manner
consistent with, Code Section 424(a).

(ii) Waiting Period and Exercise Dates. At the time an Option is granted, the Administrator will fix the period within which the
Option may be exercised and will determine any conditions that must be satisfied before the Option may be exercised.

(iii) Form of Consideration. The Administrator will determine the acceptable form(s) of consideration for exercising an Option,
including the method of payment, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.

(f) Exercise of Option.
(i) Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Stockholder. Any Option granted hereunder will be exercisable according to the terms of

the Plan and at such times and under such conditions as determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. An Option may not be
exercised for a fraction of a Share.
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An Option will be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i) notice of exercise (in such form as the Administrator may
specify from time to time) from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is exercised
(together with applicable withholding taxes). Full payment may consist of any consideration and method of payment authorized by the Administrator and
permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exercise of an Option will be issued in the name of the Participant or, if requested by the
Participant, in the name of the Participant and his or her spouse. Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the
Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with
respect to the Shares subject to an Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Company will issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares promptly
after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued,
except as provided in Section 19 of the Plan.

Exercising an Option in any manner will decrease the number of Shares thereafter available, both for purposes of the Plan and for
sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to which the Option is exercised.

The Administrator may permit a Participant to elect to pay the exercise price and any applicable tax withholding resulting from
such exercise by authorizing a third-party broker to sell all or a portion of the Shares acquired upon exercise of the Option and remit to the Company a
sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the exercise price and any applicable tax withholding resulting from such exercise.

(ii) Termination of Relationship as a Service Provider. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, other than upon the
Participant’s termination of service as the result of the Participant’s death or Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option within thirty (30) days
of such termination of service, or such longer period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of
termination of service (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement). In the absence of a specified
time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for three (3) months following the Participant’s termination of service. Unless otherwise
provided by the Administrator, if, on the date of termination of service, the Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the
unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If, after termination of service, the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time
specified by the Administrator, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

(iii) Disability of Participant. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider as a result of the Participant’s Disability, the
Participant may exercise his or her Option within six (6) months of termination of service, or such longer period of time as is specified in the Award
Agreement to the extent the Option is vested on the date of termination of service (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set
forth in the Award Agreement). In the absence of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for twelve (12) months
following the Participant’s termination of service. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if, on the date of termination of service, the Participant is
not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If, after termination of service, the
Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert
to the Plan.

(iv) Death of Participant. If a Participant dies while a Service Provider, the Option may be exercised within twelve (12) months
following the Participant’s death, or within such longer period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the
date of death, by the Participant’s designated beneficiary, provided such beneficiary has been designated prior to the Participant’s death in a form acceptable
to the Administrator. If no such beneficiary has been designated by the Participant, then such Option may be exercised by the personal representative of the
Participant’s estate or by the person(s) to whom the Option is transferred pursuant to the Participant’s will or in accordance with the laws of descent and
distribution. In the absence of a specified time in the Award Agreement, the Option will remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following Participant’s
death. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may extend the term and the exercisability of an Option
until the date that is twelve (12) months after the date of the Participant’s death. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if at the time of death
Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option immediately reverts to the Plan. If the Option
is not so exercised within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.
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(v) Other Termination. A Participant’s Award Agreement may also provide that if the exercise of the Option following the
termination of Participant’s status as a Service Provider (other than upon the Participant’s death or Disability) would result in liability under Section 16(b),
then the Option will terminate on the earlier of (A) the expiration of the term of the Option set forth in the Award Agreement, or (B) the 10th day after the last
date on which such exercise would result in such liability under Section 16(b). Finally, a Participant’s Award Agreement may also provide that if the exercise
of the Option following the termination of the Participant’s status as a Service Provider (other than upon the Participant’s death or Disability) would be
prohibited at any time solely because the issuance of Shares would violate the registration requirements under the Securities Act, then the Option will
terminate on the earlier of (A) the expiration of the term of the Option, or (B) the expiration of a period of three (3) months after the termination of the
Participant’s status as a Service Provider during which the exercise of the Option would not be in violation of such registration requirements.

(g) Notification of Disqualifying Disposition. If any Employee shall make any disposition of Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of an
Incentive Stock Option under the circumstances described in Code Section 421(b) (relating to certain disqualifying dispositions), such Employee shall notify
the Company of such disposition within ten (10) days thereof.

7.    Restricted Stock.
(a) Grant of Restricted Stock. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator, at any time and from time to time, may grant

Shares of Restricted Stock to Service Providers in such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

(b) Restricted Stock Agreement. Each Award of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the Period of
Restriction, the number of Shares granted, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine. Unless the
Administrator determines otherwise, the Company as escrow agent will hold Shares of Restricted Stock until the restrictions on such Shares have lapsed.
 

(c) Transferability. Except as provided in this Section 7, Shares of Restricted Stock may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise
alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction.

(d) Other Restrictions. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may impose such other restrictions on Shares of Restricted Stock as it may deem
advisable or appropriate.

(e) Removal of Restrictions. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 7, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock grant
made under the Plan will be released from escrow as soon as practicable after the last day of the Period of Restriction or at such other time as the
Administrator may determine. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be removed.

(f) Voting Rights. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may exercise full
voting rights with respect to those Shares, unless the Administrator determines otherwise.

(g) Dividends and Other Distributions. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock will be entitled to
receive all dividends and other distributions paid with respect to such Shares, unless the Administrator provides otherwise. If any such dividends or
distributions are paid in Shares, the Shares will be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the Shares of Restricted Stock with
respect to which they were paid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any dividends or other distributions payable on Shares of Restricted Stock that are subject to
performance restrictions may accrue during the Period of Restriction, but will not be paid on such Shares until the Shares vest.

(h) Return of Restricted Stock to Company. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock for which restrictions have not
lapsed will revert to the Company and again will become available for grant under the Plan.

8.    Restricted Stock Units.
(a) Grant. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Restricted Stock Units may be granted at any time and from time to time as determined

by the Administrator. Each Restricted Stock Unit grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify such other terms and conditions as the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine, including all terms, conditions, and restrictions related to the grant, the number of Restricted Stock Units,
and the form of payout, which may be left to the discretion of the Administrator.
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(b) Restricted Stock Unit Award. A Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be similar in nature to a Restricted Stock Award except that no Shares are
actually transferred to the Participant until a later date specified in the applicable Award Agreement. Each Restricted Stock Unit shall have a value equal to
the Fair Market Value of a Share.

(c) Vesting Criteria and Other Terms. The Administrator will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to which the
criteria are met, will determine the number of Restricted Stock Units that will be paid out to the Participant. The Administrator may set vesting criteria based
upon the achievement of Company-wide, business unit, or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment), or any other basis
determined by the Administrator in its discretion.

(d) Earning Restricted Stock Units. Upon meeting the applicable vesting criteria, the Participant will be entitled to receive a payout in accordance
with Section 8(e) below, as determined by the Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time after the grant of Restricted Stock Units, the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, may reduce or waive any vesting criteria that must be met to receive a payout.
 

(e) Form and Timing of Payment. Payment of earned Restricted Stock Units will be made as soon as practicable after the date(s) determined by the
Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may only settle earned Restricted Stock Units in cash, Shares, or
a combination of both.

(f) Cancellation. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited to the Company.

9.    Stock Appreciation Rights.
(a) Grant of Stock Appreciation Rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Stock Appreciation Right may be granted to Service

Providers at any time and from time to time as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.

(b) Number of Shares. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator will have complete discretion to determine the number of
Stock Appreciation Rights granted to any Service Provider.

(c) Exercise Price and Other Terms. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right will
be determined by the Administrator and will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. Otherwise,
subject to Section 6(c) of the Plan, the Administrator, subject to the provisions of the Plan, will have complete discretion to determine the terms and
conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan.

(d) Stock Appreciation Right Agreement. Each Stock Appreciation Right grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the
exercise price, the term of the Stock Appreciation Right, the conditions of exercise, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole
discretion, will determine.

(e) Expiration of Stock Appreciation Rights. A Stock Appreciation Right granted under the Plan will expire upon the date determined by the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, and set forth in the Award Agreement; provided, however, that the rules of Sections 6(d) and 6(f) also will apply to Stock
Appreciation Rights. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, with respect to a tandem Stock Appreciation Right granted in
connection with an Incentive Stock Option: (a) the tandem Stock Appreciation Right will expire no later than the expiration of the underlying Incentive
Stock Option; (b) the value of the payout with respect to the tandem Stock Appreciation Right may be for no more than one hundred percent (100%) of the
excess of the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the underlying Incentive Stock Option at the time the tandem Stock Appreciation Right is exercised
over the exercise price of the underlying Incentive Stock Option; and (c) the tandem Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised only when the Fair Market
Value of the Shares subject to the Incentive Stock Option exceeds the exercise price of the Incentive Stock Option.

(f) Payment of Stock Appreciation Right Amount. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, a Participant will be entitled to receive payment
from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:

(i) The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise, or such other date as specified in the Award
Agreement, over the exercise price; times

(ii) The number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised.

At the discretion of the Administrator, the payment upon Stock Appreciation Right exercise may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent value, or in
some combination thereof.
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10.    Performance Units and Performance Shares.
(a) Grant of Performance Units and Performance Shares. Performance Units and Performance Shares may be granted to Service Providers at any

time and from time to time, as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the
Administrator will have complete discretion in determining the number of Performance Units and Performance Shares granted to each Participant.

(b) Value of Performance Units and Performance Shares. Each Performance Unit will have an initial value that is established by the Administrator
on or before the date of grant. Each Performance Share will have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.

(c) Performance Objectives and Other Terms. The Administrator will set performance objectives or other vesting provisions (including, without
limitation, continued status as a Service Provider) in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number or value
of Performance Units or Performance Shares that will be paid out to the Service Providers. The Performance Objectives or other vesting provisions must be
achieved during the applicable Performance Period. Each Award of Performance Units or Performance Shares will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that
will specify the Performance Period, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine. The Administrator may
set performance objectives based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, or individual goals, applicable federal or state securities laws, or any
other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.

(d) Earning of Performance Units or Performance Shares. After the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance Units or
Performance Shares will be entitled to receive a payout of the number of Performance Units or Performance Shares earned by the Participant over the
Performance Period, to be determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance objectives or other vesting provisions have been
achieved. After the grant of a Performance Unit or of Performance Shares, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may reduce or waive any performance
objectives or other vesting provisions for such Performance Unit or Performance Shares.

(e) Form and Timing of Payment of Performance Units or Performance Shares. Payment of earned Performance Units or Performance Shares will be
made as soon as practicable after the expiration of the applicable Performance Period. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance
Units or Performance Shares in the form of cash, in Shares (which have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the value of the earned Performance Units or
Performance Shares at the close of the applicable Performance Period) or in a combination thereof.

(f) Cancellation of Performance Units or Performance Shares. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned or unvested Performance
Units or Performance Shares will be forfeited to the Company, and again will be available for grant under the Plan.

(g) Participant’s Rights as Stockholder With Respect to a Performance Shares Award. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, each holder
of a Performance Shares Award shall have all the rights of a stockholder with respect to the Shares issued to the Participant pursuant to the Award during any
period in which such issued Shares are subject to forfeiture and restrictions on transfer, including without limitation, the right to vote such Shares.

11.    Performance-Based Compensation Under Code Section 162(m).

(a) General. If the Administrator, in its discretion, decides to grant an Award intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under
Section 162(m) of the Code, the provisions of this Section 11 will control over any contrary provision in the Plan; provided, however, that the Administrator
may in its discretion grant Awards that are not intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code to such
Participants that are based on Performance Goals or other specific criteria or goals but that do not satisfy the requirements of this Section 11.

(b) Annual Share Limitations for Option and Stock Appreciation Rights. No Service Provider shall be granted, in any Fiscal Year, Options and
Stock Appreciation Rights to purchase more than two million five hundred thousand (2,500,000) Shares; provided, however, that such limit shall be five
million (5,000,000) Shares during the Fiscal Year in which a Participant first becomes an Employee.
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(c) Annual Share Limitations for Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Unit, and Performance Shares. No Service Provider shall be
granted, in any Fiscal Year, more than two million five hundred thousand (2,500,000) Shares in the aggregate of the following: (i) Restricted Stock, (ii)
Restricted Stock Units, and (iii) Performance Shares; provided, however, that such limit shall be five million (5,000,000) Shares during the Fiscal Year in
which a Participant first becomes an Employee. No Participant shall be granted, in any Fiscal Year, Performance Units having an initial value greater than ten
million dollars ($10,000,000); provided, however, that such limit shall be twenty million dollars ($20,000,000) during the Fiscal Year in which a Participant
first becomes an Employee.

(d) Performance Goals. The granting and/or vesting of Awards of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance
Units and other incentives under the Plan may be made subject to the attainment of Performance Goals relating to one or more business criteria. Any
Performance Goals used may be measured (i) in absolute terms, (ii) in combination with another Performance Goal or Goals (for example, but not by way of
limitation, as a ratio or matrix), (iii) in relative terms (including, but not limited to, as compared to results for other periods of time, and/or against another
company, companies or an index or indices), (iv) on a per-share or per-capita basis, (v) against the performance of the Company as a whole or a specific
business unit(s) or product(s) of the Company and/or (vi) on a pre-tax or after-tax basis, and may be measured relative to a peer group or index. Prior to the
Determination Date, the Administrator will determine whether any significant element(s) or item(s) will be included in or excluded from the calculation of
any Performance Goal with respect to any Participants (for example, but not by way of limitation, the effect of mergers and acquisitions). As determined by
the Administrator prior to the Determination Date, achievement of Performance Goals for a particular Award may be calculated in accordance with the
Company’s financial statements, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or as adjusted for certain costs, expenses, gains and
losses to provide non-GAAP measures of operating results. The Performance Goals may differ from Participant to Participant and from Award to Award.

(e) Procedures. To the extent necessary to comply with the performance-based compensation provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code, with
respect to any Award granted subject to Performance Goals and intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code,
within the first twenty-five percent (25%) of the Performance Period, but in no event more than ninety (90) days following the commencement of any
Performance Period (or such other time as may be required or permitted by Section 162(m) of the Code), the Administrator will, in writing, (i) designate one or
more Participants to whom an Award will be made, (ii) determine the Performance Period, (iii) establish the Performance Goals, and amounts of such Awards,
as applicable, which may be earned for such Performance Period, and (iv) determine any other terms and conditions applicable to the Award(s).

(f) Additional Limitations. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, any Award which is granted to a Participant and is intended to
constitute qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code will be subject to any additional limitations set forth in the Code
(including any amendment to Section 162(m)) or any regulations and ruling issued thereunder that are requirements for qualification as qualified
performance-based compensation as described in Section 162(m) of the Code, and the Plan will be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to
such requirements.

(g) Determination of Amounts Earned. Following the completion of each Performance Period, the Administrator will certify in writing whether the
applicable Performance Goals have been achieved for such Performance Period. A Participant will be eligible to receive payment pursuant to an Award
intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code for a Performance Period only if the Performance Goals for such
period are achieved. In determining the amounts earned by a Participant pursuant to an Award intended to qualified as “performance-based compensation”
under Section 162(m) of the Code, the Administrator will have the right to (i) reduce or eliminate (but not to increase) the amount payable at a given level of
performance to take into account additional factors that the Administrator may deem relevant to the assessment of individual or corporate performance for the
Performance Period, (ii) determine what actual Award, if any, will be paid in the event of a termination of employment as the result of a Participant’s death or
disability or upon a Change in Control or in the event of a termination of employment following a Change in Control prior to the end of the Performance
Period, and (iii) determine what actual Award, if any, will be paid in the event of a termination of employment other than as the result of a Participant’s death
or disability prior to a Change in Control and prior to the end of the Performance Period to the extent an actual Award would have otherwise been achieved
had the Participant remained employed through the end of the Performance Period. A Participant will be eligible to receive payment pursuant to an Award
intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code for a Performance Period only if the Performance Goals for such
period are achieved.
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12.    Leaves of Absence/Transfer Between Locations. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Awards granted hereunder will be
suspended during any unpaid leave of absence. A Service Provider will not cease to be an Employee in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by the
Company or (ii) transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company, its Parent, or any Affiliate. For purposes of Incentive Stock Options, no
such leave may exceed three (3) months, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon
expiration of a leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, then six (6) months following the first (1st) day of such leave, any Incentive
Stock Option held by the Participant will cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and will be treated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Stock Option.

13.    Limited Transferability of Awards. Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, an Award may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated,
transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised, during the lifetime of the
Participant, only by the Participant. If the Administrator makes an Award transferable, such Award will contain such additional terms and conditions as the
Administrator deems appropriate.

14.    Forfeiture for Cause. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or an Award Agreement, if the Administrator finds by a majority vote that a
Participant, before or after he or she ceases to be a Service Provider (a) committed fraud, embezzlement, theft, felony or an act of dishonesty in the course of
his or her employment by the Company or an Affiliate which conduct damaged the Company or an Affiliate or (b) disclosed trade secrets of the Company or
an Affiliate, then as of the date the Administrator makes its finding, any Awards awarded to the Participant that have not been exercised by the Participant
(including all Awards that have not yet vested) will be forfeited to the Company. The findings and decision of the Administrator with respect to such matter,
including those regarding the acts of the Participant and the damage done to the Company, will be final for all purposes. No decision of the Administrator,
however, will affect the finality of the discharge of the individual by the Company or an Affiliate.

15.    Forfeiture Events. The Administrator may specify in an Award Agreement that the Participant’s rights, payments, and benefits with respect to an
Award shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture, or recoupment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, in addition to any otherwise
applicable vesting or performance conditions of an Award. Such events may include, but shall not be limited to, termination of employment for cause,
termination of the Participant’s provision of services to the Company or its Affiliates, violation of material policies of the Company and its Affiliates, breach
of noncompetition, confidentiality, or other restrictive covenants that may apply to the Participant, or other conduct by the Participant that is detrimental to
the business or reputation of the Company and its Affiliates.
 

16.    Issuance of Shares of Stock. Shares, when issued, may be represented by a certificate or by book or electronic entry.

17.    Restrictions on Stock Received. The Committee may impose such conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares issued pursuant to an Award as it may
deem advisable or desirable. These restrictions may include, but shall not be limited to, a requirement that the Participant hold the Shares for a specified
period of time.

18.    Compliance With Code Section 409A. Awards shall be designed and operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from the application of,
or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. The Plan and each Award
Agreement under the Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent,
except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. To the extent that an award or payment, or the settlement or deferral thereof, is
subject to Code Section 409A the award shall be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such
that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral shall not be subject to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A.

19.    Adjustments; Dissolution or Liquidation; Merger or Change in Control.
(a) Adjustments. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other securities, or other property),

recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of Shares or
other securities of the Company, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the Shares occurs, the Administrator, in order to prevent
diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, will adjust the number and class of shares of
stock that may be delivered under the Plan and/or the number, class, and price of shares of stock covered by each outstanding Award and the limitations
under Section 3(c).

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Administrator will notify each
Participant as soon as practicable prior to the effective date of such proposed transaction. To the extent it has not been previously exercised, an Award will
terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action.
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(c) Change in Control. In the event of a merger or Change in Control, each outstanding Award will be treated as the Administrator determines,
including, without limitation, that each Award be assumed or an equivalent option or right substituted by the successor corporation or a Parent or Affiliate of
the successor corporation. The Administrator will not be required to treat all Awards similarly in the transaction.

In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for the Award, the Participant will fully vest in and have the right to
exercise all of his or her outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, including Shares as to which such Awards would not otherwise be vested or
exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with performance-based vesting, all
Performance Goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms and conditions met. In
addition, if an Option or Stock Appreciation Right is not assumed or substituted in the event of a Change in Control, the Administrator will notify the
Participant in writing or electronically that the Option or Stock Appreciation Right will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the Administrator
in its sole discretion, and the Option or Stock Appreciation Right will terminate upon the expiration of such period.

For the purposes of this subsection (c), an Award will be considered assumed if, following the Change in Control, the Award confers the right to
purchase or receive, for each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the Change in Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other
securities or property) received in the Change in Control by holders of Common Stock for each Share held on the effective date of the transaction (and if
holders were offered a choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided, however,
that if such consideration received in the Change in Control is not solely common stock of the successor corporation or its Parent, the Administrator may,
with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right or
upon the payout of a Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Unit or Performance Share, for each Share subject to such Award, to be solely common stock of the
successor corporation or its Parent equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of Common Stock in the Change in Control.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 19(c) to the contrary, an Award that vests, is earned or paid-out upon the satisfaction of one or more
Performance Goals will not be considered assumed if the Company or its successor modifies any of such Performance Goals without the Participant’s consent;
provided, however, a modification to such Performance Goals only to reflect the successor corporation’s post-Change in Control corporate structure will not
be deemed to invalidate an otherwise valid Award assumption.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 19(c) to the contrary, if a payment under an Award Agreement is subject to Code Section 409A and if
the Change in Control definition contained in the Award Agreement does not comply with the definition of “change of control” for purposes of a distribution
under Code Section 409A, then any payment of an amount that is otherwise accelerated under this Article shall be delayed until the earliest time that such
payment would be permissible under Code Section 409A without triggering any penalties applicable under Code Section 409A.

20.    Tax Withholding.
(a) Withholding Requirements. Prior to the delivery of any Shares or cash pursuant to an Award (or exercise thereof), the Company will have the

power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, local, foreign or
other taxes (including the Participant’s FICA obligation) required to be withheld with respect to such Award (or exercise thereof).

(b) Withholding Arrangements. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may
permit a Participant to satisfy such tax withholding obligation, in whole or in part by (without limitation) (i) paying cash, (ii) electing to have the Company
withhold otherwise deliverable cash or Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be withheld, (iii) delivering to
the Company already-owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be withheld, or (iv) any combination
thereof. The withheld Shares not made available for delivery by the Company shall be retained as treasury shares or will be cancelled and the Participant’s
right, title, and interest in such Shares shall terminate. The Fair Market Value of the Shares to be withheld or delivered will be determined as of the date that
the taxes are required to be withheld.

21.    No Effect on Employment or Service. Neither the Plan nor any Award will confer upon a Participant any right with respect to continuing the
Participant’s relationship as a Service Provider with the Company, nor will they interfere in any way with the Participant’s right or the Company’s right to
terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.
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22.    Date of Grant. The date of grant of an Award will be, for all purposes, the date on which the Administrator makes the determination granting such
Award, or such other later date as is determined by the Administrator. Notice of the determination will be provided to each Participant within a reasonable
time after the date of such grant.

23.    Term of Plan. Subject to Section 19 of the Plan, the Plan will become effective upon its adoption by the Board. It will continue in effect for a term of
ten (10) years from the date adopted by the Board, unless terminated earlier under Section 34 of the Plan.

24.    Change in Control of the Company.
(a) Change in Control. If, coincident with or during the twelve (12) month period immediately following the occurrence of a Change in Control,

the Company terminates a Participant’s employment with the Company without Cause (as defined below), unless otherwise specifically prohibited under
applicable laws or by the rules and regulations of any governing governmental agencies or national securities exchanges, or unless the Administrator shall
determine otherwise in the Award Agreement:

(i) any and all Options and Stock Appreciation Rights granted hereunder to such Participant shall become immediately vested
and exercisable to the extent that their exercise price, as adjusted pursuant to Section 19 is less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on such date and the
Participant shall have until the earlier of: (i) twelve (12) months following such termination date, or (ii) the expiration of the Option or Stock Appreciation
Right term, to exercise any such Option or Stock Appreciation Right;

(ii) any Period of Restriction and restrictions imposed on such Participant’s Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units shall
lapse;

(iii) the target payout opportunities attainable under all of such Participant’s outstanding Awards of performance-based
Restricted Stock, performance-based Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units, and Performance Shares, shall be deemed to have been fully earned based on
targeted performance being attained as of the effective date of the Change in Control of the Company;

(1) the vesting of all of such Participant’s Awards denominated in Shares shall be accelerated as of the effective date
of the Change in Control of the Company, and shall be paid out to such Participant within thirty (30) days following the effective date of the Change in
Control of the Company. The Administrator has the authority to pay all or any portion of the value of the Shares in cash;

(2) Awards denominated in cash shall be paid to such Participant in cash within thirty (30) days following the
effective date of the Change in Control of the Company; and

(iv) Unless otherwise specifically provided in a written agreement entered into between such Participant and the Company, the
Administrator shall pay out all other Share-based Awards.

(b) For purposes of this Section 24, “Cause” shall mean Participant’s: (i) willful engagement in illegal conduct or gross misconduct which is
materially injurious to the Company, (ii) conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere or guilty to, a felony or a crime of moral turpitude; (iii) engagement in
fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement resulting or intended to result directly or indirectly in a gain or substantial personal enrichment to the Participant at
the expense of the Company, (iv) material breach of any written policies of the Company (which policy or policies previously was provided to Participant), or
(v) willful and continual failure substantially to perform his or her duties with the Company (other than a failure resulting from the Participant’s incapacity
due to physical or mental illness), which failure has continued for a period of at least 30 days.

(c) Delay of Payment due to Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 24 to the contrary, if a payment under an Award Agreement
is subject to Code Section 409A and if the Change in Control definition contained in the Award Agreement does not comply with the definition of “change
of control” for purposes of a distribution under Code Section 409A, then any payment of an amount that is otherwise accelerated under this Article shall be
delayed until the earliest time that such payment would be permissible under Code Section 409A without triggering any penalties applicable under Code
Section 409A.

25.    Gender and Number. If the context requires, words of one gender when used in the Plan shall include the other and words used in the singular or
plural shall include the other.
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26.    Severability. In the event any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the
remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

27.    Headings. Headings of Articles and Sections are included for convenience of reference only and do not constitute part of the Plan and shall not be
used in construing the terms and provisions of the Plan.

28.    Other Compensation Plans. The adoption of the Plan shall not affect any other option, incentive or other compensation or benefit plans in effect for
the Company or any Affiliate, nor shall the Plan preclude the Company from establishing any other forms of incentive compensation arrangements for
Service Providers.

29.    Other Awards. The grant of an Award shall not confer upon the Participant the right to receive any future or other Awards under the Plan, whether or
not Awards may be granted to similarly situated Participant, or the right to receive future Awards upon the same terms or conditions as previously granted.

30.    Successors. All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder shall be binding on any successor to the
Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise, of all or substantially all
of the business and/or assets of the Company.

31.    Persons Residing Outside of the United States. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in order to comply with the laws in other
countries in which the Company or any of its Affiliates operates or has Employees, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and
authority to (i) determine which Affiliates shall be covered by the Plan; (ii) determine which persons employed outside the United States are eligible to
participate in the Plan; (iii) amend or vary the terms and provisions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of any Award granted to persons who reside
outside the United States; (iv) establish subplans and modify exercise procedures and other terms and procedures to the extent such actions may be necessary
or advisable - any subplans and modifications to Plan terms and procedures established under this Section 30 by the Administrator shall be attached to the
Plan document as Appendices; and take any action, before or after an Award is made, that it deems advisable to obtain or comply with any necessary local
government regulatory exemptions or approvals. Notwithstanding the above, the Administrator may not take any actions hereunder, and no Awards shall be
granted, that would violate the Exchange Act, the Code, any securities law or governing statute or any other applicable law.

32.    Arbitration of Disputes. Any controversy arising out of or relating to the Plan or an Award Agreement shall be resolved by arbitration conducted
pursuant to the arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitration shall be final and binding on the parties.

33.    Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan and the rights of all persons claiming thereunder shall be construed, administered, and governed under
the laws of the State of Delaware, excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of the
Plan to the substantive law of another jurisdiction. Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, recipients of an Award under the Plan are deemed to
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the federal or state courts of Texas, to resolve any and all issues that may arise out of or relate to the Plan or
any related Award Agreement.

34.    Amendment and Termination of the Plan.
(a) Amendment and Termination. The Board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the Plan.

(b) Stockholder Approval. The Company will obtain stockholder approval of any Plan amendment to the extent necessary and desirable to
comply with Applicable Laws.

(c) Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension, or termination of the Plan will impair the rights of any
Participant, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the Participant and the Administrator, which agreement must be in writing and signed by the
Participant and the Company. Termination of the Plan will not affect the Administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it hereunder with respect to
Awards granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.

35.    Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.
(a) Legal Compliance. Shares will not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Award unless the exercise of such Award and the issuance and

delivery of such Shares will comply with Applicable Laws and will be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with respect to such
compliance.
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(b) Investment Representations. As a condition to the exercise of an Award, the Company may require the person exercising such Award to
represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise that the Shares are being purchased only for investment and without any present intention to sell or
distribute such Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required.

36.    Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, which authority is
deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, will relieve the Company of any liability in
respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which such requisite authority will not have been obtained.

37.    Stockholder Approval. The Plan will be subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months after the date the Plan is
adopted by the Board. Such stockholder approval will be obtained in the manner and to the degree required under Applicable Laws.
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Morgan Stanley         

MORGAN STANLEY & CO. LLC
1585 BROADWAY
NEW YORK, NY 10036-8293
(212) 761-4000

November 12, 2014

Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Transaction

Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
1 Fanatical Place
City of Windcrest
San Antonio, Texas 78218

___________________________________________________________________________________

Dear Sir/Madam:

The purpose of this letter agreement (this “Confirmation”) is to confirm the terms and conditions of the Transaction entered into between Morgan Stanley &
Co. LLC (“Dealer”) and Rackspace Hosting, Inc. (“Issuer”) on the Trade Date specified below (the “Transaction”). This confirmation constitutes a
“Confirmation” as referred to in the Agreement specified below.

The definitions and provisions contained in the 2002 ISDA Equity Derivatives Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. (“ISDA”)) (the “Equity Definitions”) are incorporated into this Confirmation. The Transaction is a Share Forward Transaction for purposes
of the Equity Definitions. Any reference to a currency shall have the meaning contained in Section 1.7 of the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by ISDA.

1. This Confirmation evidences a complete and binding agreement between Dealer and Issuer as to the terms of the Transaction to which this Confirmation
relates and shall supersede all prior or contemporaneous written or oral communications with respect thereto. This Confirmation shall be subject to an
agreement (the “Agreement”) in the form of the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement as if Dealer and Issuer had executed an agreement in such form without any
Schedule but with the elections set forth in this Confirmation (and (1) the election of USD as the Termination Currency, (2) the election that subparagraph (ii)
of Section 2(c) will not apply to the Transactions, and (3) the election that the “Cross Default” provisions of Section 5(a)(vi) shall apply to Dealer, with a
“Threshold Amount” of 3% of Dealer shareholders’ equity for Dealer (provided that (a) the phrase “or becoming capable at such time of being declared” shall
be deleted from clause (1) of such Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement and (b) the following sentence shall be added to the end thereof: “Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a default hereunder shall not constitute an Event of Default if (i) the default was caused solely by error or omission of an administrative or
operational nature; (ii) funds were available to enable the party to make the payment when due; and (iii) the payment is made within two Local Business
Days of such party’s receipt of written notice of its failure to pay)”.).

The Transaction shall be the only transaction under the Agreement. If there exists any ISDA Master Agreement between Dealer and Issuer or any confirmation
or other agreement between Dealer and Issuer pursuant to which an ISDA Master Agreement is deemed to exist between Dealer and Issuer, then,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in such ISDA Master Agreement, such confirmation or agreement or any other agreement to which Dealer and Issuer
are parties, the Transaction shall not be considered a transaction under, or otherwise governed by, such existing or deemed to be existing ISDA Master
Agreement.

If there is any inconsistency between the Agreement, this Confirmation and the Equity Definitions, the following will prevail for purposes of the Transaction
in the order of precedence indicated: (i) this Confirmation; (ii) the Equity Definitions; and (iii) the Agreement.
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2. The terms of the particular Transaction to which this Confirmation relates are as follows:

GENERAL TERMS:

Trade Date: As specified in Schedule I

Buyer: Issuer

Seller: Dealer

Shares: Common Stock, par value USD $0.001 per share, of Issuer (Ticker: RAX)

Forward Price: A price per Share (as determined by the Calculation Agent) equal to (i) the
arithmetic mean (not a weighted average) of the 10b-18 VWAP on each Trading
Day during the Calculation Period minus (ii) the Discount.

  

Discount: As specified in Schedule I
  

10b-18 VWAP: For each Trading Day, a price per Share equal to the volume-weighted average
price of the Shares for the entirety of such Trading Day as determined by the
Calculation Agent by reference to the screen entitled “RAX <Equity> AQR SEC”
or any successor page as reported by Bloomberg L.P. or any successor (excluding
(i) trades that do not settle regular way, (ii) opening (regular way) reported trades
in the consolidated system on such Scheduled Trading Day, (iii) trades that occur
in the last ten minutes before the scheduled close of trading on the Exchange on
such Scheduled Trading Day and ten minutes before the scheduled close of the
primary trading in the market where the trade is effected, and (iv) trades on such
Scheduled Trading Day that do not satisfy the requirements of Rule 10b-18(b)(5)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) on such
Trading Day (such trades, hereinafter, “Rule 10b-18 eligible trades”) or, if the
price (i) is not reported on such Bloomberg page or successor page or (ii) is
determined by the Calculation Agent to have been reported incorrectly, the price
determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner to substitute for the unreported or erroneous price on such day.

Calculation Period: The period from, and including, the first Trading Day that occurs on or after the
Prepayment Date to, but excluding, the relevant Valuation Date; provided,
however, that if the Valuation Date is the Scheduled Valuation Date, then the
Valuation Date shall be included in the Calculation Period; provided further that
in no event shall any Scheduled Valuation Date be postponed to a date later than
the Final Termination Date.
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Final Termination Date: As specified in Schedule 1; provided that if a Market Disruption Event has
occurred pursuant to Section 8 of this Confirmation, such Final Termination Date
shall be postponed by one Trading Date for every Trading Date that is a Disrupted
Day as a result of such Merger Transaction during the Calculation Period.

  

Trading Day: Any Exchange Business Day that is not a Disrupted Day in whole

Initial Shares: As specified in Schedule I
  

Initial Share Delivery Date: One Exchange Business Day following the Trade Date. On the Initial Share
Delivery Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a number of Shares equal to the Initial
Shares in accordance with Section 9.4 of the Equity Definitions, with the Initial
Share Delivery Date being deemed to be a “Settlement Date” for purposes of such
Section 9.4.

Prepayment: Applicable

Prepayment Amount: As specified in Schedule I

Prepayment Date: One Exchange Business Day following the Trade Date. On the Prepayment Date,
Buyer shall pay to Seller the Prepayment Amount.

Exchange: The New York Stock Exchange

Related Exchange: All Exchanges; provided that Section 1.26 of the Equity Definitions shall be
amended to add the words “United States” before the word “exchange” in the
tenth line of such Section.
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Market Disruption Event: The definition of “Market Disruption Event” in Section 6.3(a) of the Equity
Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “at any time during the one-
hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, Latest Exercise Time,
Knock-in Valuation Time or Knock-out Valuation Time, as the case may be,”
starting in the third line thereof and inserting the words “at any time on any
Scheduled Trading Day during the Calculation Period or Settlement Valuation
Period” after the word “material” in the third line thereof.

Section 6.3(d) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the
remainder of the provision following the term “Scheduled Closing Time” in the
fourth line thereof.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Definitions, if any
Observation Date in the Calculation Period is a Disrupted Day, the Calculation
Agent shall have the option in its commercially reasonable discretion to take one
or more of the following actions in a good faith and commercially reasonable
manner: (i) determine that such Exchange Business Day is a Disrupted Day in part,
in which case the Calculation Agent shall (x) determine the 10b-18 VWAP on
such Exchange Business Day based on Rule 10b-18 eligible trades in the Shares
on such day taking into account the nature and duration of the relevant Market
Disruption Event and (y) determine the Forward Price using an appropriately
weighted average of 10b-18 VWAPs instead of an arithmetic mean, and/or (ii)
elect to postpone the Scheduled Valuation Date by up to one Observation Date for
every Observation Date that is a Disrupted Day during the Calculation Period;
provided that in no event shall any Scheduled Valuation Date be postponed to a
date later than the Final Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if
Calculation Agent elects the option described in clause (i) above, then such
Disrupted Day shall be deemed to be a Trading Day for purposes of calculating the
Forward Price.

If a Disrupted Day occurs during the Calculation Period and each of the nine
immediately following Scheduled Trading Days is a Disrupted Day, then the
Calculation Agent may, in its good faith and commercially reasonable discretion,
deem such ninth Scheduled Trading Day to be an Exchange Business Day that is
not a Disrupted Day and determine the VWAP Price for such ninth Scheduled
Trading Day using its good faith and commercially reasonable estimate of the
value of the Shares on such ninth Scheduled Trading Day based on the volume,
historical trading patterns and price of the Shares.
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VALUATION:

Valuation Date: The earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (ii) any earlier accelerated
Valuation Date resulting from Dealer’s election in accordance with the
immediately succeeding paragraph.

Dealer shall have the right, in its absolute discretion but subject to the limitation
set forth in the immediately succeeding paragraph, to accelerate the Valuation
Date, in whole or in part, to any Exchange Business Day that is on or after the
Lock-Out Date and prior to the Scheduled Valuation Date by notice (each such
notice, an “Acceleration Notice”) to Issuer by 9:00 p.m., New York City time, on
the accelerated Valuation Date (the “Acceleration Date”).

Dealer shall specify in each Acceleration Notice the portion of the Prepayment
Amount that is subject to acceleration (which may be less than the full Prepayment
Amount, but only so long as such portion is not less than USD25,000,000). If the
portion of the Prepayment Amount that is subject to acceleration is less than the
full Prepayment Amount, then the Calculation Agent shall adjust the terms of the
Transaction as appropriate in order to take into account the occurrence of such
accelerated Valuation Date (including cumulative adjustments to take into
account all prior accelerated Valuation Dates).

On each Valuation Date, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the applicable
Settlement Amount.

  

Scheduled Valuation Date: As specified in Schedule I, subject to postponement in accordance with “Market
Disruption Event” above

  

Lock-Out Date: As specified in Schedule I

SETTLEMENT TERMS:

Physical Settlement: Applicable.

On the Settlement Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a number of Shares equal to
(a) (i) the Prepayment Amount divided by (ii) the Forward Price, minus (b) the
Initial Shares (such number of Shares, the “Settlement Amount”), rounded to the
nearest whole number of Shares; provided, however, that if the Dealer elects to
accelerate the Valuation Date in part, the Calculation Agent shall determine on a
pro-rata basis the Prepayment Amount and Initial Shares subject to the accelerated
Valuation Date for the purposes of this paragraph; and provided further that if the
Settlement Amount is less than zero, the terms of the Buyer Settlement Provisions
in Annex A shall apply.
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Settlement Currency: USD
  

Settlement Date: The date that falls one Settlement Cycle after any Scheduled Valuation Date;
provided that with respect to any accelerated Valuation Date, the date shall be 5
Exchange Business Days after the Valuation Date.

  

Other Applicable Provisions: The last sentence of Section 9.2, Sections 9.8, 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11 (except that the
Representation and Agreement contained in Section 9.11 of the Equity
Definitions shall be modified by excluding any representations therein relating to
restrictions, obligations, limitations or requirements under applicable securities
laws arising as a result of the fact that Buyer is the issuer of the Shares) and Section
9.12 of the Equity Definitions will be applicable to the Transaction.

SHARE ADJUSTMENTS:

Potential Adjustment Event: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 11.2(e) of the Equity
Definitions, an Extraordinary Dividend shall not constitute a Potential Adjustment
Event.

It shall constitute a Potential Adjustment Event if a Disrupted Day occurs or,
pursuant to Section 11 below, is deemed to occur (in whole or in part) on any
Trading Day on or prior to the Valuation Date.

  

Extraordinary Dividend: Any dividend or distribution on the Shares with an ex-dividend date occurring
during the period from, and including, the Trade Date to, and including, the last
day of the Calculation Period (other than any dividend or distribution of the type
described in Section 11.2(e)(i), Section 11.2(e)(ii)(A) or Section 11.2(e)(ii)(B) of
the Equity Definitions).

Method of Adjustment: Calculation Agent Adjustment
  

Agreement Regarding Dividends: Notwithstanding any other provision of this Confirmation, the Definitions or the
Agreement to the contrary, in calculating any adjustment pursuant to Article 11 of
the Equity Definitions or any amount payable in respect of any termination or
cancellation of the Transaction pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions or
Section 6 of the Agreement, the Calculation Agent shall not take into account
changes to any dividends since the Trade Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if an
Early Termination Date occurs in respect of the Transaction, the amount payable
pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement in respect of such Early Termination Date
shall be determined without regard to the difference between actual dividends
declared (including Extraordinary Dividends) and expected dividends as of the
Trade Date.

Extraordinary Events:

Consequences of Merger Events:

Share-for-Share: Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment
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Share-for-Other: Cancellation and Payment on that portion of the Other Consideration that consists
of cash; Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment on the remainder of the Other
Consideration

Share-for-Combined: Component Adjustment
  

Tender Offer: Applicable; provided that the definition of “Tender Offer” in Section 12.1 of the
Equity Definitions will be amended by replacing the phrase “greater than 10% and
less than 100% of the outstanding voting shares of the Issuer” in the third and
fourth line thereof with “(a) greater than 15% and less than 100% of the
outstanding Shares of the Issuer in the event that such Tender Offer is being made
by any entity or person other than the Issuer or any subsidiary thereof or (b) greater
than 20% and less than 100% of the outstanding Shares of the Issuer in the event
that such Tender Offer is being made by the Issuer or any subsidiary thereof.

Consequences of Tender Offers:

Share-for-Share: Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Other: Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Combined: Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment
  

New Shares: In the definition of New Shares in Section 12.1(i) of the Equity Definitions, the
text in clause (i) thereof shall be deleted in its entirety (including the word “and”
following such clause (i)) and replaced with “publicly quoted, traded or listed on
any of the New York Stock Exchange, The NASDAQ Global Select Market or The
NASDAQ Global Market (or their respective successors)”.

For purposes of the Transaction,

(i) the definition of Merger Date in Section 12.1(c) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to read, “Merger Date shall mean the
Announcement Date.”;

(ii) the definition of Tender Offer Date in Section 12.1(e) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to read, “Tender Offer Date shall mean the
Announcement Date.”;

(iii) the definition of “Announcement Date” in Section 12.1(l) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (a) replacing the words “a firm”
with the words “any bona fide” in the second and fourth lines thereof, (b) replacing the word “leads to the” with the words “, if completed,
would lead to a” in the third and the fifth lines thereof, (c) replacing the words “voting shares” with the word “Shares” in the fifth line
thereof, (d) inserting the words “by any bona fide entity” after the word “announcement” in the second and the fourth lines thereof, (e)
inserting the words “or to explore the possibility of engaging in” after the words “engage in” in the second line thereof and (f) inserting the
words “or to explore the possibility of purchasing or otherwise obtaining” after the word “obtain” in the fourth line thereof; and

(iv) Section 12.2 of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by inserting the words “Announcement Date in respect of any Merger Event or
any potential” before the words “Merger Event” in the final line thereof.

Composition of Combined Consideration:        Not Applicable
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Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting: Cancellation and Payment; provided that in addition to the provisions of Section 12.6(a)(iii) of the
Equity Definitions, it shall constitute a Delisting if the Exchange is located in the United States and the
Shares are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on none of the New York Stock Exchange, The
NASDAQ Global Market or The NASDAQ Global Select Market (or their respective successors); if the
Shares are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on any such exchange or quotation system, such
exchange or quotation system shall thereafter be deemed to be the Exchange.

Additional Disruption Events:

Change in Law: Applicable; provided that (i) any determination as to whether (A) the adoption of
or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, for the avoidance of
doubt and without limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or promulgation of
new regulations authorized or mandated by existing statute) or (B) the
promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or
regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or
regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), in each case,
constitutes a “Change in Law” shall be made without regard to Section 739 of the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 or any
similar legal certainty provision in any legislation enacted, or rule or regulation
promulgated, on or after the Trade Date, and (ii) Section 12.9(a)(ii) of the Equity
Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the parenthetical beginning after the
word “regulation” in the second line thereof the words “(including, for the
avoidance of doubt and without limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or
promulgation of new regulations authorized or mandated by existing statute)” )”
and (iii) by, immediately following the word “Transaction” in clause (x) thereof,
adding the phrase “in the manner contemplated by the Hedging Party on the Trade
Date”.

Failure to Deliver: Applicable

Insolvency Filing: Applicable

Hedging Disruption: Not Applicable

Increased Cost of Hedging: Not Applicable
  

Loss of Stock Borrow: Applicable
  

Maximum Stock Loan Rate: 200 bps

Increased Cost of Stock Borrow: Applicable
  

Initial Stock Loan Rate: 50 bps
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Determining Party: For all applicable events, Dealer; provided that following any determination
hereunder and upon written request by Issuer, the Determining Party shall provide
Issuer with a reasonably detailed explanation in writing of its determination
including, where applicable, a description of the methodology and the basis for
such determination.

Hedging Party: For all applicable events, Dealer

Non-Reliance: Applicable

Agreements and Acknowledgements Regarding Hedging
Activities:

Applicable

Additional Acknowledgments: Applicable
  

Hedging Adjustments: For the avoidance of doubt, whenever the Calculation Agent is called upon to
make an adjustment pursuant to the terms of this Confirmation or the Equity
Definitions to take into account the effect of an event, the Calculation Agent shall
make such adjustment by reference to the effect of such event on Dealer, assuming
that Dealer maintains a commercially reasonable Hedge Position.

3. Calculation Agent: Dealer; provided that following the occurrence of an Event of Default of the type
described in Section 5(a)(vii) of the Agreement with respect to which Dealer is the
sole Defaulting Party, if the Calculation Agent fails to timely make any
calculation, adjustment or determination required to be made by the Calculation
Agent hereunder or to perform any obligation of the Calculation Agent hereunder
and such failure continues for five (5) Exchange Business Days following notice
to the Calculation Agent by Issuer of such failure the Issuer shall have the right to
designate a nationally recognized third-party dealer in over-the-counter corporate
equity derivatives to act, during the period commencing on the date such Event of
Default occurred and ending on the Early Termination Date with respect to such
Event of Default, as the Calculation Agent.

Following any calculation by the Calculation Agent hereunder, upon written
request by Counterparty, the Calculation Agent will provide to Counterparty by
email to the email address provided by Counterparty in such written request a
report (in a commonly used file format for the storage and manipulation of
financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such calculation;
provided, however, that in no event will Dealer be obligated to share with
Counterparty any proprietary or confidential data or information or any
proprietary or confidential models used by it.

Whenever the Calculation Agent is required to act or exercise judgment in any
way with respect to the Transaction, it will do so in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner and it will not make any arbitrary decisions or
adjustments.

4. Account Details and Notices:                

(a)    Account for delivery of Shares to Issuer:
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Deliver Shares to American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (American Stock Transfer & Trust Company will immediately cancel and retire Shares
upon receipt)

(b)     Account for payments to Issuer:

(c)     Account for payments to Dealer:

(d)    For purposes of this Confirmation:

(i)    Address for notices or communications to Issuer:

    
Rackspace US, Inc.
One Fanatical Place
City of Windcrest
Attention: Office of the General Counsel
San Antonio, Texas 78218
MAIL STOP: US109-2301
Telephone: (210) 312-4000
Facsimile: (210) 312-4848

(ii)    Address for notices or communications to Dealer:

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC
1585 Broadway
New York, NY 10036-8293
Attention: David Oakes
Telephone: (212) 761-5319
Facsimile: (212) 404-9480

With a copy to:
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC
1585 Broadway
New York, NY 10036-8293
Attention: Joshua Birbach
Telephone: 212-761-1719
Facsimile: 212-507-8717
Email: Joshua.birbach@morganstanley.com

5. Amendments to the Equity Definitions and Agreement.

(a)     Section 9.2(a)(iii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “the Excess Dividend Amount, if any, and”.

(b)    Section 11.2(a) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “in the determination of the Calculation Agent, a
diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Shares” and replacing them with the words “, in the commercially reasonable
judgment of the Calculation Agent, a material economic effect on the relevant Transaction; provided that such event is not based on (a) an observable
market, other than the market for Issuer’s own stock or (b) an observable index, other than an index calculated and measured solely by reference to
Issuer’s own operations”.
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(c)    The first sentence of Section 11.2(c) of the Equity Definitions, prior to clause (A) thereof, is hereby amended to read as follows: ‘(c) If
“Calculation Agent Adjustment” is specified as the Method of Adjustment in the related Confirmation of a Share Option Transaction or Share
Forward Transaction, then, following the announcement or occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine
whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a material economic effect on the Transaction and, if so, will (i) make appropriate adjustment(s), if any,
to any one or more of:’ and the portion of such sentence immediately preceding clause (ii) thereof is hereby amended by deleting the words “diluting
or concentrative” and the words “(provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock
loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant Share)” and replacing such latter phrase with “(provided that, solely in the case of Sections 11.2(e)(i), (ii)
(A), (iv) and (v), no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to
the relevant Shares but, for the avoidance of doubt, solely in the case of Sections 11.2(e)(ii)(B) through (D), (iii), (vi) and (vii) adjustments may be
made to account solely for changes in volatility, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Transaction)”.

(d)    Section 11.2(e)(vii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “a diluting or concentrative effect on the
theoretical value of the relevant Shares” and replacing them with the words “, in the commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation Agent, a
material economic effect on the relevant Transaction; provided that such event is not based on (a) an observable market, other than the market for
Issuer’s own stock or (b) an observable index, other than an index calculated and measured solely by reference to Issuer’s own operations”.

(e)    Section 12.6(c)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the words “the Transaction will be cancelled,” in the first
line with the words “Dealer will have the right to cancel the Transaction,”.

(f)    Section 12.9(b)(iv) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (A) deleting (1) subsection (A) in its entirety, (2) the phrase “or (B)”
following subsection (A) and (3) the phrase “in each case” in subsection (B); and (B) deleting the phrase “neither the Non-Hedging Party nor the
Lending Party lends Shares in the amount of the Hedging Shares or” in the penultimate sentence.

(g)    Section 12.9(b)(v) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (A) adding the word “or” immediately before subsection “(B)” and
deleting the comma at the end of subsection (A); and (B)(1) deleting subsection (C) in its entirety, (2) deleting the word “or” immediately preceding
subsection (C) and (3) replacing in the penultimate sentence the words “either party” with “the Hedging Party” and (4) deleting clause (X) in the final
sentence.

(h)     Section 2(a)(iii) of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the words “or Potential Event of Default” in clause (1) of such Section
and deleting the word “and” immediately before subsection (3) and deleting clause “(3)” in its entirety.
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6. Certain Payments and Deliveries by Dealer.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, or in the Equity Definitions, if at any time (i) an Early Termination Date occurs and Dealer would be
required to make a payment pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement or (ii) an Extraordinary Event occurs and Dealer would be required to make a
payment pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions (the amount of any such payment obligation described in Section 6(i) or (ii) above, an “Dealer
Payment Amount”), then Issuer shall have the option to require Dealer to settle such payment obligation in Shares in lieu of cash. If Issuer elects for
Dealer to settle an Dealer Payment Amount in Shares, then on such date such Dealer Payment Amount is due, Dealer will deliver a number of Shares with
a market value, as commercially reasonably determined by the Calculation Agent, equal to all or a portion (which portion may be zero) of the Dealer
Payment Amount. If the market value of such Shares equals a portion, but not all, of the Dealer Payment Amount, then, on the date such Dealer Payment
Amount is due, a notional balance (the “Settlement Balance”) shall be established equal to the remaining portion of the Dealer Payment Amount, and
Dealer shall commence purchasing Shares for delivery to Issuer. At the end of each Trading Day on which Dealer purchases Shares pursuant to this
Section 6, Dealer shall reduce the Settlement Balance by the amount paid by Dealer to purchase the Shares purchased on such Trading Day; provided,
however, that if the amount paid by Dealer to purchase Shares exceeds the 10b-18 VWAP for that Trading Day, Dealer shall reduce the Settlement
Balance by the amount equal to the product of (i) the number of Shares purchased on that Trading Day, and (ii) the 10b-18 VWAP. Dealer shall deliver
any Shares purchased on a Trading Day pursuant to this Section 6 to Issuer on the third Exchange Business Day following such Trading Day. Dealer shall
continue purchasing and delivering Shares until the Settlement Balance has been reduced to zero. In making any purchases of Shares contemplated by
this Section 6, Dealer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to purchase such Shares in a manner that would qualify for the safe harbor provided by
Rule 10b-18 if such purchases were made by or on behalf of Issuer. The period until the Settlement Balance is reduced to zero shall be considered to be
part of the Calculation Period for purposes of the representations, warranties and covenants and other provisions herein as the context requires.

7. Certain Payments and Deliveries by Issuer.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, or in the Equity Definitions, if at any time (i) an Early Termination Date occurs and Issuer would be
required to make a payment pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement or (ii) an Extraordinary Event occurs and Issuer would be required to make a
payment pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions (any such payment described in Section 7(i) or (ii) above, an “Early Settlement Payment”),
then Issuer shall have the option in lieu of making such cash payment, to settle such payment obligation in Shares (such Shares, “Early Settlement
Shares”). In order to elect to deliver Early Settlement Shares, (i) Issuer must notify Dealer of its election by no later than 4:00 p.m., New York City time,
on the date that is three Exchange Business Days before the date that the Early Settlement Payment is due, (ii) Issuer must specify whether such Early
Settlement Shares are to be sold by means of a registered offering or by means of a private placement and (iii) Issuer must comply with Annex A below.

8. Special Provisions for Merger Transactions.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Equity Definitions:

(a)    Issuer agrees that:

(i)    It will use best efforts such that Issuer will not during the term of the Transaction make, or, to the extent within its control, permit to be
made, any public announcement (as defined in Rule 165(f) under the Securities Act) of any Merger Transaction or potential Merger Transaction
unless such public announcement is made prior to the open or after the close of the regular trading session on the Exchange for the Shares.
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(ii)    To the extent that an announcement of a potential Merger Transaction occurs during the term of the Transaction and Dealer has not
provided notice to Issuer following such announcement that Dealer will cause the Transaction to be cancelled or terminated in whole pursuant to
“Extraordinary Events” in Section 2 above, then as soon as practicable following such announcement (but in any event prior to the next opening of
the regular trading session on the Exchange), Issuer shall provide Dealer with written notice of such announcement and shall promptly (but in any
event prior to the next opening of the regular trading session on the Exchange) provide Dealer with written notice specifying (x) Issuer’s average
daily “Rule 10b-18 purchases” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) during the three full calendar months immediately preceding the Announcement Date
that were not effected through Dealer or its Affiliates and (y) the number of Shares purchased pursuant to the block purchase proviso in Rule 10b-
18(b)(4) under the Exchange Act for the three full calendar months preceding the Announcement Date. Such written notice shall be deemed to be a
certification by Issuer to Dealer that such information is true and correct. Issuer understands that Dealer will use this information in calculating the
trading volume for purposes of Rule 10b-18. In addition, Issuer shall promptly notify Dealer of the earlier to occur of the completion of such
transaction and the completion of the vote by target shareholders. Issuer acknowledges that any such public announcement may trigger the
provision set forth in Section 10 below. Accordingly, Issuer acknowledges that its actions in relation to any such announcement or transaction must
comply with the standards set forth in Section 12(b) below.

“Merger Transaction” means any merger, acquisition or similar transaction involving a recapitalization of Issuer as contemplated by Rule 10b-18(a)
(13)(iv) under the Exchange Act.

9. Special Provisions for Acquisition Transaction Announcements.

(a)     If an Acquisition Transaction Announcement occurs on or prior to the final Valuation Date, then the Calculation Agent shall make such
adjustments to the exercise, settlement, payment or any other terms of such Transaction (including, without limitation, the Forward Price) as the
Calculation Agent determines appropriate, at such time or at multiple times as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate, to account for the
economic effect on such Transaction of such Acquisition Transaction Announcement (provided that adjustments will be made to account solely for
changes in volatility, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Transaction). If an Acquisition Transaction Announcement occurs after
the Trade Date but prior to the Lock-Out Date, the Lock-Out Date shall be deemed to be the date of such Acquisition Transaction Announcement.

(b)     “Acquisition Transaction Announcement” means (i) the announcement of an Acquisition Transaction, (ii) an announcement that Issuer or
any of its subsidiaries has entered into an agreement, a letter of intent or an understanding designed to result in an Acquisition Transaction, (iii) the
announcement of the intention to solicit or enter into, or to explore strategic alternatives or other similar undertaking that may include, an Acquisition
Transaction, or (iv) any other bona fide announcement that in the commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation Agent is reasonably expected to
result in an Acquisition Transaction or (v) any announcement subsequent to an Acquisition Transaction Announcement relating to a material
amendment, material extension, withdrawal or other material change to the subject matter of the previous Acquisition Transaction Announcement. For
the avoidance of doubt, the term “announcement” as used in the definition of Acquisition Transaction Announcement refers to any public
announcement whether made by Issuer or by a third party, provided that such third party’s announcement is bona fide.

(c)    “Acquisition Transaction” means (i) any Merger Event (for purposes of this definition, the definition of Merger Event shall be read with
the references therein to “100%” being replaced by “25%” and to “50%” by “75%” and without reference to the clause beginning immediately
following the definition of Reverse Merger therein to the end of such definition), Tender Offer or Merger Transaction or any other transaction involving
the merger of Issuer with or into any third party, (ii) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets or liabilities of Issuer, (iii) a recapitalization,
reclassification, binding share exchange or other similar transaction, or (iv) any acquisition, lease, exchange, transfer, disposition (including by way of
spin-off or distribution) of assets or liabilities (including any capital stock or other ownership interests in subsidiaries) or other similar event by Issuer or
any of its subsidiaries where the consideration transferable or receivable by or to Issuer or its subsidiaries in respect of each transaction exceeds 50% of
the market capitalization of Issuer.

(d)     Notwithstanding anything in this Confirmation, the Agreement or the Definitions to the contrary, this Section 9 shall not apply to any
Extraordinary Event.
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10. Dealer Adjustments.

In the event that Dealer reasonably determines in good faith and commercially reasonable manner that, based upon the advice of counsel, that it is
appropriate with regard to any legal, regulatory or self-regulatory requirements or related policies and procedures (whether or not such requirements,
policies or procedures are imposed by law or have been voluntarily adopted by Dealer, and including, without limitation, Rule 10b-18, Rule 10b-5,
Regulations 13D-G and Regulations 14 D-E under the Exchange Act, but provided that such requirements, policies or procedures relate to legal and
regulatory issues and are generally applicable in similar situations and applied to the relevant Transaction in a non-discriminatory manner), for Dealer to
refrain from purchasing Shares or engaging in other market activity or to purchase fewer than the number of Shares or to engage in fewer or smaller other
market transactions than Dealer would otherwise purchase or engage in on any Trading Day on or prior to the last day of the Calculation Period, then
Dealer may, in its discretion, elect that a Market Disruption Event shall be deemed to have occurred on such Trading Day. Dealer shall notify Issuer upon
the exercise of Dealer’s rights pursuant to this Section 10 and Trading Days affect by it and shall subsequently notify Issuer on the day Dealer believes
that the circumstances giving rise to such exercise have changed.

11. Covenants.

Issuer covenants and agrees that:

(a)     Until the end of the Potential Purchase Period (as defined below), neither it nor any of its affiliated purchasers (as defined in Rule 10b-18
under the Exchange Act) shall directly or indirectly (which shall be deemed to include the writing or purchase of any cash-settled or other derivative or
structured Share repurchase transaction with a hedging period, calculation period or settlement valuation period or similar period that overlaps with the
Transaction) purchase, offer to purchase, place any bid or limit order relating to a purchase of or commence any tender offer relating to Shares (or any
security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) without the prior written approval of Dealer or take any other action that would cause the purchase
by Dealer of any Shares in connection with this Agreement not to qualify for the safe harbor provided in Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act (assuming
for the purposes of this paragraph that such safe harbor were otherwise available for such purchases) ); provided that this Section 12(a)(i) shall not (i)
limit the Issuer’s ability, pursuant to its employee incentive plan or dividend reinvestment program to re-acquire Shares in connection with the related
equity transactions, (ii) limit the Issuer’s ability to withhold shares to cover tax liabilities associated with such equity transactions or (iii) limit the
Issuer’s ability to grant stock and options to “affiliated partners” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) or the ability of such affiliated purchasers to acquire such
stock or options, provided that in connection with any such purchase Issuer will be deemed to represent to Dealer that such purchase does not constitute
a “Rule 10b-18 Purchase” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) (any such incentive or compensatory plan, program or policy of Counterparty, a “Compensatory
Plan”).

“Potential Purchase Period” means the period from, and including, the Trade Date to, and including, the latest of (i) the last day of the Calculation
Period, (ii) the earlier of (A) the last day of the Calculation Period and (B) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (iii) if an Early Termination Date occurs or
the Transaction is cancelled pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions, a date determined by Dealer in its commercially reasonable discretion and
communicated to Issuer no later than the Exchange Business Day immediately following such date.

(b)     Reserved

(c)     Without limiting the generality of Section 13.1 of the Equity Definitions, it is not relying, and has not relied, upon Dealer or any of its
representatives or advisors with respect to the legal, accounting, tax or other implications of this Agreement and that it has conducted its own analyses of
the legal, accounting, tax and other implications of this Agreement, and that Dealer and its Affiliates may from time to time effect transactions for their
own account or the account of customers and hold positions in securities or options on securities of Issuer and that Dealer and its Affiliates may continue
to conduct such transactions during the term of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Issuer acknowledges that Dealer is not
making any representations or warranties or taking any position or expressing any view with respect to the treatment of the Transaction under any
accounting standards including ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing
Liabilities from Equity and ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (or any successor issue statements) or under
FASB’s Liabilities & Equity Project.
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(d)    Neither it nor any Affiliates shall take any action that would cause a restricted period (as defined in Regulation M under the Exchange Act
(“Regulation M”)) to be applicable to any purchases of Shares, or of any security for which Shares is a reference security (as defined in Regulation M), by
Issuer or any affiliated purchasers (as defined in Regulation M) of Issuer during the Potential Purchase Period.

(e)    It will not make any election or take any other action in connection with the Transaction while aware of any material nonpublic
information regarding Issuer or the Shares.

(f)    It shall not declare or pay any Extraordinary Dividend until the later of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date or (ii) end of the Settlement
Valuation Period, except for ordinary cash dividends of amounts equal to the Ordinary Dividend Amount (as specified in Schedule I) per Share with
record dates on the relevant Ordinary Dividend Record Dates (as specified in Schedule I).

Dealer covenants and agrees that Dealer has adopted policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure that purchases of Shares by Dealer in
connection with this Transaction are consistent with the anti-manipulation provisions of the Exchange Act by taking into account, among other things,
the historical trading patterns of the Shares, the Scheduled Valuation Date, the Lock-Out Date and other relevant factors.

12. Representations, Warranties and Acknowledgments.

(a)     Issuer hereby represents and warrants to Dealer on the date hereof and on and as of the Initial Share Delivery Date that:

(i)    (A) None of Issuer and its officers and directors is aware of any material nonpublic information regarding Issuer or the Shares, and is
entering into the Transaction in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of federal securities laws, including, without
limitation, Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act and (B) Issuer agrees not to alter or deviate from the terms of the Agreement or enter into or alter a
corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the Shares (including, without limitation, with respect to any securities convertible
or exchangeable into the Shares) during the term of the Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all reports and other documents
filed by Issuer with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act when considered as a whole (with the more recent such
reports and documents deemed to amend inconsistent statements contained in any earlier such reports and documents) do not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of
the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.

(ii)    The transactions contemplated by this Confirmation have been authorized under Issuer’s publicly announced program to repurchase
Shares.

(iii)     Issuer is not entering into this Agreement to facilitate a distribution of the Shares (or any security convertible into or exchangeable
for Shares) or in connection with a future issuance of securities.

(iv)     Issuer is not entering into this Agreement to create actual or apparent trading activity in the Shares (or any security convertible into
or exchangeable for Shares) or to manipulate the price of the Shares (or any security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) in violation of the
federal securities laws.

(v)     There have been no purchases of Shares in Rule 10b-18 purchases of blocks pursuant to the once-a-week block exception contained
in Rule 10b-18(b)(4) by or for Issuer or any of its affiliated purchasers during each of the four calendar weeks preceding the Trade Date and during
the calendar week in which the Trade Date occurs (“Rule 10b-18 purchase”, “blocks” and “affiliated purchaser” each being used as defined in Rule
10b-18).
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(vi)    Issuer is as of the date hereof, and after giving effect to the payment of the Prepayment Amount will be, Solvent. As used in this
paragraph, the term “Solvent” means, with respect to a particular date, that on such date (A) the present fair market value (or present fair saleable
value) of the assets of Issuer is not less than the total amount required to pay the liabilities of Issuer on its total existing debts and liabilities
(including contingent liabilities) as they become absolute and matured, (B) Issuer is able to realize upon its assets and pay its debts and other
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments as they mature and become due in the normal course of business, (C) assuming consummation
of the transactions as contemplated by this Agreement, Issuer is not incurring debts or liabilities beyond its ability to pay as such debts and
liabilities mature, (D) Issuer is not engaged in any business or transaction, and does not propose to engage in any business or transaction, for which
its property would constitute unreasonably small capital after giving due consideration to the prevailing practice in the industry in which Issuer is
engaged, (E) Issuer is not a defendant in any civil action that could reasonably be expected to result in a judgment that Issuer is or would become
unable to satisfy, (F) Issuer is not “insolvent” (as such term is defined under Section 101(32) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the United
States Code) (the “Bankruptcy Code”)) and (G) Issuer would be able to purchase Shares with an aggregate purchase price equal to the Prepayment
Amount in compliance with the corporate laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation.

(vii)     Issuer is not, and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby will not be, required to register as an “investment
company” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

(viii)     No state or local (including non-U.S. jurisdictions) law, rule, regulation or regulatory order applicable to the Shares would give rise
to any reporting, consent, registration or other requirement (including without limitation a requirement to obtain prior approval from any person or
entity) as a result of Dealer or its Affiliates owning or holding (however defined) Shares, other than any such law, rule, regulation or regulatory order
that applies (A) to the beneficial ownership of Shares under the Exchange Act or (B) solely as a result of the business, identity, place of business or
jurisdiction of organization of Dealer or any such affiliate..

(b)    Issuer acknowledges and agrees that the Initial Shares may be sold short to Issuer. Issuer further acknowledges and agrees that Dealer may
purchase Shares in connection with the Transaction, which Shares may be used to cover all or a portion of such short sale or may be delivered to Issuer.
Such purchases and any other market activity by Dealer will be conducted independently of Issuer by Dealer as principal for its own account. All of the
actions to be taken by Dealer in connection with the Transaction shall be taken by Dealer independently and without any advance or subsequent
consultation with Issuer. It is the intent of the parties that the Transaction comply with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(i)(B) of the Exchange Act,
and the parties agree that this Confirmation shall be interpreted to comply with the requirements of such Rule, and Issuer shall not take any action that
results in the Transaction not so complying with such requirements. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, Issuer acknowledges and
agrees that (A) Issuer does not have, and shall not attempt to exercise, any influence over how, when or whether Dealer effects any market transactions in
connection with the Transaction and (B) neither Issuer nor its officers or employees shall, directly or indirectly, communicate any information regarding
Issuer or the Shares to any employee of Dealer or its Affiliates, other than employees identified by Dealer to Issuer in writing as employees not
responsible for executing market transactions in connection with the Transaction. Issuer also acknowledges and agrees that any amendment,
modification, waiver or termination of this Confirmation must be effected in accordance with the requirements for the amendment or termination of a
“plan” as defined in Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any such amendment, modification,
waiver or termination shall be made in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act,
and no such amendment, modification or waiver shall be made at any time at which Issuer or any officer or director of Issuer is aware of any material
nonpublic information regarding Issuer or the Shares.

(c)    Each of Issuer and Dealer represents and warrants to the other that it is an “eligible contract participant” as defined in Section 1a(12) of the
U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.
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(d)     Each of Issuer and Dealer acknowledges that the offer and sale of the Transaction to it is intended to be exempt from registration under
the Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(2) thereof. Accordingly, it represents and warrants to the other party that (i) it has the financial ability to bear
the economic risk of its investment in the Transaction and is able to bear a total loss of its investment, (ii) it is an “accredited investor” as that term is
defined in Regulation D as promulgated under the Securities Act, (iii) it is entering into the Transaction for its own account and without a view to the
distribution or resale thereof and (iv) the assignment, transfer or other disposition of the Transaction has not been and will not be registered under the
Securities Act and is restricted under this Confirmation, the Securities Act and state securities laws.

13. Acknowledgements of Issuer Regarding Hedging and Market Activity.

Issuer agrees, understands and acknowledges that:

(a)    during the period from (and including) the Trade Date to (and including) the Settlement Date, Dealer and its Affiliates may buy or sell Shares or
other securities or buy or sell options or futures contracts or enter into swaps or other derivative transactions in order to adjust its Hedge Position with
respect to the Transaction;

(b)    Dealer and its Affiliates also may be active in the market for the Shares or options, futures contracts, swaps or other derivative transactions
relating to the Shares other than in connection with hedging activities in relation to the Transaction;

(c)    Dealer shall make its own determination as to whether, when and in what manner any hedging or market activities in Issuer’s securities or other
securities or transactions shall be conducted and shall do so in a manner that it deems appropriate to hedge its price and market risk with respect to the
Transaction; and

(d)    any such market activities of Dealer and its Affiliates may affect the market price and volatility of the Shares, including the 10b-18 VWAP and
the Forward Price, each in a manner that may be adverse to Issuer.

14. Other Provisions.

(a)    Issuer agrees and acknowledges that Dealer is a “financial institution” and “financial participant” within the meaning of Sections 101(22) and
101(22A) of the Bankruptcy Code. The parties hereto further agree and acknowledge that it is the intent of the parties that (A) this Confirmation is a
“securities contract,” as such term is defined in Section 741(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, with respect to which each payment and delivery hereunder or in
connection herewith is a “termination value,” “payment amount” or “other transfer obligation” within the meaning of Section 362 of the Bankruptcy
Code and a “settlement payment,” within the meaning of Section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (B) Dealer is entitled to the protections afforded by,
among other sections, Sections 362(b)(6), 362(b)(17), 362(o), 546(e), 555 and 561 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(b)    Dealer and Issuer hereby agree and acknowledge that Dealer has authorized Issuer to disclose the Transaction to any and all persons, and there
are no express or implied agreements, arrangements or understandings to the contrary, and authorizes Issuer to use any information that Issuer receives or
has received with respect to the Transaction in any manner.
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(c)    In the event Issuer becomes the subject of proceedings (“Bankruptcy Proceedings”) under the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable
bankruptcy or insolvency statute, any rights or claims of Dealer hereunder in respect of the Transaction shall rank for all purposes no higher than, but on
a parity with, the rights or claims of holders of Shares, and Dealer hereby agrees that its rights and claims hereunder shall be subordinated to those of all
parties with claims or rights against Issuer (other than common stockholders) to the extent necessary to assure such ranking. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, after the commencement of Bankruptcy Proceedings, the claims of Dealer hereunder shall for all purposes have rights
equivalent to the rights of a holder of a percentage of the Shares equal to the aggregate amount of such claims (the “Claim Amount”) taken as a
percentage of the sum of (i) the Claim Amount and (ii) the aggregate fair market value of all outstanding Shares on the record date for distributions made
to the holders of such Shares in the related Bankruptcy Proceedings. Notwithstanding any right it might otherwise have to assert a higher priority claim
in any such Bankruptcy Proceedings, Dealer shall be entitled to receive a distribution solely to the extent and only in the form that a holder of such
percentage of the Shares would be entitled to receive in such Bankruptcy Proceedings, and, from and after the commencement of such Bankruptcy
Proceedings, Dealer expressly waives (i) any other rights or distributions to which it might otherwise be entitled in such Bankruptcy Proceedings in
respect of its rights and claims hereunder and (ii) any rights of setoff it might otherwise be entitled to assert in respect of such rights and claims.

(d)    Notwithstanding any provision of this Confirmation or any other agreement between the parties to the contrary, neither the obligations of Issuer
nor the obligations of Dealer hereunder are secured by any collateral, security interest, pledge or lien.

(e)    Each party waives any and all rights it may have to set off obligations arising under the Agreement and the Transaction against other
obligations between the parties, whether arising under any other agreement, applicable law or otherwise.

(f)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Dealer may, by prior notice to Issuer, satisfy its obligation to deliver any Shares or other
securities on any date due (an “Original Delivery Date”) by making separate deliveries of Shares or such securities, as the case may be, at more than one
time on or prior to such Original Delivery Date, so long as the aggregate number of Shares and other securities so delivered on or prior to such Original
Delivery Date is equal to the number required to be delivered on such Original Delivery Date.

(g)    It shall constitute an Additional Termination Event with respect to which the Transaction is the sole Affected Transaction and Issuer is the sole
Affected Party and Dealer shall be the party entitled to designate an Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement if, at any time on
or prior to the Valuation Date, the price per Share on the Exchange, as commercially reasonably determined by the Calculation Agent, is at or below the
Threshold Price (as specified in Schedule I).

15. Share Cap.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Confirmation or the Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall Issuer be required to deliver to Dealer in the
aggregate a number of Shares that exceeds the Issuer Share Cap as of the date of delivery (as specified in Schedule I) or (ii) Dealer be required to deliver
to Issuer in the aggregate a number of Shares that exceeds the Dealer Share Cap as of the date of delivery (as specified in Schedule I).
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16. Delivery of Cash.

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Confirmation shall be interpreted as requiring Issuer to deliver cash in respect of the settlement of the
Transactions contemplated by this Confirmation following payment by Counterparty of the relevant Prepayment Amount, except in circumstances where
the required cash settlement thereof is permitted for classification of the contract as equity by ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity, as in effect on the relevant Trade Date (including, without limitation, where Issuer so elects to deliver cash or fails timely to elect to
deliver Shares in respect of the settlement of such Transactions)

17. Transfer and Assignment.

Dealer may transfer or assign its rights and obligations hereunder and under the Agreement, in whole or in part, to any of its Affiliates that have a credit
rating that is not lower than the credit rating of Dealer (and Guarantor) immediately prior to the proposed time of such Transfer (or whose obligations are
guaranteed by Guarantor) without the consent of Issuer. Dealer will provide prompt written notice of any such transfer to Issuer.

18. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver.

THIS CONFIRMATION AND ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS CONFIRMATION
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY SUBMIT TO THE
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF NEW YORK IN CONNECTION WITH ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO AND WAIVE ANY OBJECTION TO THE
LAYING OF VENUE IN, AND ANY CLAIM OF INCONVENIENT FORUM WITH RESPECT TO, THESE COURTS.

EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES (ON ITS OWN BEHALF AND, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW,
ON BEHALF OF ITS STOCKHOLDERS) ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM
(WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE TRANSACTION OR THE
ACTIONS OF ISSUER OR ITS AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION, PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF.

Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank
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_________________________________________________________________________________

Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth the terms of our agreement by executing this Confirmation and returning it to us by facsimile to the
number provided on the attached facsimile cover page.

Confirmed as of the date first written above:

Rackspace Hosting Inc. MORGAN STANLEY & CO. LLC
By:  /s/ Karl Pichler                                                   
Name: Karl Pichler
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

By:  /s/ Scott Pecullan                                                  
Name: Scott Pecullan
Title: Managing Director
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ANNEX A

BUYER SETTLEMENT PROVISIONS

1.    The following Buyer Settlement Provisions shall apply to the extent indicated under the Confirmation:

Settlement Currency: USD

Settlement Method Election: Applicable; provided that (i) Section 7.1 of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the word
“Physical” in the sixth line thereof and replacing it with the words “Net Share” and (ii) the Electing Party may make a
settlement method election only if the Electing Party represents and warrants to Seller in writing on the date it
notifies Seller of its election that, as of such date, the Electing Party is electing the settlement method in good faith
and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade compliance with the federal securities laws.

Electing Party: Buyer

Settlement Method
Election Date: The earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (ii) the second Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the

Valuation Date (if different than the Scheduled Valuation Date), in which case the election under Section 7.1 of the
Equity Definitions shall be made no later than 10 minutes prior to the open of trading on the Exchange on such
second Scheduled Trading Day), as the case may be.

Default Settlement Method: Cash Settlement

Forward Cash Settlement
Amount: The Settlement Amount multiplied by the Settlement Price.

Settlement Price: The arithmetic mean of the 10b-18 VWAP for the Scheduled Trading Days in the Settlement Valuation Period,
subject to a Market Disruption Event as specified in the Confirmation.

Settlement Valuation Period: A number of Scheduled Trading Days selected by the Seller in its commercially reasonable discretion, beginning on
the Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the Settlement Method Election Date.

Cash Settlement: If Cash Settlement is applicable, then Buyer shall pay to Seller the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement
Amount on the Cash Settlement Payment Date.

Cash Settlement
Payment Date: The date one Settlement Cycle following the last day of the Settlement Valuation Period.

Net Share Settlement
Procedures: If Net Share Settlement is applicable, Net Share Settlement shall be made in accordance with paragraphs 2 through 7

below.

2.    Net Share Settlement shall be made by delivery on the Cash Settlement Payment Date of a number of Shares satisfying the conditions
set forth in paragraph 3 below (the “Registered Settlement Shares”), or a number of Shares not satisfying such conditions (the “Unregistered Settlement
Shares”), in either case with a value equal to the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount, with such Shares’ value based on the value thereof
to Seller (which value shall, in the case of Unregistered Settlement Shares, take into account a commercially reasonable illiquidity discount not to exceed
1%), in each case as determined by the Seller in its commercially reasonable judgment acting in good faith.

3.    Buyer may only deliver Registered Settlement Shares pursuant to paragraph 2 above if:
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(a)    a registration statement covering public resale of the Registered Settlement Shares by Seller (the “Registration Statement”) shall have
been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act and been declared or otherwise become effective on or prior to the date of
delivery, and no stop order shall be in effect with respect to the Registration Statement; a printed prospectus relating to the Registered Settlement Shares
(including any prospectus supplement thereto, the “Prospectus”) shall have been delivered to Seller, in such quantities as Seller shall reasonably have
requested, on or prior to the date of delivery;

(b)    the form and content of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (including, without limitation, any sections describing the plan
of distribution) shall be satisfactory to Seller;

as of or prior to the date of delivery, Seller and its Sellers shall have been afforded a commercially reasonable opportunity to conduct a due diligence
investigation with respect to Buyer customary in scope for underwritten offerings of equity securities of similar size by similar issuers and the results of such
investigation are satisfactory to Seller, in its commercially reasonable discretion; and

(d)    as of the date of delivery, an agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) shall have been entered into with Seller in connection with
the public resale of the Registered Settlement Shares by Seller substantially similar to underwriting agreements customary for follow-on underwritten
offerings of equity securities of similar size by similar issuers, in form and substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Seller and Buyer, which
Underwriting Agreement shall include, without limitation, provisions substantially similar to those contained in such underwriting agreements of a publicly
traded company relating, without limitation, to the customary indemnification of, and contribution in connection with the liability of, Seller and its Affiliates
and the provision of customary opinions, accountants’ comfort letters and lawyers’ negative assurance letters.

4.    If Buyer delivers Unregistered Settlement Shares pursuant to paragraph 2 above:

(a)    all Unregistered Settlement Shares shall be delivered to Seller (or any Affiliate of Seller designated by Seller) pursuant to the
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof;

(b)    as of or prior to the date of delivery, Seller and any potential purchaser of any such Shares from Seller (or any Affiliate of Seller
designated by Seller) identified by Seller shall be afforded a commercially reasonable opportunity to conduct a due diligence investigation with respect to
Buyer customary in scope for private placements of equity securities of similar size by similar issuers (including, without limitation, the right to have made
available to them for inspection all financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and other information reasonably requested by them);

(c)    as of the date of delivery, Buyer shall use best efforts to enter into an agreement (a “Private Placement Agreement”) with Seller (or
any Affiliate of Seller designated by Seller) in connection with the private placement of such shares by Buyer to Seller (or any such Affiliate) and the private
resale of such shares by Seller (or any such Affiliate), substantially similar to private placement purchase agreements customary for private placements of
equity securities of similar size by similar issuers, in form and substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Seller and Buyer, which Private Placement
Agreement shall (i) include, without limitation, provisions substantially similar to those contained in such private placement purchase agreements relating to
the customary indemnification of, and contribution in connection with the liability of, Seller and its Affiliates, (ii) provide for Buyer using best efforts to
deliver documentation appropriate for a private placement of equity securities by similar size by similar issuers, and the payment by Buyer of all
commercially reasonable fees and expenses in connection with such resale, including all commercially reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for Seller,
and (iii) contain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of Buyer reasonably necessary or advisable to establish and maintain the availability
of an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act for such resales; and

(d)    in connection with the private placement of such shares by Buyer to Seller (or any such Affiliate) and the private resale of such shares
by Seller (or any such Affiliate), Buyer shall, if so requested by Seller, prepare, in cooperation with Seller, a private placement memorandum in form and
substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Seller and Buyer.
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5.    Seller, itself or through an Affiliate (the “ Selling Seller”) or any underwriter(s), will sell all, or such lesser portion as may be required
hereunder, of the Registered Settlement Shares or Unregistered Settlement Shares and any Make-whole Shares (as defined below) (together, the “ Settlement
Shares”) delivered by Buyer to Seller pursuant to paragraph 6 below commencing on the Cash Settlement Payment Date and continuing until the date on
which the aggregate Net Proceeds (as such term is defined below) of such sales, as determined by Seller, is equal to the absolute value of the Forward Cash
Settlement Amount (such date, the “Final Resale Date”). If the proceeds of any sale(s) made by Seller, the Selling Seller or any underwriter(s), net of any
commercially reasonable fees and commissions (including, without limitation, underwriting or placement fees) customary for similar transactions under the
circumstances at the time of the offering, together with carrying charges and expenses incurred in connection with the offer and sale of the Shares (including,
but without limitation to, the covering of any over-allotment or short position (syndicate or otherwise)) (the “Net Proceeds”) exceed the absolute value of the
Forward Cash Settlement Amount, Seller will refund, in USD or Shares at Buyer’s election, such excess to Buyer on the date that is three (3) Currency
Business Days following the Final Resale Date, and, if any portion of the Settlement Shares remains unsold, Seller shall return to Buyer on that date such
unsold Shares.

6.    If the Seller determines that the Net Proceeds received from the sale of the Registered Settlement Shares or Unregistered Settlement
Shares or any Make-whole Shares, if any, pursuant to this paragraph 6 are less than the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount (the amount in
USD by which the Net Proceeds are less than the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount being the “Shortfall”), Buyer shall, on the Exchange
Business Day next succeeding the day on which such Shortfall is established (the “Make-whole Notice Date”), deliver to Seller a notice of Buyer’s election
that Buyer shall either (i) pay an amount in cash equal to the Shortfall on the day that is one (1) Currency Business Day after the Make-whole Notice Date, or
(ii) deliver additional Shares. If Buyer elects to deliver to Seller additional Shares, then Buyer shall deliver additional Shares in compliance with the terms
and conditions of paragraph 3 or paragraph 4 above, as the case may be (the “Make-whole Shares”), on the first Clearance System Business Day which is also
an Exchange Business Day following the Make-whole Notice Date in such number as the Seller reasonably believes would have a market value on that
Exchange Business Day equal to the Shortfall. Such Make-whole Shares shall be sold by Seller in accordance with the provisions above; provided that if the
sum of the Net Proceeds from the sale of the originally delivered Shares and the Net Proceeds from the sale of any Make-whole Shares is less than the absolute
value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount then Buyer shall, at its election, either make such cash payment or deliver to Seller further Make-whole Shares
until such Shortfall has been reduced to zero.

7.    Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the aggregate number of Settlement Shares and Make-whole Shares be greater than the
Reserved Shares minus the amount of any Shares actually delivered by Buyer under any other Transaction(s) under this Confirmation (the result of such
calculation, the “Capped Number”). Buyer represents and warrants (which shall be deemed to be repeated on each day that a Transaction is outstanding) that
the Capped Number is equal to or less than the number of Shares determined according to the following formula:

A - B

Where A = the number of authorized but unissued shares of the Buyer that are not reserved for future issuance on the date of the
determination of the Capped Number; and

B = the maximum number of Shares required to be delivered to third parties if Buyer elected Net Share Settlement of all
transactions in the Shares (other than Transactions in the Shares under this Confirmation) with all third parties that are then
currently outstanding and unexercised.

“Reserved Shares” means 9,389,672 Shares.
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Schedule I

For the purposes of the Transaction, the following terms shall have the following values or meanings:

The Trade Date shall be November 12, 2014.

The Scheduled Valuation Date shall be May 15, 2015.

The Final Termination Date shall be June 15, 2015.

The Discount equals $1.1161

The Initial Shares equal 3,286,385 Shares.

The Prepayment Amount equals USD $200,000,000.

The Lock-Out Date shall be February 13, 2015.

Ordinary Dividend Amount: USD $0.00

Threshold Price: USD $21.30

Issuer Share Cap, as of any date, shall equal the lesser of (i) 9,389,672 Shares and (ii) 20% of the total number of Shares that Issuer has outstanding as of such
date.

Dealer Share Cap equals 9,389,672 Shares.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-153009, No. 333-184833, and No. 333-198094) of
Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries of our reports dated March 2, 2015, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. as of
December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, cash flows, and stockholders' equity for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, and related financial statement schedule II, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2014, which reports appear in the December 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
March 2, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, William Taylor Rhodes, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 

Date: March 2, 2015  By:  /s/ William Taylor Rhodes
     William Taylor Rhodes
     President and Chief Executive Officer
     (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
 

 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Karl Pichler, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2015  By:  /s/ Karl Pichler
     Karl Pichler
     Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
     (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), William Taylor Rhodes, as Principal Executive Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge, the Report
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
 

Date: March 2, 2015  By:  /s/ William Taylor Rhodes
     William Taylor Rhodes
     President and Chief Executive Officer
     (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Karl Pichler, as Principal Financial Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., hereby certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge, the Report fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
 

Date: March 2, 2015  By:  /s/ Karl Pichler
     Karl Pichler
     Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
     (Principal Financial Officer)
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